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iMPORTANT NOTiCE TO PROSPECTiVE iNVESTORS

A copy of this Prospectus was delivered to the Registrar of Companies for registration pursuant to section 372 (3) of the 

Companies Act 2004 and was so registered on March 2, 2020.  The Registrar of Companies accepts no responsibility whatsoever 

for the contents of this Prospectus. The Company has been registered with the Financial Services Commission with respect to 

the New Ordinary Shares pursuant to section 26 (1) of the Securities Act. A copy of this Prospectus was also delivered to the 

Financial Services Commission for registration pursuant to section 26 of the Securities Act and was so registered on March 3, 

2020. The Financial Services Commission has not approved the New Ordinary Shares for which subscription is invited nor has 

the Commission passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this Prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal 

offence under the laws of Jamaica.

This offering is being made in Jamaica as a public offering of securities in accordance with the Companies Act, 2004 as amended 

and the Securities Act 1999 as amended. These securities may be offered to, purchased or otherwise acquired by prospective 

investors organized or resident in Jamaica without restriction. This offering is not being made in any jurisdiction in which the 

offer to sell these securities to, or a solicitation of an offer to buy these securities from, any person would violate the securities 

or other relevant laws of such jurisdiction.

The Directors whose names appear in Section 6 of this Prospectus have seen and approved this Prospectus and accept full 

responsibility, collectively and individually, for the accuracy of the information given and confirm that, after having made all 

reasonable enquiries, and to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no false or misleading statements or other facts 

the omission of which would make any statement herein false or misleading.

WEbSiTE EMAil TElEPhONE AddRESS

www.weareproven.com info@weareproven.com 1-876-908-3800-1 Registered Office:  

20 Micoud Street, Castries, St. Lucia

Mailing Address (for purposes of the Invitation):

c/o PROVEN Management Limited, Suite 5, 

53 Lady Musgrave Road, Kingston 5, Jamaica.

In respect of an invitation for subscription of 
178,571,429 New Ordinary Shares 

(with the ability to upsize by up to 50% to a 
maximum of 267,857,143 New Ordinary Shares) 

at a subscription price of US$0.28/
J$38.64 per New Ordinary Share, 
payable in full on application.

dated: february 28, 2020
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SUMMARy Of ThE iNViTATiON

The following summary information is derived from and should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by, 

the full text of this Prospectus, including the Appendices. You are advised to read this entire Prospectus carefully before making 

an investment decision about the Invitation. Your specific attention is drawn to the Risk Factors in Sections 11 and 12 of this 

Prospectus and the Disclaimer and Note on Forward-Looking Statements in Section 1 of this Prospectus.

You should consult your stockbroker, licensed investment advisor, attorney-at-law, accountant or other professional advisor if 

you have any questions arising out of this Prospectus or if you require any explanation.

ISSUER: PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED (“PIL” or the “Company”)

20 Micoud Street, Castries, St. Lucia

Email: info@weareproven.com | Website: www.weareproven.com

SIZE OF ISSUE: 178,571,429 New Ordinary Shares, provided that the number of New Ordinary Shares available 

for subscription in the Invitation may be increased by a maximum of 89,285,714 New Ordinary 

Shares, for a maximum total offering size of 267,857,143 New Ordinary Shares.

DESCRIPTION 

OF SECURITIES 

BEING ISSUED:

New ordinary shares of US$0.01 par value in the capital of the Company ranking pari passu in 

all respects with the Existing Ordinary Shares upon issue.  The Company will apply to the JSE 

to have the New Ordinary Shares that are issued pursuant to the Invitation listed on the USD 

and Main Markets of the JSE.

SUBSCRIPTION PRICE: US$0.28 or J$38.64 per New Ordinary Share, payable in full on Application using an Approved 

Payment Method.

MINIMUM 

SUBSCRIPTION 

AMOUNT/MULTIPLES

Applications must request a minimum of 1,000 New Ordinary Shares. Applications above this 

amount shall be in multiples of 100 New Ordinary Shares.

UNDERWRITING The Invitation is underwritten by Sagicor Investments Jamaica Limited, whose underwriting 

commitment is capped at US$50 million.
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EXPECTEd TiMETAblE Of ThE iNViTATiON

Publication of Prospectus Tuesday, March 3, 2020

Invitation Opens Wednesday, March 11, 2020

Invitation Closes Tuesday, March 31, 2020

Announcement of Basis of Allocation Thursday, April 9, 2020

Allotment of New Ordinary Shares Thursday, April 9, 2020

Refunds of subscription amounts (if applicable) Thursday, April 9, 2020

Listing of New Ordinary Shares on the JSE Friday, April 24, 2020 

(estimated)

The above timetable is indicative and will be implemented on a best efforts’ basis, with the Directors however reserving the 

right (in consultation with the Lead Broker & Listing Agent) to change the dates that the Invitation opens and closes based on 

market conditions and other relevant factors. If the Closing Date changes, the remaining dates will also change in accordance 

with the Rules of the JSE. 

Notice of any changes in the above dates for the opening or closing of the Invitation will be given as soon as reasonably 

practicable via a press release and by posting a notice on the website of the Jamaica Stock Exchange at www.jamstockex.com, 

and at the Company’s website at www.weareproven.com.
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ChAiRMAN’S STATEMENT TO PROSPECTiVE APPliCANTS

PROVEN Investments Limited welcomes your interest in 

participating in what will actually be the first time we have 

made an unrestricted offering of ordinary shares to the public.   

While our ordinary shares have been listed on the JSE since 

July 2011, first on the USD Market and thereafter on the J$ 

Main Market, we have never before conducted an offering of 

ordinary shares that is open to participation by the investing 

public in Jamaica.

We have decided that the timing is right for us to expand our 

shareholder base and give as wide a group of equity investors 

as is possible the opportunity to participate in the future of 

the Company, as we seek to raise additional capital to deploy 

in execution of our business strategies.

Our journey started in 2010 when we raised US$20 million by 

way of a private placement of ordinary shares, and later that 

year, an additional US$9.7 million by a rights issue of additional 

ordinary shares.  In July 2011, our ordinary shares were listed 

by introduction as the first listed ordinary shares on the USD 

Market of the JSE.  We have subsequently raised additional 

funding through rights issues of ordinary shares, preference 

share issues, and debt issues. 

The capital we have raised to date has allowed us to continue 

on a journey that has seen us return both healthy dividends 

and capital appreciation to our shareholders, through a 

focused, risk-based approach to investing and managing 

our capital.  Our team remains committed to the original 

mission of pursuing opportunities, wherever we find them, 

to generate an above-average, sustainable return on our 

investments for the ultimate benefit of our shareholders.   From 

a single entity at inception in 2010, we now hold a substantial 

portfolio of investments in Jamaica, the Cayman Islands, St. 

Lucia and beyond, including our holdings in subsidiaries and 

associated companies, and generated net profit attributable 

to shareholders of US$6.97 million as at our last financial year 

ending March 31, 2019.  

As a private equity firm, our business model necessarily 

involves tapping the capital markets from time to time to obtain 

funding to pursue and execute these opportunities, and on 

this occasion, we have elected to structure this Invitation as 

a public offering of ordinary shares in Jamaica. Consistent 

with our mission over the last nine years of operations, we 

intend to use the net proceeds of the Invitation to strengthen 

our capital base and enable us to continue to pursue and 

execute those investment opportunities that we determine 

offer the best prospects of meeting our investment targets 

and satisfy all of our investment criteria. While we are more 

likely to seek investments in our core areas of expertise, such 

as financial services, we remain alert to take advantages of 

opportunities as they arise, and, as we have in the past, will 

continue to regularly consider investments in the real sector.

We are therefore pleased to extend this invitation to you, 

whether for the first time, or as an existing shareholder, to 

participate in this exciting journey of creating long-term 

value for our investors and playing our role in growing the 

economies of the jurisdictions in which we invest. 

Yours sincerely,

hON. hUGh C. hART, O.J.

CHAIRMAN

PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED
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1. DISCLAIMER & ADVISORY ON 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

diSClAiMER
Neither the FSC nor any Governmental agency or regulatory 

authority or stock exchange in Jamaica has made any 

determination on the accuracy or adequacy of this Prospectus.

(a) This Prospectus has been reviewed and approved by 

the Directors of PIL and they collectively and individually 

accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the 

information given herein and confirm that, after having 

made all reasonable enquiries, and to the best of their 

knowledge and belief:

(i) the information is true and accurate in all material 

respects and is not misleading in any material respect,

(ii) any opinions, predictions or intentions expressed 

herein on the part of PIL are honestly held or made 

and are not misleading in any material respect

(iii) that all proper inquiries have been made to ascertain 

and to verify the foregoing, and

(iv) this Prospectus does not contain any untrue 

statement of a material fact or fail to state a material 

fact necessary in order to make the statements 

herein, in the light of the circumstances under which 

they are made, not misleading.  

(b) By submitting an Application, each Applicant 

acknowledges and agrees that:

(i) they have received and have been afforded a 

meaningful opportunity to review all additional 

information considered by them to be necessary to 

verify the accuracy of the information contained in 

this Prospectus;

(ii) they have not relied on PIL, the Investment 

Manager, the Arranger/Lead Broker, the legal or 

other professional advisors to PIL or any persons 

affiliated either with PIL or the Investment Manager 

in connection with their investigation of the accuracy 

of such information or investment decision; and

(iii) no person has been authorized to give information 

or to make any representation concerning PIL or 

the Invitation comprised in this Prospectus or the 

securities intended to be issued pursuant thereto or 

to provide information or to make any representation 

whatsoever in connection with this Prospectus (other 

than as contained in this Prospectus and information 

given by duly authorized officers and employees 

of the Investment Manager in connection with the 

Applicant’s verification of the information contained 

in this Prospectus) and that, if given or made, such 

other information or representation should not be 

relied upon as having been authorized by PIL or the 

Investment Manager.

(c) Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor the offering, 

sale or allotment of any New Ordinary Shares hereunder 

shall under any circumstances imply that there has 

been no change in the business, results of operations, 

financial condition or prospects of PIL since the date of 

this Prospectus.

(d) This Prospectus does not constitute a recommendation 

by PIL that prospective Applicants should submit 

Applications for New Ordinary Shares. In making an 

investment decision, persons intending to apply to 

purchase the New Ordinary Shares are expected to make 

their own investigation and assessment of PIL and the 

terms of the Invitation herein, including the merits and 

risks involved.

(e) No representation or warranty, expressed or implied, is 

made by the Investment Manager or the Arranger or by 

the legal or other professional advisors to the Investment 

Manager or PIL as to the accuracy or completeness of the 

information set forth herein including, without limitation, 

information in respect to PIL and nothing contained in 

this Prospectus is, or shall be relied upon, as a promise 

or representation by them, whether as to the past or 

future. The Investment Manager and their legal and other 

professional advisors have not independently verified 

any such information and assume no responsibility for 

its accuracy or completeness.

(f) This Prospectus contains summaries believed to 

be accurate with respect to certain terms of certain 

documents, but where copies of such documents are 

made available for inspection by potential Applicants in 

accordance with Section 16 hereof, reference should be 

made to the actual documents (upon request made to PIL 

or the Investment Manager) for complete information with 

respect thereto, and all such summaries are qualified in 

their entirety by such complete information. Prospective 

Applicants are not entitled to rely on parts of information 

contained in this Prospectus to the exclusion of other 

parts of this Prospectus.

(g) Each Applicant should consult with its own advisors as to 

the legal, tax, business, financial and related aspects of 

subscribing for the New Ordinary Shares in this Invitation.  

Notwithstanding the inclusion in this Prospectus of such 
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information in respect thereof as the Directors believe to 

be accurate, neither the Investment Manager nor their 

legal or other professional advisors nor PIL, or any of their 

respective representatives, is making any representation 

or providing any advice to any Applicant or any other 

person regarding legal, tax, business, financial and 

related aspects of any person’s subscription for the New 

Ordinary Shares in this Invitation.

(h) This Prospectus is intended to be used in Jamaica only, 

and is not to be construed as making an invitation to 

persons outside of Jamaica to subscribe for any of the 

New Ordinary Shares. The distribution of this Prospectus 

and the offering of the New Ordinary Shares in certain 

jurisdictions is restricted by law. PIL and the Investment 

Manager require that Applicants and anyone who receives 

this Prospectus inform themselves about and observe 

such restrictions. This Prospectus does not constitute, 

and may not be used for or in connection with, any offer 

to, or solicitation by, anyone in any jurisdiction in which, 

or to or by any person whom, such offer or solicitation 

would be unlawful. 

AdViSORy ON fORWARd lOOKiNG STATEMENTS
(a) Certain matters discussed in this Prospectus, including 

without limitation the discussions of future plans and 

financial projections for the PROVEN Group, contain 

forward looking statements.  Forward-looking statements 

are statements that are not about historical facts and 

speak only as of the date they are made and are based 

on assumptions or predictions of the future which may 

not necessarily come true. Although in making any 

such statements, the Directors of PIL believe that their 

expectations are based on reasonable assumptions or 

predictions, any such statement may be influenced by 

factors that could cause actual outcomes and results to be 

materially different from those projected.  Applicants are 

cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-

looking statements, which speak only as of their dates.  

Future events or circumstances could cause actual results 

to differ materially from historical or anticipated results.

(b) Forward-looking statements are typically identified by 

words such as “believe”, “expect”, “foresee”, “forecast”, 

“anticipate”, “intend”, “estimate”, “goal”, “plan” and 

“project” and similar expressions of future or conditional 

verbs such as “will”, “may”, “should”, “could” or “would”. 

When used in this Prospectus, such words and similar 

expressions, as they relate to the PROVEN Group and its 

business, or actual or intended business relationships, are 

intended to identify those forward-looking statements.  

By their very nature, forward-looking statements require 

the maker thereof to make assumptions and are subject 

to numerous inherent risks and uncertainties, which give 

rise to the possibility that (i) such predictions, forecasts, 

projections, expectations or conclusions as contained 

in such statements will not prove to be accurate, (ii) that 

these assumptions may not be correct and (iii) that these 

forward-looking statements will not be achieved.

(c) All phases of our business are subject to important 

uncertainties, risks and other influences, certain of which 

factors are beyond PIL’s control. Any one of these factors, 

or a combination of them, could cause actual results to 

differ materially from those in forward-looking statements. 

These factors include, without limitation, the following:

(i) economic, social and other conditions in any 

jurisdiction in which the PROVEN Group may invest, 

including actual rates of economic growth in such 

economies, local, regional or global instability, 

interest rate or exchange rate volatility;

(ii) adverse climatic events and natural disasters;

(iii) PIL’s ability to gain access to capital financing at an 

acceptable cost, or business opportunities that meet 

PIL’s investment criteria;

(iv) changes in regulatory policy in one or more of the 

jurisdictions in which the PROVEN Group operates 

which adversely affect the business model expected 

to be employed by those members of the PROVEN 

Group who are subject to such regulations, thereby 

having an impact on revenues or expenses of the 

Group;

(v) any other factor negatively impacting on the 

realisation of the assumptions on which PIL’s financial 

projections are based, and

(vi) other factors identified in this Prospectus

(d) The foregoing list of risk factors is not exhaustive and other 

factors not set out above could also adversely affect our 

results. When relying on our forward-looking statements 

to make decisions with respect to us, Applicants and 

others should carefully consider the foregoing factors 

and other uncertainties and potential events, including 

the Risk Factors specifically set out in Sections 11 and 12. 

(e) Once this Prospectus has been signed by or on behalf 

of PIL, PIL undertakes no obligation to update publicly 

or revise any of the forward-looking statements in light 

of new information or future events, including changes 

in the PROVEN Group’s anticipated financial or actual 

or anticipated regulatory position, or to reflect the 

occurrence of unanticipated events.
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2. DEFINITIONS
In this Prospectus, the following words and phrases shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be read and construed as 

having the following meanings:

“Allotment” the allocation and issuance of New Ordinary Shares to successful Applicants

“Applicant” the person (whether an individual(s), company or other legal entity) by whom an 

Application is made.

“Application” a duly completed application to subscribe for New Ordinary Shares in the Invitation 

made by a person who may lawfully participate in the Invitation, made:

a. using an Application Form delivered to the Lead Broker, or, 

b. using IPO Pro, the Lead Broker’s online application portal accessed via ipopro.com

c. using any other approved online application portal used by an Appointed or Selling 

Agent for the Invitation

together with payment in full of the Subscription Price for the amount of New Ordinary 

Shares subscribed, using an Approved Payment Method and otherwise in compliance 

with the application procedures set out in Section 18 of this Prospectus.

“Application Form” the prescribed Application Form enclosed with this Prospectus or available for 

download at www.weareproven.com or www.jamstockex.com.

“Approved Payment Method” Any of the methods of payment described in Section 18 of this Prospectus required to 

be used by Applicants in effecting payment of the Subscription Price.

“Arranger” means PROVEN Wealth Limited 

“Business Day” means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or public general holiday in Jamaica on 

which banks are generally open for banking business. 

“CARICOM Double 

Taxation Treaty”

The Agreement among the Governments of the Member States of the Caribbean 

Community for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion 

with Respect to Taxes on Income, Profits or Gains and Capital Gains and for the 

Encouragement of Regional Trade and Investment.

“Closing Date” the date of closing of the Invitation as set forth in Section 3 of this Prospectus, (subject 

to such early closure or extension as the Directors may determine).

“Co-Broker” Sagicor Investments Jamaica Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of 

Jamaica, with its registered office situate at 85 Hope Road, Kingston 6, Jamaica.

“Co-Arranger” Sagicor Investments Jamaica Limited

the “Company”, or “PIL” PROVEN Investments Limited, a company duly incorporated under the International 

Business Companies Act of St. Lucia (Chapter 12.14), and having its registered office 

at 20 Micoud Street, Castries, St. Lucia.   

the “Companies Act” The Companies Act 2004 of Jamaica, as amended

“Designated Account” an account at a commercial bank, merchant bank or licensed securities dealer in Jamaica 

held in the name(s) of the Applicant(s) (including such accounts as are jointly held 

by the Applicant(s) with other persons), the particulars of which are provided by the 

Applicant(s) in the Application Form.

“Directors” the Directors of the Company
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“Existing Ordinary Shares” The 625,307,963 ordinary shares of US$0.01 par value in the capital of the Company 

in issue as at the date of this Prospectus and which are listed on both the USD Market 

and the Main Market of the JSE.

“FSC” or “Commission” the Financial Services Commission, duly established and existing under the Financial 

Services Commission Act of Jamaica 2001, as amended.

The “Group” or “PROVEN Group” The group of companies comprised of PIL and its subsidiaries as shown in Section 5 

of this Prospectus.  A complete list of the companies within the Group as at March 31, 

2019 can be found at Note 1 of the Audited Financial Statements.

“Hurdle Rate” means a percentage return on PIL’s average equity in each financial year, set annually 

at the 12 Month LIBOR rate prevailing at the beginning of the financial year plus 200 

basis points (“bps”), with a permanent ceiling of 6%.

“IBC” an International Business Company incorporated pursuant to the IBC Act.

“IBC Act” the International Business Companies Act of St. Lucia (Chapter 12.14)

“Investment Manager” PROVEN Management Limited (“PML”), a company duly incorporated under the 

Companies Act of Jamaica 2004 as amended.

“Invitation” The invitation for subscription for the New Ordinary Shares contained in this Prospectus.

“J$”, “JMD” dollars denominated in the lawful currency of Jamaica

“JSE” Jamaica Stock Exchange

“Lead Broker” PROVEN Wealth Limited

“12-month LIBOR rate” means the rate for 12-month US Dollar inter-bank deposits published by the British 

Bankers’ Association (as to which the Investment Manager’s determination thereof shall, 

in the absence of manifest error, be final and binding on the Company)

“New Ordinary Shares” Up to 267,857,143 ordinary shares (if the Invitation is fully upsized) of US$0.01 par value 

in the capital of the Company available for subscription in the Invitation, which upon 

issue will rank pari passu in all respects with the Company’s Existing Ordinary Shares.

“Opening Date” the date on which the Invitation opens, being March 11, 2020, or such other date as 

may be determined by the Directors, having regard to the Rules of the JSE.

“Registrar” means Jamaica Central Securities Depository Limited.

“Selling Agents” Each of the licensed securities dealers listed as Selling Agents in Section 4 of this 

Prospectus, together with any other licensed securities dealers as the Company may 

subsequently specify by notice on the JSE’s website and on its website.

“Subscription Price” US$0.28 per New Ordinary Share (if paying in USD) or J$38.64 per New Ordinary Share 

(if paying in J$). 

“Terms of Issue of the 

New Ordinary Shares”

The terms of the issue of the New Ordinary Shares set out at Appendix 1 to this 

Prospectus.

“Underwriter” Sagicor Investments Jamaica Limited 

“US$” or “USD” dollars denominated in the lawful currency of the United States of America



12 PROVEN Investments Limited  |  APO Prospectus

3. THE INVITATION

The Company invites subscriptions from the public in Jamaica 

in respect of a maximum of 267,857,143 New Ordinary 

Shares to be issued by the Company, at a Subscription Price 

of either US$0.28 or J$38.64. The New Ordinary Shares 

will, upon issue, rank pari passu in all respects with the 

Company’s Existing Ordinary Shares. The Invitation will be 

initially in respect of 178,571,429 New Ordinary Shares, but 

in consultation with the Underwriter, the Directors may, but 

shall not be obliged to, elect to upsize the number of New 

Ordinary Shares made available for subscription by no more 

than 89,285,714 additional New Ordinary Shares in the event 

the Invitation is oversubscribed. The Invitation is underwritten 

by Sagicor Investments Jamaica Limited, whose underwriting 

commitment is capped at US$50 million.

The application list will open at 9:00 a.m. on March 11, 2020 

(the “Opening Date”) and will close at 4:00 p.m. on March 31, 

2020 or such other date as may be fixed by the Board (the 

“Closing Date”).

Applications submitted prior to the Opening Date will be 

received, but not processed until the Opening Date, and will 

be deemed to have been received at the commencement of 

the Invitation. The Company reserves the right to close the 

application list at any time without prior notice if Applications 

have been received prior to the Closing Date for the full 

amount of the respective New Ordinary Shares offered, or 

extend such closing beyond the above-mentioned date. 

In either case, the Company will provide notice as soon as 

reasonably practicable via a press release and by posting 

a notice on the website of the Jamaica Stock Exchange at 

www.jamstockex.com and at the Company’s website at 

www.weareproven.com.

Each Application for the New Ordinary Shares must 

be for a minimum of 1,000 New Ordinary Shares, and 

amounts above this shall be in multiples of 100 New 

Ordinary Shares.

Applications for New Ordinary Shares should be made on 

either (i) the Application Form provided with this Prospectus 

and available for download at www.weareproven.com or 

www.jamstockex.com or (ii) via IPO PRO, the Lead Broker’s 

online application portal accessed at www.ipopro.com.

Details of the procedure for applying for the New Ordinary 

Shares, including supplemental documents to be provided by 

each Applicant, and the terms and conditions of the Invitation 

are set out in Section 18 of this Prospectus and on both the 

Application Form and www.ipopro.com. 

Completed Applications must be received by 4:00 

p.m. on the Closing date.  Each Application must be 

accompanied/supported by payment for the full amount 

payable in respect of the Subscription Price by an 

Approved Payment Method in the applicable currency. 

Application forms may be delivered to any one of the 

locations listed in Appendix 6 of this Prospectus entitled 

“list Of locations for lead broker And Selling Agents”.

Upon the issue of the New Ordinary Shares, the Company 

intends to have the New Ordinary Shares listed on the USD 

Market and the J$ Main Market of the JSE, and the Company 

intends to apply for such listing promptly after the close of 

the Invitation, but this statement is not to be construed as 

a guarantee that the New Ordinary Shares will be so listed.  

KEy iNViTATiON STATiSTiCS

Number of Existing Ordinary Shares in issue at the date of 

this Prospectus

625,307,963

Maximum number of New Ordinary Shares to be issued by 

the Company pursuant to the Invitation

267,857,143 (if fully upsized)

Number of issued ordinary shares immediately following 

completion of the Invitation (assuming all New Ordinary 

Shares – including maximum upsize amount - subscribed 

for and issued)

893,165,106

New Ordinary Shares available as a percentage of the 

Existing Ordinary Shares in issue as at the date of this 

Prospectus

(assuming 267,857,143 New Ordinary Shares): 42.84%

(assuming 178,571,429 New Ordinary Shares): 28.56%

Minimum number of New Ordinary Shares that may be 

applied for 

1000, with multiples of 100 additional New Ordinary 

Shares
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Maximum gross proceeds of the Invitation

US$75,000,000 (being the USD equivalent of the 

aggregate of the gross proceeds in USD and JMD and 

assuming Invitation is fully upsized) 

Estimated expenses of the Invitation (fees for professional 

advisers and auditors, brokerage fees, listing fees, Selling 

Agents’ fees, marketing expenses, JCSD and regulatory 

fees)

An aggregate amount not exceeding 3% of the amount 

sought to be raised in the Invitation 

Estimated maximum net proceeds of the Invitation

US$72,750,000 (using the USD equivalent of the aggregate 

of the gross proceeds in USD and JMD and assuming 

Invitation is fully upsized)

REASONS fOR iNViTATiON 

ANd USE Of PROCEEdS
PIL is a private equity firm whose primary strategy is to acquire, 

grow and extract value from its portfolio of investments. Our 

fundamental objective is to continue to provide above average 

returns over the medium to long term for PIL’s investors.

As evidenced by our track record of successfully executed 

offerings of additional ordinary shares via rights issues and 

of preference shares, we routinely raise additional capital 

from time to time to strengthen our capital base, which in 

turn enables us to pursue our primary strategy. Our decision 

to raise additional capital at this time is consistent with this 

track record.  We currently have an extensive pipeline of 

investments spanning our three primary business strategies 

which are either under review or at various stages of execution, 

and the net proceeds of the Invitation will give us the ability 

pursue these and other opportunities, while ensuring that the 

Company maintains a balanced capital structure. 

TAXATiON CONSidERATiONS
The taxation discussion set out below is intended only as a 

descriptive summary and does not purport to be a complete 

technical analysis or listing of all potential tax effects to persons 

in Jamaica who subscribe for the New Ordinary Shares.  It is 

based on current income tax law, which is subject to change 

from time to time. Applicants should consult with their tax 

advisors concerning issues including: the application of 

Jamaican income tax laws to them arising from an investment 

in the New Ordinary Shares; any consequences to them 

arising under the laws of any other taxing jurisdiction; and, 

where applicable, the availability for income tax purposes of 

a credit or deduction for Jamaican taxes.

PIL is incorporated in St. Lucia and domiciled there as an IBC, 

and it has elected to pay corporate income tax at the rate of 

1% in that country. Under the CARICOM Double Taxation 

Treaty, based on that election, dividends paid by PIL are 

not taxable in other CARICOM states that are parties to the 

treaty (including Jamaica).  Furthermore, St. Lucia does not 

currently tax distributions by St. Lucia IBC’s to residents of 

other countries.

While the Directors intend to continue to manage the 

Company in such a manner as to ensure that its domicile for 

tax purposes remains in St. Lucia, they make no warranty, 

representation or undertaking in respect thereof. 
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4. PROFESSIONAL ADVISORS & SERVICE PROVIDERS 

TO THE INVITATION AND THE COMPANY

ARRANGER & 

lEAd bROKER

PROVEN WEAlTh liMiTEd

26 Belmont Road

Kingston 5

Website: provenwealth.com

Contact Person:  

Luwanna Williams

Assistant Vice President – Corporate Finance

PROVEN Wealth Limited

Telephone: 876.908.3800-1

Email: lwilliams@provenwealth.com

CO-ARRANGERS, 

CO-bROKERS & 

UNdERWRiTERS TO 

ThE iNViTATiON

SAGiCOR iNVESTMENTS 

JAMAiCA liMiTEd

85 Hope Road

Kingston 6

Website: www.sagicor.com/en-jm/

personal-solution/investment

Contact Persons:

Mischa McLeod-Hines

Assistant Vice President - Capital Markets

Email: mischa_mcleodhines@sagicor.com

Kendese Nangle

Capital Markets Associate 

Email: kendese_nangle@sagicor.com

Sagicor Investments Jamaica Limited

Telephone: 876.764.0325 / 876.733.8980

ATTORNEyS TO 

ThE COMPANy

hART MUiRhEAd fATTA

2nd Floor, Victoria Mutual Building

53 Knutsford Boulevard

Kingston 5

Website: www.hmf.com.jm

Telephone number: 876.929.9677

Email: info@hmf.com.jm

AUdiTOR KPMG

Chartered Accountants 

204 Johnsons Centre

#2 Bella Rosa Rd

Gros Islet, St. Lucia, W.I.

Telephone: 1 758.453.2298

Email: ecinfo@kpmg.lc
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REGiSTRAR & 

TRANSfER AGENTS

JAMAiCA CENTRAl SECURiTiES 

dEPOSiTORy liMiTEd

40 Harbour Street

Kingston

Website: www.jamstockex.com 

Telephone number: 876.967.3274

SElliNG AGENTS

Sagicor investments Jamaica limited 

85 Hope Road, Kingston 6 

876.754.0325

NCb Capital Markets limited 

The Atrium, 32 Trafalgar Road, Kingston 10 

 876.935.2238

JMMb Securities limited

6 Haughton Terrace, Kingston 10

876.704.6520

barita investments limited 

15 St. Lucia Way, Kingston 5

876.926.2681 

Scotia investments Jamaica limited 

7 Holborn Road, Kingston

888.472.6842

Mayberry investments limited

1 ½ Oxford Road, Kingston 5

876.929.1908 

JN fund Managers limited

2 Belmont Road, Kingston 5

876.929.7102
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5. DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY & ITS ACTIVITIES

PIL was incorporated in St. Lucia on November 25, 2009 as an IBC. Its registered office is located at McNamara Corporate 

Services Inc., 20 Micoud Street, Castries, St. Lucia.  PIL has not established a place of business in Jamaica.  Its assets and 

operations are managed by the Investment Manager, PROVEN Management Limited, a company incorporated in Jamaica and 

licensed by the FSC.  PIL aims to provide its shareholders with the benefits of the prospect of US$ dividend payments and a 

tax-efficient investment asset.  Our current corporate structure is set out below.

PIL commenced operations in February 2010 when it successfully raised US$20 million in equity capital in the Jamaican market 

through its fully subscribed private placement of ordinary shares. This private placement was one of the largest private or public 

US Dollar equity offerings in the history of Jamaica’s capital market at that time. Since then, PIL has gone on to successfully 

raise funding to support the execution of its business strategies, raising over US$67 million via additional issues of ordinary 

and preference shares and over US$200 million in debt securities. 

CURRENT CAPiTAl STRUCTURE

ClASS AUThORiSEd iSSUEd UNiTS AUThORiZEd CAPiTAl

ORDINARY SHARES HAVING 

US$0.01 PAR VALUE

2,999,990,000 625,307,963 US$29,999,900.00

MANAGER’S PREFERENCE SHARES 

HAVING US$0.01 PAR VALUE

10,000 10,000 US$100.00

CUMULATIVE REDEEMABLE 

PREFERENCE SHARES HAVING 

US$0.01 PAR VALUE

1,000,000,000 nil US$10,000,000.00

PIL’s ordinary shares were listed on the Jamaica Stock 

Exchange (“JSE”) in July 2011, pioneering the JSE’s USD 

Market for ordinary shares. These shares were later cross-

listed on the JMD dollar-denominated Main Market of the 

JSE in 2015. All subsequent ordinary and preference share 

issues have also been listed on the JSE. As a publicly listed 

company, PIL continues to be bound by and adheres to  the 

financial reporting and corporate governance requirements 

of the JSE applicable to listed companies.

At inception, PIL’s primary business was the holding of 

tradable securities for investment purposes as well as the 

pursuit of private equity opportunities as they arise, provided 

they are consistent with the overall aims and objectives of the 

Company. Over time, our business strategy has been refined 

and updated to reflect PIL’s evolution as a true private equity 

firm pursuing three distinct strategies:

•	 Private equity investments in the financial services sector 

and the real sector

•	 Real estate investment and development in the 

commercial and residential segments

•	 Treasury/Proprietary - This captures capital structure, 

cashflow and liquidity management which is structured 

around supporting the two other core strategies. The 

‘carry trade’ portfolio is captured within this strategy 

and represents investments in a portfolio of highly liquid 

tradable securities, which provide adequate liquidity to 

assist in the funding of the execution of the private equity 

and real estate strategies as needed. 

The Group currently holds a diverse portfolio of investments 

(including its ownership of its subsidiaries and shares in its 

associated companies) which it manages strategically to create 

and extract value for the ultimate benefit of its shareholders. 

PIL’s investment philosophy is rooted with the foremost 

objective of first preserving the capital of shareholders. Our 

investment selection process involves fundamental in-depth 

research and analysis, targeting investment opportunities 

that will provide added value and growth over a long-term 

horizon. In executing our private equity investment strategy, 

we maintain a conservative approach, consistent with our 

priority of capital preservation.  Our ideal investment target 

will therefore have: 

•	 a solid track record in their industry 

•	 an established reputation and product

•	 a history of profitability

•	 viable expansion plans for the future 
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Corporate 
Structure

PROVEN investments 
limited (Pil)
domiciled in St. Lucia

PROVEN Management 

limited (PMl)

[management 
company of PIL]

bOSlil bank limited (bOSlil)

75% Owned

Access financial Services limited (AfS)

24.72% Owned

PROVEN holdings limited

100% Owned

Real Properties limited

100% Owned

international financial Planning 

(Cayman) limited (ifP) 

100% Owned

PROVEN REiT limited (PREiT) 

100% Owned

PROVEN fund Managers limited 

(renamed international financial Planning 

Jamaica limited on January 10, 2020)

100% Owned

PROVEN Wealth limited (PWl)

100% Owned

dream Entertainment 

limited

20% Equity Stake

Jamaica Money Market 

brokers (JMMb)

20.01% Stake/ 

Associate Holding

Pil’s ASSOCiATE 
COMPANiES
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The breakdown of our private equity investments is as follows: 

PROVEN Wealth limited (“PWl”):

 Subsidiary company

100% shareholding 

PWL is an integrated wealth, asset and funds management 

company operating in Jamaica. Formerly Guardian Asset 

Management Limited, PIL acquired the company in August 

2010. 

The PWL team has developed significant expertise in the areas 

of wealth and asset management, corporate finance, pension 

fund management and administration, unit trust management 

and financial advisory services generally.  PWL also operates a 

cambio and is a licensed securities dealer and licensed broker 

member of the Jamaica Stock Exchange. 

PWL successfully manages investments valued at over 

US$1 billion, whilst delivering consistent returns and expert 

advice in over two decades of operation for its individual and 

corporate clients.

Having recently merged operations with PROVEN Fund 

Managers Limited, (previously named First Global Financial 

Services Limited, and now renamed as “International Financial 

Planning Jamaica Limited”) and consolidating the asset 

pension and fund management and administration business 

lines, PWL is optimally poised to maintain its premium 

position in the financial services industry by more efficiently 

and seamlessly providing innovative wealth and funds 

management solutions designed and tailored for its clients.

boslil bank limited (“boslil”):

Subsidiary company

75% shareholding

Boslil is an international bank based in St. Lucia, offering a 

full suite of financial products and services to its customers, 

including multicurrency accounts, demand deposits, money 

market accounts, term deposit accounts and credit cards. 

Boslil is regulated by the Financial Services Regulatory 

Commission of Saint Lucia and conducts its business in 

accordance with internationally recognized principles of 

banking with correspondent banking relationships and 

financial/investment relationships with some of the safest and 

most reputable banks in the world. In addition to its base in St. 

Lucia, Boslil has representative offices in Panama and Uruguay.

Real Properties limited

Subsidiary company

100% shareholding

Real Properties Limited is a wholly owned St. Lucian IBC 

managed by our Jamaican subsidiary, PROVEN REIT Limited. 

Real Properties Limited is a real estate holding company that 

owns either directly or indirectly through its subsidiaries all the 

real estate investment assets developed under the PROVEN 

REIT brand. Our real estate development activities are 

focused on opportunities existing within both residential and 

commercial real estate in Jamaica and internationally. With 

an eye for lucrative real estate investment opportunities, the 

PROVEN REIT brand is known for its successful execution of 

several model residential developments in Jamaica.  We have 

also been able to expand and diversify the commercial real 

estate portfolio through forging meaningful partnerships that 

align with the overall goal of value creation for the company’s 

stakeholders.   

Access financial Services limited (“Access”):

Associated company

24.72% shareholding

Access is one of the leading providers of personal and 

business loans to Jamaica’s microfinance sector. Access 

operates through an island-wide retail network of twenty-

four (24) branches.  As part of its acquisitive growth strategy, 

in December 2018 the company expanded outside of Jamaica 

by acquiring Embassy Loans Inc., a Florida-based consumer 

finance company which offers auto equity loans throughout 

the state of Florida in the United States.

PIL initially acquired a 49.72% stake in Access at the end of 

2014 and became its largest shareholder. After five years of 

above average growth the PIL Board decided to divest 50% 

of its holding in Access by a public offer for sale in September 

2019, reducing its shareholding in the company to 24.72% 

currently. The partial sale of shares in Access represents a 

natural progression in the scope of our operations as we 

continually assess our positions (including the return on 

investment to date) amidst the opportunities and seek to 

maintain a diversified portfolio of investments. 
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international financial Planning (Cayman) limited (“ifP”):

Subsidiary company

100% shareholding

PIL acquired a 100% stake in IFP in August 2018. IFP was 

founded in 2000 and is a licensed securities dealer and 

independent financial planning company with offices in 

Bermuda, BVI and the Cayman Islands and total assets under 

management of approximately US$160M as at September 

30, 2019.  With a team of highly qualified advisors delivering 

a bespoke investment or savings strategy tailored to the 

needs and budget of its clients, IFP provides impartial and 

independent investment advice on a range of investment 

products and strategies best suited for individuals, corporates 

and trusts.  Its product offerings include retirement planning, 

regular medium-term savings, university fees planning as well 

as lump sum investments.

dream Entertainment ltd. (“dream Entertainment”)

Associated company

20% shareholding

Our investment in Dream Entertainment marked our first 

venture into the entertainment and tourism sector, a sector 

which we believe holds a great deal of potential. Dream 

Entertainment are the owners and promoters of much sought-

after entertainment events such as Dream Weekend, Dream 

Weekend Cruise, Xodus Carnival and The Cooler Weekend.  

The company is the largest producer of music festivals, parties 

and proprietary events in the Caribbean.  It was incorporated 

in Jamaica in 2009 by a dynamic group of entrepreneurs, and 

has grown year over year, with not only the number of events 

they stage and support, but also the vast number of patrons 

from Jamaica and across the world who regularly participate 

in these events seeing significant increases. Despite being a 

relatively small investment for PIL, we remain bullish on Dream 

Entertainment’s growth trajectory and stand committed to 

enabling its management to build out a robust governance 

and financial framework that will support and propel its  

future expansion.

JMMb Group limited (“JMMbGl”):

Associated company

20% shareholding

In December 2018, PIL acquired an approximately 20.01% 

stake in JMMB Group Limited in a series of trades on the 

Jamaica Stock Exchange, thereby becoming the single largest 

shareholder in JMMBGL.  JMMBGL is a well-known regional 

financial services conglomerate, headquartered in Jamaica 

and listed on the JSE and the Trinidad and Tobago Stock 

Exchange, with operations in Jamaica, Trinidad and Tobago 

and the Dominican Republic. 

JMMBGL’s operations span commercial banking, investment 

advisory services, pension fund management and 

administration, collective investment scheme management 

and securities dealing. Our investment in JMMBGL is 

aligned with PIL’s strategic goal of expanding its investment 

portfolio across the Caribbean and Latin America and further 

diversifying its portfolio holdings. 

In November 2019, JMMBGL successfully concluded an 

oversubscribed J$12.5 billion additional public offering of 

ordinary shares, in what was then the largest such offering 

in the history of the Jamaican capital market, thus giving it 

access to a substantial pool of capital to execute its business 

strategies going forward. 

On December 6, 2019, JMMBGL announced that it had 

acquired a shareholding in Sagicor Financial Company Ltd. 

(“Sagicor”) as a result of its investment in Alignvest Acquisition 

II Corporation (“Alignvest”), resulting in JMMBGL now owning 

and controlling common shares representing approximately 

22.5% of the issued and outstanding common shares of 

Sagicor.

We view this transaction by JMMBGL as an investment 

positive which will provide JMMBGL with exposure to a more 

diverse range of business lines, in particular life, health, and  

general insurance.
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hon. hugh hart, O.J.

Chairman

Admitted to the Bar at Grays Inn, England in 1953 and admitted as a Solicitor in Jamaica in 

April 1956, Mr. Hart is a former Senior Partner and Consultant with the firm of Clinton Hart 

& Co. He practices commercial law at Hart Muirhead Fatta, primarily in the areas of taxation, 

real estate development, mining and corporate restructuring. He served as a member of 

the Jamaican Senate from 1980-1993, as Minister of Mining & Energy from 1983 -1989 and 

as Minister of Tourism from 1984 –1989.

Due to his outstanding contribution to the legal profession and the bauxite and mining 

sectors, he was awarded the national honour of Order of Jamaica by the Government of 

Jamaica in 2011.  In 2015, the University of the West Indies conferred him with the Honorary 

degree of Doctor of Laws, recognizing his stellar contribution to Caribbean development. 

Rhory McNamara

Independent Director & 

Company Secretary 

Member of Audit & 

Compliance Sub- Committee

Rhory McNamara is an attorney-at-law by profession. Following his return from the United 

Kingdom after completing his legal and professional training, between 2000-2015 he 

practiced in the family law firm of McNamara & Co. located in St. Lucia. He served as a 

partner with responsibility for the areas of banking law, corporate law and corporate/private 

conveyancing. He is currently the Managing Director of McNamara Corporate Services 

Inc., a major corporate services provider, focusing on the formation and management of 

IBC’s, international insurance companies and international mutual funds formed under the 

respective governing legislation in St. Lucia.  He serves on the board of several prominent 

private and public companies in St. Lucia and overseas, and has been the president of the 

St. Lucia Association for Persons with Development Disabilities since 2003.  

yvor Nassief

Independent Director 

Member of Audit & 

Compliance Sub- Committee

Yvor Nassief is a well accomplished Dominican businessman and former Executive Director 

of Dominica Coconut Products (from 1987-1995) and Fort Young Hotel (from 1986-2009), 

both in Dominica. He is currently the Managing Director and owner of Archipelago Trading 

Ltd., which is involved in money services, insurance, duty-free retail, real estate development, 

shipping and distribution. Between 2005 and 2007, he served in the Dominican Senate 

as Minister of Tourism and was the Chairman of Invest Dominica, the island’s investment 

promotion agency. He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from York University, Toronto.

6. PROFILE OF DIRECTORS
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Garfield Sinclair

Member of Audit & 

Compliance Sub-Committee

Garfield Sinclair is currently the President of Cable and Wireless Communications – 

Caribbean, having formerly served as Managing Director for LIME Jamaica and the Cayman 

Islands. Prior to this, he was the President & Chief Operating Officer for Dehring Bunting & 

Golding Limited (“DB&G”) from 1994 to 2007.  He was responsible for overall performance of 

the operations, treasury & asset trading, brokerage, marketing and information technology 

units of DB&G inclusive of the subsidiaries DB&G Unit Trusts Managers Limited and DB&G 

Merchant Bank Limited.

Mr. Sinclair is a Certified Public Accountant (non-practicing) with a bachelor’s degree in 

Business Administration from San Diego State University in California, and holds executive 

certifications from Massachusetts Institute of Technology (Sloan School of Management), 

and the University of Pennsylvania (Wharton School of Business).

John A. Collins M.b.E.

Independent Director

Member of the Audit & 

Compliance Sub-Committee

John Collins has had a distinguished career in Trust banking, spanning over 40 years. During 

this time, he served in senior positions in Trust companies in England, Kenya and Jamaica, 

before moving to Cayman in 1966 to open and manage the Bank of Nova Scotia Trust 

Company (Cayman) Limited. In 1973, he moved to Ansbacher (Cayman) Limited, where he 

stayed until retiring as Executive Director in 1995 but continued as non-Executive Director 

until October 2000. Since 2000 he has acted as consultant and director to a private group 

of Trusts and Companies. Mr. Collins is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Bankers and 

was appointed a Member of the Most Excellent Order of the British Empire in Her Majesty 

the Queen’s New Year’s Honour Listing 1986.

Jeffrey Gellineau

Independent Director

Chairman of Audit & 

Compliance Sub-Committee

Jeffrey Gellineau has had over 27 years of extensive audit experience at KPMG, Barbados.  

He is a past managing partner of KPMG Barbados and has served as the engagement 

partner in managing and providing audit and other advisory services to clients, both 

regionally and internationally.  This involved assessment of client’s internal controls and 

business risks to ensure that they are adequately addressed.  

Mr. Gellineau is a member of both the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants and 

the Institute of the Chartered Accountants of Barbados.

During the period January 2009 to November 2010, he was the Project Coordinator for a 

World Bank funded project “Strengthening Institutional Capacity for Project Implementation” 

which addressed Capacity Building for Financial Management and Procurement for Capital 

Projects in the OECS Countries.

Avinash Persaud

Independent Director

An Emeritus Professor of Gresham College in London and a non-executive director for 

several companies with services in banking, insurance, education and the media, Mr. Persaud 

has expansive experience across companies such as J. P. Morgan, UBS, State Street and GAM 

London. He is ranked by experts as one of the top three public intellectuals in the world on 

the financial crisis and is a recipient of the Jacques de Larosiere Award in Global Finance 

from the Institute of International Finance.  He is the non-executive chairman of Elara Capital 

PLC, an emerging-market investment bank, and Intelligence Capital Limited, financial and 

economic advisors to large financial institutions and G20 Governments. Professor Persaud 

currently serves as a special economic advisor to the Government of Barbados. 
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7. THE INVESTMENT MANAGER

PROVEN Management Limited (“PML”), which was incorporated in Jamaica, manages all aspects of the investment of PIL’s 

investable resources, and manages the Company’s assets and liabilities. PML is licensed and regulated by the FSC as a 

securities dealer. PIL has entered into an Investment Management Agreement with PML, which provides for PML to be paid a 

management fee of 2% per annum of the average net asset value of PIL as compensation. 

Manager’s Preference Shares

MPS Holdings Limited (“MPS”), an investment holding company incorporated in St. Lucia as an IBC, with the same shareholders 

as PML, holds the 10,000 Manager’s Preference Shares in PIL which carry the rights, terms and conditions set out in PIL’s 

Memorandum of Association, an extract from which is set forth in Appendix 1 to this Prospectus. The Manager’s Preference 

Shares collectively hold 50% of the voting rights in PIL on matters other than the Investment Manager’s fees (on which each 

Manager’s Preference Share carries one vote).

The Manager’s Preference Shares also carry the right to a dividend equal to 25% of PIL’s profits earned in excess of the Hurdle 

Rate, payable quarterly. The Hurdle Rate is a percentage return on PIL’s average equity in each of its financial years, set annually 

at the 12 Month LIBOR rate prevailing at the beginning of its financial year plus 200bps, with a permanent ceiling of 6%. 

The PMl board & Management Team

PML brings together one of the most experienced teams in the Jamaican financial sector, who in aggregate have successfully 

managed billions of dollars of investments, delivering consistent returns and expert financial advice over the past two decades. 

Members of the PML team have had significant prior experience in establishing, managing and developing new businesses and 

returning significant financial benefits to their investors. The team’s experience spans asset management, corporate finance, 

corporate and commercial law, financial advisory services, merchant banking, stock brokerage, pension fund management, 

unit trust management and includes the following persons: 

PROVEN MANAGEMENT liMiTEd’S diRECTORS & MANAGEMENT TEAM

Christopher bicknell

Chairman

Christopher Bicknell is a successful Jamaican entrepreneur and is currently the Group 

CEO and Finance Manager of Tank-Weld Ltd.  He has been a part of the board and senior 

management team of Tank-Weld for the past 20 years.

Mr. Bicknell is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA), and has held in the past several 

significant board appointments including at the Bank of Jamaica and RBTT Bank Jamaica 

Limited (now Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited). He is currently the Vice Chairman of Food 

for the Poor and is the Founding Treasurer of the Premier League Clubs Association.

Garfield Sinclair

Director

(See biography under Section 6) 
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Peter bunting, MP

Director

Peter Bunting plays an advisory and strategic role in PML’s development. He was a co-

founder, CEO and Chairman of Dehring Bunting & Golding Limited (DB&G).

He has contributed significantly to national life having served as Minister of National 

Security from 2012 to 2016. He has also served as General Secretary for the People’s 

National Party, Chairman of the National Water Commission, Parliamentary Secretary in 

the Ministry of Health, President and CEO of the National Investment Bank of Jamaica, 

and Chairman of JAMPRO. He is currently Member of Parliament for Central Manchester 

and a member of the Shadow Cabinet, with portfolio responsibility for education.  Mr. 

Bunting took a leave of absence from PML while he served in the Cabinet, but returned 

to active service following the February 2016 general elections.

Mark Golding, MP

Director

Mark Golding, a prominent Jamaican commercial attorney-at-law, was also a founding 

shareholder and director of DB&G in 1993 and played an integral role in the success of 

that company. He is a Partner in the law firm Hart Muirhead Fatta, where he practises 

with an emphasis on capital markets, corporate finance, and mergers and acquisitions. 

He was appointed to the Jamaican Senate in 2007, and served as the Minister of Justice for 

Jamaica from 2012 to 2016. He is the Chairman of the Mona Rehabilitation Foundation and 

a past Director of entities such as Scotia Group Jamaica Limited, GraceKennedy Limited 

and Caribbean Information & Credit Rating Services Limited (CariCRIS), the first regional 

ratings agency for the Caribbean.  He is currently the Member of Parliament for South 

West St. Andrew and a member of the Shadow Cabinet, with portfolio responsibility for 

finance.  Mr. Golding took a leave of absence from PML while he served in the Cabinet 

but returned to active service following the February 2016 general elections.

Christopher Williams

Director

President & CEO

Christopher Williams is responsible for overseeing the operations of PROVEN Management 

Limited and giving strategic direction and leadership towards the achievement of the 

organization’s overall goals and objectives, as set by the Board of Directors.

Mr. Williams was formerly the Managing Director of NCB Capital Markets Limited and 

was charged with the responsibility to strategically lead, grow and manage the wealth 

management business of the NCB Group. NCB Capital Markets Limited, under Chris’ 

guidance, grew into one of Jamaica’s most successful securities dealers and brokerage 

houses.

Johann heaven 

Director

Mr. Johann Heaven is currently the President and Chief Executive Officer of PROVEN 

Wealth Limited, which manages in excess of US$1 billion in funds under management on 

behalf of high net worth, corporate and institutional clients and pension funds. 

Mr. Heaven has over 20 years of experience in finance and banking, specializing in financial 

analysis, mergers and acquisitions, financial advisory, treasury and asset management, 

strategic planning and corporate finance. 

Mr. Heaven is a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) charter holder, and holds the Financial 

Risk Manager (FRM) certification, and has a Master’s Degree in Finance from the University 

of London and Bachelor’s Degree in Economics and Management from the University 

of the West Indies. 
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Sherri Murray

Director & Company 

Secretary

Vice President

Operations & Human 

Resources 

Sherri Murray is responsible for providing operational and board support along with 

strategic human resource management. Prior to this, Mrs. Murray was a Vice President 

at DB&G. Mrs. Murray has an MBA from McGill University, Canada and a B.Sc. (First Class 

Hons.) from the University of the West Indies.

Charmaine boyd Walker 

Senior Vice President 

Finance, Risk & Compliance

Mrs. Boyd-Walker is responsible for directing Finance, Risk & Compliance to efficiently 

and effectively produce timely financial reports as guided by the accepted accounting 

standards. She has over fifteen years’ experience in the Finance industry and has previously 

worked for Guardian Life Limited, Guardian Asset Management Ltd, Jamaica Mutual Life 

and PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Mrs. Boyd-Walker has a Master’s degree in finance from the Manchester School of 

Business.

Nerisha farquharson, CfA

Vice President, Proprietary 

Funds and Financial Services 

Nerisha Farquharson is responsible for the management of PIL’s proprietary portfolio, 

providing support to the acquisition, execution, integration and ongoing monitoring 

of all financial services portfolio companies. Mrs. Farquharson has over 13 years of 

experience, spanning financial services regulation, treasury management, asset and 

liability management, portfolio risk management, and private equity. She was formerly 

employed with PIL’s subsidiary, PROVEN Wealth Limited in the capacity of Senior Manager, 

Treasury & Investments.

Mrs. Farquharson is a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) charter holder, and a member of 

the Certified Market Technician Association. She holds an MBA in International Business 

with distinction, from the  University of the West Indies, Mona and a Bachelors Degree 

in Finance (First Class Hons.) from the University of Technology. 
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8. PRESENTATION OF CURRENT & HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA

The following is a presentation of key financial data (in US$) derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of 

PIL (“Company”) and its subsidiaries (“Group”) for each financial year in the 5-year period March 31, 2015 to March 31, 2019. 
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The following is a presentation of key financial data (in US$) derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of PIL 

(“Company”) and its subsidiaries (“Group”) for the year ended March 31, 2019.



29APO Prospectus  |  PROVEN Investments Limited



30 PROVEN Investments Limited  |  APO Prospectus



31APO Prospectus  |  PROVEN Investments Limited



32 PROVEN Investments Limited  |  APO Prospectus



33APO Prospectus  |  PROVEN Investments Limited



34 PROVEN Investments Limited  |  APO Prospectus

The following is a presentation of key financial data (in US$) derived from the unaudited consolidated financial statements 

of PIL (“Company”) and its subsidiaries (“Group”) stated for the period ended December 31, 2019, which are set out in full in 

Appendix 4. 
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9. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:

The management of PIL is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the information contained in the Management 

Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”). The MD&A is prepared to give prospective Applicants information required to independently 

assess the operations and financial performance of PIL for (i) the financial year ended March 31, 2019 compared with the prior 

financial year and (ii) the nine-month period ended December 31, 2019.  It should be read in conjunction with PIL’s financial 

statements for both periods under review. 

The information presented herein in respect of the financial year ended March 31, 2019 is an abridged version of the MD&A 

contained in PIL’s 2019 Annual Report released on July 26, 2019, which can be referred to for further details on the operational 

results of PIL. The financial information disclosed in this MD&A for each of the periods under review is consistent with (i) PIL’s 

audited consolidated financial statements and related notes for the financial year ended March 31, 2019 and (ii) the unaudited 

financial statements for the nine-month period ended December 31, 2019 respectively. 

Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts expressed are in United States dollars and have been primarily derived from PIL’s 

financial statements which are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

This MD&A may contain forward-looking statements, and prospective Applicants should therefore refer to the Disclaimer & 

Note on Forward-Looking Statements in Section 1 of this Prospectus when interpreting the information contained in this MD&A.
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fiNANCiAl PERfORMANCE

SUMMARy Of fiNANCiAl PERfORMANCE 

(fiNANCiAl yEAR ENdEd MARCh 31, 2019)

Solid Core Growth 

PIL experienced double-digit growth in profitability, recording 

Net Profit attributable to the Owners of the Company (NPAO) 

for the fiscal year of US$6.97 million. This represents a 22.63% 

increase from the US$5.68 million earned in the same 

period in the previous fiscal year. Total Net Revenue for the 

year ended March 31, 2019 experienced a 4.3% increase to 

US$37.72 million compared to US$36.15 million earned during 

the year ended March 31, 2018. This was mainly due to an 

improvement in Fees and Commission, Pension Management 

Income and Net Foreign Exchange Gains. The financial results 

for the twelve month period ended March 31, 2019 reflect 

the net impact of accounting adjustments required under 

the new IFRS 9 Accounting Standard which took effect from 

January 1, 2018. 

NET PROfiT
For the financial year ended March 31, 2019, Net Profit 

attributable to shareholders amounted to US$6.97 million 

or US$0.011 per share, compared to US$5.68 million or 

US$0.0094 per share reported for the prior financial year, 

while the Return on Average Equity for this period amounted 

to 7.87%. 

Net Interest Income

Spread income was a major contributor to revenue during the 

2018/2019 financial year, accounting for 50% of total revenues 

and reflects PIL’s core positioning in Financial Services. Net 

Interest Income totalled US$18.73 million and recorded a 

decline of 8.1% compared with the prior financial year. This 

decline was mainly due to the reduction in interest-bearing 

assets over the year to facilitate optimal rebalancing of the 

portfolio and reflects the contraction in spreads emanating 

from the rise in short term US interest rates.

Non- Interest Income

Fees and commission for the financial year ended March 31, 

2019 increased by 61.6% year over year from US$5.08 million 

to US$8.20 million. This performance reflects the Group’s 

decision to diversify its income towards off balance sheet 

income sources and was driven mainly by fee income earned 

by acquisition targets, namely IFP and Embassy Loans Inc. 

(acquired by Access Financial Services Limited), both of which 

are primarily fee-based businesses. 

Net Foreign Exchange Gains totalled US$1.63 million, 

compared to a loss of US$0.44 million reported for the financial 

year ended March 31, 2018. Net Fair Value Adjustments and 

Realized Gains from the Trading of Securities for the 2018/2019 

financial year amounted to US$1.14 million compared to a gain 

of US$4.29 million during the prior period. This decline in 

gains was mostly due to the rising interest rate environment in 

the United States experienced in the second half of the 2018-

2019 financial year. This change affected bond yields and 

resulted in lower bond prices relative to where positions were 

held. Additionally, continued realignment of the portfolio was 

executed over the period to reduce the overall market and 

credit risk exposure resulting in a rightsizing of the balance 

sheet to reflect a greater focus on the other core strategies, 

namely; Private Equity and Real Estate.

PRiVATE EQUiTy 
Private equity investments that fit our risk to reward objectives 

are a strong area of focus, PIL continues to explore opportunities 

throughout the region consistent with the ongoing acquisitive 

thrust. Our current private equity holdings continue to boost 

PIL’s bottom-line:  
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•	 PROVEN Wealth Limited (PWL) & PROVEN Fund 

Managers Limited (PFML), renamed International 

Financial Planning Jamaica Limited (IFPJ)

PWL and PFML contributed $1.77M or 25.36% to the 

consolidated NPAO for the financial year ended March 

31, 2019. PWL’s total assets as at March 31, 2019 stood 

at US$113.05 million. PWL continues to focus on its 

strategy to grow its off-balance sheet wealth and advisory 

management business by offering innovative investment 

solutions to clients. The company’s diversification of its 

revenue streams and reducing reliance on the repo 

business resulted in non-interest income accounting for 

69% of its revenues over the period. PWL is also focused 

on improving its operating efficiency aided by the 

adoption of improved technological solutions throughout 

the business. PWL and PFML were merged as of April 1, 

2019. This merger is already producing synergic gains 

supporting greater value extraction from this subsidiary 

company.

•	 Access Financial Services Limited

Access Financial Services Limited produced a net profit of 

US$3.86 million, contributing US$1.27 million or 18.20% 

to the consolidated NPAO for the period ended March 31, 

2019. The company’s loan portfolio was US$29.78 million 

as at March 31, 2019, representing a 27.30% increase 

when compared to the balance as at March 31, 2018. The 

significant increase in the company’s asset base reflects 

its acquisition of Embassy Loans Inc.

•	 BOSLIL Bank Limited

BOSLIL experienced another successful year, as net profit 

totalled US$4.28 million. This resulted in a US$3.29 million 

or 47.23% contribution to the consolidated NPAO for the 

period ended March 31, 2019. Total Assets of the Bank as 

at March 31, 2019 stood at US$245.35 million. BOSLIL’S 

performance was mainly driven by growth in its core 

business, reflecting optimal asset liability management; 

which resulted in the Bank posting a 25.85% year over 

year increase in net interest income.

•	 International Financial Planning Limited

PROVEN Investments Limited completed the acquisition 

of 100% interest in IFP in August 2018.  IFP is a licensed 

securities dealer with offices in Cayman, Bermuda and the 

British Virgin Islands that caters to a variety of investors 

ranging from medium to high net worth individuals. IFP 

delivered US$0.53 million in Net Profits on revenues 

of US$2.73 million over the period of August 2018 to 

March 2019. This represents a 4.10% contribution to the 

consolidated NPAO.

•	 Investment in Associated Companies

Total share of profits reported on investments in 

associates for the financial year ended March 31, 2019 

was reported at US$1.31 million, contributing 18.70% to 

the consolidated NPAO.

•	 JMMB Group Limited 

In December 2018, PIL acquired 20.01% of the 

participating voting shares in JMMB Group Ltd.  This 

investment aligns with the company’s core Investment 

Strategy. JMMB’s expanding presence within the 

region is consistent with PIL’s ongoing strategy 

diversify the portfolio of investments across the 24 

countries of the Caribbean and Latin America.

•	 Dream Entertainment

During the 4th quarter, PIL  acquired a 20% equity stake 

in Dream Entertainment Limited. This is consistent 

with PIL’s strategic thrust to identify, invest in and 

grow, viable real sector private companies. Dream 

Entertainment Limited has over the years shown the 

ability to provide enviable entertainment products 

that cater to a growing audience that is primarily 

beyond the Jamaican shores.  This acquisition not 

only aligns with PIL’s core Investment Strategy within 

the Real Sector but also its risk to reward objectives 

in achieving its financial goals.

•	 Real Properties Limited (Real Estate) 

Real Properties Limited, which is managed locally by 

PROVEN REIT Limited, had a successful year, as reflected 

in its financial performance, project execution and project 

pipeline. The subsidiary company  reported net income 

totaling US$1.70 million, on revenues of US$2.23 million. 

After adjusting management fees, the contribution to the 

consolidated NPAO was US$2.04 million or 29.23% for 

the period ended March 31, 2019. Total assets stood at 

US$30.69 million as at March 31, 2019, this represents a 

53.3% increase compared to US$20.02 million reported 

as at March 31, 2018. The subsidiary continues to diversify 

its portfolio of real estate holdings which as at March 31, 

2019 included three (3) rental income properties and six 

(6) development sales projects; all at various stages of the 

development cycle and marketed under the “PROVEN 

REIT” brand. The company continues to closely monitor 

the local and international real estate markets for new 

opportunities. 
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OPERATiNG EXPENSES
For the financial year ended March 31, 2019, consolidated 

operating expenses increased by 9.90% to US$25.89 million 

compared to US$23.56 million in the year ended March 31, 

2018..  The increase is mainly due to incremental administrative 

and general expenses as a result of additional expenses from 

acquired portfolio companies (IFP and Embassy Loans Inc.) 

and acquisition costs incurred. The Efficiency Ratio at the end 

of March 31, 2019 stood at 66.33%. It is anticipated that as 

synergies are realized, coupled with the Company’s drive to 

achieve efficiencies across all the Portfolio Assets, the Group 

will realize positive benefits over the medium term leading to 

a further reduction in this ratio.

STATEMENT Of fiNANCiAl POSiTiON
Total assets amounted to US$625.91 million as at March 31, 

2019, which represents an increase of 8.49% from US$576.91 

million as at March 31, 2018. Total liabilities increased to 

US$510.18 million as at March 31, 2019 from US$469.56 million 

reported as at March 31, 2018, representing an increase of 

8.65%. The increase in liabilities year over year was mainly 

due to the financing arrangements entered into by the Group 

in connection with the JMMBGL share acquisition, but this 

increase was tempered by the ongoing reduction in the PIL 

carry trade portfolio over the period. 

ShAREhOldERS’ EQUiTy
Shareholders’ Equity Attributable to the Owners of the 

Company increased by 8.13% to US$92.01 million as at 

March 31, 2019 from US$85.10 million as at March 31, 2018, 

driven mainly by the improvement in fair value reserves. The 

improvement in fair value reserves came on the heels of 

improving bond market conditions experienced in the fourth 

quarter, following the decision of the US Federal Reserve 

Bank to halt further interest rate hikes which resulted in an 

uptick in bond prices reflecting a shift in market participants 

expectation for market risk. These gains counterbalanced the 

net reduction in Foreign Exchange Translation Reserves and 

Retained Earnings. 

diVidENd PAyMENT
The Board of Directors approved an interim dividend payment 

of US$0.0021 per share to all Ordinary Shareholders on record 

as at June 14, 2019, which was paid on June 28, 2019. This 

represents an annualized tax-free dividend yield of 4.33% 

based on the average share price of US$0.208 for the year 

ended March 31, 2019.  For reference, the chart below 

illustrates the dividend yield in respect of the Company’s 

ordinary shares for each of the last five financial years.
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SUMMARy Of fiNANCiAl PERfORMANCE (9 

MONThS ENdEd dECEMbER 31, 2019)

Continuing Solid Core Growth 

PIL registered strong performance for the nine-month 

period ended December 31, 2019. This was as a result of 

solid execution of strategies across the Group to grow core 

revenues and improve operating efficiency. PIL remains 

committed to managing its portfolio of assets in an optimal 

manner in order to create value for its shareholders. 

Net Profit attributable to Owners of the Company (NPAO) 

for this period amounted to US$26.45 million, driven mainly 

by the extraordinary gain from the sale of the block of shares 

in Access Financial Services Limited during the period. 

NPAO adjusted to exclude, inter alia, this extraordinary gain 

amounted to US$8.47 million. This represents a 43.50% 

increase in core earnings from the US$5.90 million earned in 

the same period last year. 

PERfORMANCE dRiVERS

1. PRiVATE EQUiTy 

PROVEN Wealth Limited (PWL)

PWL reported Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of US$2.39 

million for the period ended December 31, 2019, which 

contributed 9.04% of the consolidated NPAO. Revenues 

generated by PWL totalled US$8.54 million with Net Interest 

Income and Other Income accounting for 25% and 75% 

respectively. Pension Management Income, Securities Trading 

and Fees and Commission were the top performing line items 

during the period. Total Administrative and General Expenses 

amounted to US$4.24 million, accounting for 19.30% of total 

Group Operating Expenses. Total Assets of PWL experienced 

a 10.20% increase from US$106.9 million as at December 31, 

2018 to US$117.8 million as at December 31, 2019.

Access Financial Services Limited (Access)

As a result of the reduction in ownership by PIL from 49.72% 

to 24.72% in September 2019, Access is now recognized as 

an associate company resulting in the recognition of a share 

of its profits, instead of a consolidation of its results into PIL’s 

Consolidated performance.  Access’ contribution for the 

nine month period ended December 31, 2019 amounted to 

US$1.05 million. Thus, in aggregate, the company contributed 

3.98% to NPAO over the nine-month period. 

BOSLIL Bank Limited (BOSLIL)

BOSLIL experienced another successful period, as net 

profit totaled US$4.40 million, resulting in US$3.16 million 

or 11.93% contribution to consolidated NPAO. Revenues 

generated by BOSLIL totaled US$7.94 million with Net Interest 

Income and Other Income accounting for 60% and 40% 

respectively. BOSLIL contributed 48.62% to total Net Interest 

Income reported by the Group. Efficiency Ratio registered 

a marked improvement from 55.45% for the nine months 

ended December 31, 2018 to 45.65% for the nine months 

ended December 31, 2019. Total Administrative and General 

Expenses amounted to US$3.55 million, accounting for 16.14% 

of total Group Operating Expenses. Total Assets of the Bank 

experienced a 24.24% increase from US$258.75 million as at 

December 31, 2018 to US$321.46 million as at December 31, 

2019. BOSLIL’s performance was mainly driven by growth in its 

core business, reflecting optimal asset-liability management 

and cost synergies which resulted in the Bank posting a 75% 

increase in Net Profits compared with the same period last 

year.

International Financial Planning Limited (IFP)

The company reported Revenues and Net Profit of US$4.38 

million and US$0.99 million respectively for this period. This 

resulted in a NPAO contribution to the Group of 3% for the 

nine month period ended December 31, 2019. IFP operations 

are entirely focused on off balance sheet activities, and as a 

result 100% of its revenue is derived from fees and commission 

which contributed 44.41% to the overall Fees and Commission 

reported by the Group for the period ended December 31, 

2019. 

investment in Associated Companies 

JMMB Group Limited (JMMBGL)

JMMBGL is an Associate Company and contributed US$5.62 

million (projected) in the form of Share of Profits for the nine 

month period ended December 31, 2019. 

2. REAl ESTATE

Real Properties Limited (RPL) 

RPL reported Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of 

US$1.43 million for the nine months to December 31, 2019. 

This performance contributed 3.39% to Group NPAO. Total 

assets stood at US$36.51 million as of December 31, 2019, 

which represents a 24.84% increase compared to US$29.24 

million reported for the same period last year. This subsidiary 

continues to diversify its portfolio of real estate holdings which 

as at December 31, 2019, included three (3) rental income 

properties and eight (8) development sales projects; all 

at various stages of the development cycle. The company 

continues to closely monitor the local and international real 

estate markets for new opportunities. 
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3. TREASURy / Pil PROPRiETARy 

The Treasury segment of the Group’s operations generated 

NPAO of US$12.13 million for the period ended December 

31, 2019. This is net of all intercompany income and charges. 

This contributed 45.88% to the total NPAO of $26.45 million 

reported for the period.    The performance of this segment 

was mainly attributed to the extraordinary gains of $23.97 

million realized on PIL’s sale of 50.28% of its holding in AFSL. 

STATEMENT Of fiNANCiAl POSiTiON 

Total assets amounted to US$685.34 million as at December 31, 

2019, which represents an increase of 9.36% from US$626.71 

million as at December 31, 2018. Total liabilities increased to 

US$559.17 million from US$522.34 million as at December 

31, 2018, representing an increase of 7.05% and as previously 

stated, this increase is largely driven by the acquisition costs 

incurred in respect of our JMMBGL investment. The year over 

year Balance Sheet growth was attributed mainly to a 77.22% 

increase in Investment in Associates compared to the same 

period last year, reflecting the investment in JMMBGL.

ShAREhOldERS’ EQUiTy

Shareholders’ Equity Attributable to Owners of the Company 

increased by 47.80% to US$119.20 million from US$80.65 

million as at December 31, 2018. The change is attributed to 

a material increase in Retained Earnings, due to gains realized 

on the disposal of part of our holdings in Access and continued 

improvements in the investment fair valuation reserves on 

the heels of favourable bond market conditions experienced 

over the period. Retained earnings grew almost two-folds 

to US$29.54 million as at December 31, 2019 compared to 

December 31, 2018, while the Investment Revaluation Reserve 

experienced a noticeable improvement to US$8.60 million 

compared to negative US$8.80 million in the same period 

last year.

diVidENd PAyMENT

On February 7, 2020, the Board of Directors approved 

payment of dividends totalling US$0.0032 per share to all 

Ordinary Shareholders on record as of February 24, 2020, 

to be paid on March 6, 2020. This represents an annualized 

tax-free dividend yield of 5.82% based on the average share 

price of US$0.265 for the period ended December 31, 2019. 

STOCK PRiCE

PIL’s share price on the USD Market at the close of each of the 

financial years between March 31, 2015 to March 31, 2019 has 

ranged between U$0.18 and US$0.22.  As at December 31, 

2019, the share price improved to US$0.33.  

STRATEGiC OUTlOOK 

PROVEN’S management is optimistic about the Group’s 

future going into the new decade. During 2019, the Board 

of Directors and Executive Management team finalized a 

three-year strategic plan. Emerging from this strategic review 

process was a redefinition of the PROVEN business model 

and a renewed vision statement. 

The journey to Vision 2022 will be underpinned by two critical 

foundations: 

1. ‘Business as usual’ transformation – this involves improving 

the existing foundation whilst growing organically. Our 

focus will be on maximising value creation and extraction 

in respect of portfolio companies through both organic 

and inorganic growth. 

2. ‘Future Proofing’ the Group – this involves a keen focus 

on continued growth through acquisition and ensuring 

that the Group remains relevant in this era of disruption. 

This will be executed through the strategic adoption 

of technology, as well as exploration of investment 

opportunities in fintech and investments within the non-

financial service sectors. 

Anchored by these two foundation principles, and relying 

on our investors, business model, governance structure and 

people/culture, we look forward to achieving these 2022 

strategic objectives: 

1. To be an efficient allocator of capital 

2. To generate the highest possible risk-adjusted return for 

our shareholders 

3. Sustainable business growth with a targeted capital base 

of US$150 million by 2022 

The redefinition of PROVEN’s vision and strategy, reflects its 

evolution over its ten years of existence and a call to transform 

the “PIL Legacy”. We expect that this transformation will 

position PIL to allocate capital efficiently and reflects its ability 

to be agile and proactive in securing shareholders value. 
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While the Group remains focused on taking advantage of new 

acquisition opportunities, it recognizes with equal importance 

the significance of integrating, synergizing, and accelerating 

growth of its existing portfolio companies. To this end the 

Group over the last year has:

1. Worked with the Investment Manager to strengthen its 

capacity to be a knowledge centre for the benefit of the 

Group and provide support to portfolio companies in 

all functional aspects of the business including, IT, Risk 

Management, Marketing and Communication and HR.

2. Implemented a Deal Execution and Integration 

Management Framework to optimize value creation and 

extraction. 

3. Promoted human capital development aimed at building 

a culture of high performance. 

iNVESTMENT OPPORTUNiTiES

PIL has a track record of delivering value to its shareholders 

in the three main areas of focus. The Invitation is intended to 

bolster the capital position of PIL, which will better enable the 

Company to take advantage of new investment opportunities 

at various stages within the deal pipeline. 

We anticipate that we will deploy our available capital for the 

following purposes:

1. Allocation of additional capital to the real estate strategy 

to enable the execution of the development projects set 

out below

2. Additional investments in the regional acquisition of 

financial services sector 

OPERATiNG ENViRONMENT

Global  

Over the 18-month period under review, market conditions 

were characterized by continued global uncertainties. 

Despite this, all major markets (i.e., fixed income, equity and 

commodities) recorded positive total returns. Volatility as 

measured by the Chicago Board Options Exchange Volatility 

Index (which represents the market’s expectation of 30-day 

forward-looking volatility), fluctuated from a low of 10.85 

to a high of 36.071. This was occasioned by abrupt change 

in US monetary policy stance, trade uncertainty and other 

geopolitical uncertainty. The International Monetary Fund 

(IMF) estimated global growth for 2019 and 2020 at 3.2% and 

3.5%2 respectively as the pace of global economic activity 

was subdued over 2019 and is expected to remain weak in 

2020. Momentum in manufacturing activity has substantially 

weakened to levels not seen since the global financial crisis. 

Also, continued trade and political tensions have taken a toll 

on business confidence, investment decisions, and global 

trade over the period3.

Across the spectrum of the developed market, government 

bond yields declined markedly over the review period ended 

September 30, 2019 after starting the review period at close to 

the current cycle high. As reported by Bloomberg Terminals, 

the benchmark US Treasury 10-year yield declined by 106bps 

to 1.67%4 over the 18-month period ended September 30, 

2019, having traded as low as 1.46%5. The spread between 

two-year and 10-year Treasury yields fell below zero during 

the period, an event that has preceded each of the last seven 

recessions. This spread got the final push into negative 

territory in mid-August 2019 due to intensified risk aversion 

associated with US-China trade uncertainty.

1  Obtained directly from Bloomberg Terminal
2  World Economic Outlook. (2019, November 14). Retrieved from https://

www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO.
3  World Economic Outlook. (2019, November 14). Retrieved from https://

www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO.
4  Obtained directly from Bloomberg Terminal
5  Obtained directly from Bloomberg Terminal
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Over the period of September-December 2019, the sentiment 

shifted with more constructive developments in the US-China 

relationship and as better prospects for an orderly Brexit were 

revealed. Media reports indicated that the US and China were 

set to sign a Phase 1 deal in January 2020 and the new Brexit 

deadline was set for the end of January 31, 2020, following 

the outcome of general elections held in the United Kingdom 

in December 2019. As a result, equities rose across the globe 

and corporate spreads fell globally. The US Treasury yield 

increased by 25bps over September to December 2019 to end 

the year at 1.92%6.  Spreads on investment grade corporate 

bonds issuers fluctuated between 206bps and 142bps over 

this period, ending the period at 156bps7. 

US equities made modest gains over the eighteen-month 

period ending September 30, 2019 with the Standard & Poor’s 

500 Index advancing 12.72% over this period, and eventually 

closing the 2019 calendar year with a gain of 28.72%8. This 

performance was realized despite ongoing growth concerns 

and uncertainty surrounding the US-China trade. Emerging 

markets felt the effect of a renewed escalation in the US-China 

trade dispute and global growth concerns, resulting in the 

MSCI Emerging Market Index declining by 14.40% over the 

eighteen months ending September 20199. Those markets 

most sensitive to US dollar strength came under pressure, 

as the US Dollar index (“DXY”), a measure of the value of 

the USD relative to the value of a basket of other currencies) 

strengthened by 10.36% over the 18-month period, also 

ending September 2019 at a high of 99.3810.

 However, the USD faced selling pressure during the quarter 

ended December 31, 2019, as the DXY declined by 2.76% due 

to broadened risk appetite over the period. Overall the USD 

fared better than expected over the calendar year 2019 and 

remained resilient amid softer US interest rates and signs that 

the US economy was losing momentum. Interest rates in the 

US remain well above those of other economies (specifically 

“Group of Ten” economies), which should continue to serve 

as a support for the USD. 

Following nine consecutive rate hikes starting in December 

2015, the US Federal Reserve (the “Fed”) reduced interest 

rates three times commencing in August 2019, representing 

a total decline of 0.75% to bring the Federal Funds rate within 

a range of 1.75% – 2.00% at the end of the eighteen month 

review period. In December 2019, the rate was reduced by 

another 0.25% thus bringing the current target within 1.50% 

6  Obtained directly from Bloomberg Terminal
7  Obtained directly from Bloomberg Terminal
8  Obtained directly from Bloomberg Terminal
9  Obtained directly from Bloomberg Terminal 
10  Obtained directly from Bloomberg Terminal

- 1.75%. Central banks around the world followed suit as well, 

furthering a global trend of monetary policy easing which is 

expected to continue in 2020.

In mid-September 2019, overnight borrowing costs in the 

US$2.2 trillion Repo Market spiked to as high as 10% (a four-

fold increase from the prior week), a move not seen since the 

height of the global credit crisis more than a decade ago11. 

This precipitated an uptick in the average Federal Funds Rate, 

which reached 2.25% and matched the upper end of the Fed’s 

current target range. As a result, this pushed short-term rates 

higher and tightened money market conditions as banks and 

companies were unable to efficiently source cash for liquidity 

purposes. The Fed responded by injecting billions of dollars 

into the financial system; a move it has not used in more than 

ten years to calm the money markets, and announced plans 

to increase the size of its overnight operations for the repo 

market to US$120 billion a day from the current US$75 billion.

The White House struck a deal with Democratic party leaders 

in Congress in July 2019 to suspend the U.S debt ceiling and 

boost spending levels for another two years12. In addition to 

removing the threat of a US debt default and significantly 

raising federal spending, this deal increased the debt ceiling 

until the next budgetary standoff in July 31, 2021. On the 

US domestic political front, impeachment inquiries were 

initiated against US President Trump towards the end of the 

period ended September 2019, and in December 2019, two 

articles of impeachment were approved by the US House of 

Representatives, accusing President Trump of abusing the 

power of his office and with obstructing Congress. However, 

with projections being that in the subsequent stage of the 

impeachment trial in the US Senate, it was likely that President 

Trump would escape conviction, the market did not price 

a removal from office despite the initiation of the formal 

proceedings.

Several of Europe’s economies weathered growth slowdowns 

over the eighteen month period ended September 30, 2019, 

mainly due to political uncertainty. Brexit fears fuelled a 0.2% 

contraction in the United Kingdom’s economy over the period 

June - September 2019, its first decline since 2012. Theresa 

May resigned as leader of the Conservative Party and her 

role was filled by Boris Johnson in July 2019. Boris Johnson 

pulled off a landslide victory in the general election held in 

11  JeffCoxCNBCcom. (2019, December 31). The Fed seems to have halted 
a potential crisis in the overnight lending market - for now. Retrieved 
February 5, 2020, from https://www.cnbc.com/2019/12/30/the-fed-
seems-to-have-halted-a-potential-crisis-in-the-repo-market.html 

12  Fedor, L. (2019, July 23). White House and Congress reach deal on US 
debt ceiling. Retrieved February 5, 2020, from https://www.ft.com/
content/359c66dc-aca8-11e9-8030-530adfa879c2 
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December 2019 and expectations were high that his exit deal 

would be approved by the UK Parliament in January 2020. 

The S&P GSCI Spot Index which measures commodity 

performance posted a negative return of 9.32%13 over 

the eighteen-month period ending September 30, 2019, 

which was negatively impacted by USD strength. Also, 

over the period, Brent and West Texas Intermediate crude 

oil prices declined by 10.14%14 and 14.19%15 respectively. 

Signs of weakening global growth also played a part. In 

mid-September, Brent crude oil prices spiked a record 20% 

following coordinated drone and missile strikes against Saudi 

Arabia’s energy infrastructure in what was one of the worst 

ever disruptions of crude output. The country’s production 

has been fully restored to pre-attack levels and the key factor 

affecting oil markets has now shifted to tensions between the 

US and Iran. Prolonged tensions between the two nations 

were heightened after a US air strike that killed Iran’s top 

military commander in January 2020. As a result, oil prices 

remain elevated amid fears over Iranian retaliation. In addition, 

the US-Iran tension has become a major geopolitical threat 

to the global economy and markets in 2020.

Regional

According to the IMF, growth in Latin America and the 

Caribbean region was projected at 0.9% for 2019 and to 2.4% 

for 202016, spurred by private consumption and investment. 

This projection reflects negative surprises in the first half of 

2019, elevated domestic policy uncertainty in some large 

economies, heightened US-China trade tensions, and 

somewhat lower global growth. Risks to the outlook remain 

tilted to the downside, including from a further escalation of 

US-China trade tensions, a slowdown in major economies, 

and tighter global financial conditions.

Barbados continues to make progress in implementing 

its economic reform program and expected continued 

turnaround for the nation’s economy is expected as it strives 

to meet ambitious targets through both the local program 

(the Barbados Economic Recovery and Transformation plan) 

and the IMF’s Extended Fund Facility17. In December 2019, 

S&P upgraded Barbados’ long term foreign currency issuer 

13  Obtained directly from the Bloomberg Terminal
14  Obtained directly from Bloomberg Terminal
15  Obtained directly from Bloomberg Terminal
16  World Economic Outlook. (2019, November 14). Retrieved from https://

www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO
17  Barbados: Staff Concluding Statement of the 2019 Article IV and 

Second Review under the Extended Fund Facility. (2019, November 
15). Retrieved February 5, 2020, from https://www.imf.org/en/News/
Articles/2019/11/15/mcs111519barbados-staff-concluding-statement-
of-the-2019-article-iv-and-2-review-under-the-eff 

ratings to B- from Selective Default (SD)18. 

Trinidad and Tobago is expected to experience lower than 

expected energy output and economic growth, which is 

expected to weaken revenue collection and postpone plans 

to balance the fiscal budget by Fiscal year 2020/2119. On this 

basis S&P lowered its long-term and short-term foreign and 

local currency sovereign credit rating of Trinidad and Tobago 

from BBB+ to BBB, with a stable outlook, in July 2019. 

The Statistical Institute of Jamaica reported that real GDP 

advanced 0.6% for the quarter ended September 30, 2019 

compared to the same period in 2018, buoyed in particular 

by services, tourism and manufacturing industries20. Following 

the attainment of a primary surplus in excess of the 7% target 

during Fiscal year 2018/19, the Government of Jamaica 

(“GOJ”) is expected to maintain a primary balance of 6.5% of 

GDP during this fiscal year, as a slightly more accommodative 

fiscal stance is intended to boost      growth. Over the eighteen-

month period ending September 30, 2019, the GOJ placed a 

tender offer and refinanced US$1.2 billion worth of debt. As 

a result, the percentage of Jamaica’s external debt maturing 

after 10 years increased from 36.0% to 46.0%. The country’s 

public debt was reduced to under 100% of its gross domestic 

product for the first time in nearly two decades. The debt to 

GDP ratio as of March 31, 2019 was circa 96% and is expected 

to continue its trend downward. 

The Bank of Jamaica (“BOJ”) reduced the cash reserve 

requirement by three percentage points to 9% in March 2019 

and further to 7% in June 2019, aimed at supporting credit 

expansion at lower interest rates21. To further support this 

goal in an effort to attain the inflation target range of 4.0% to 

6.0%, the BOJ reduced its policy rate (offered on overnight 

placements) by 75bps total over the period ended September 

2019 to 0.50%. The J$ depreciated against the US$, with the 

weighted average selling rate for the US$ as published by 

the BOJ moving from J$125.47 to J$134.14 over the eighteen 

month period ending September 30, 2019 and ended the 

2019 calendar year at J$131.18.The fluctuations in the J$ 

continue to be primarily driven by capital market transactions. 

18  Standard & Poor’s: Americas. (n.d.). Retrieved February 14, 2020, from 
https://www.standardandpoors.com/en_US/web/guest/article/-/view/
type/HTML/id/22367005      

19  Standard & Poor’s: Americas. (n.d.). Retrieved February 5, 2020, from 
https://www.standardandpoors.com/en_US/web/guest/article/-/view/
type/HTML/id/2261465 

20  Statistical Institute of Jamaica.” STATIN, (2019, November 15). Retrieved 
from https://statinja.gov.jm/

21  The Bank of Jamaica. (n.d.). Retrieved February 5, 2020, from http://
www.boj.org.jm/ 
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10. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

STRUCTURE

PIL’s corporate governance structure is led by its experienced 

Board of Directors. Supporting the Board’s work in this area 

is the personnel provided by PML, including its Investment 

Management Committee.  A short description of the key roles 

and functions of each body is set out below:

PIL’s Board of Directors: 

PIL’s Board of Directors has the following responsibilities as it 

relates to the investment management process:

i. The engagement of the Investment Manager and the 

monitoring of its performance.

ii. Overseeing the establishment of appropriate systems and 

internal controls designed to ensure that the investment 

activities and holdings are consistent with the strategies 

of the Company and that the implementation of the 

strategies remains consistent with the portfolio policy 

objectives.

iii. The annual review and approval of the Company’s 

investment policies and procedures.  

iv. The review of the Company’s investment activities and 

holdings at Board meetings.

The Investment Manager:

PML, as the Investment Manager, is responsible for making 

recommendations to PIL’s Board in respect of PIL’s investment 

policies and procedures, which when adopted by PIL’s 

Board constitutes the Company’s Investment Policy.  It also 

has certain investment decision making responsibilities, 

in accordance with the Investment Policy. PML functions 

through its own management team, as well as its Investment 

Management Committee (the “IMC”) which meets monthly 

(or more frequently, when necessary), and is accountable to 

PML’s Board of Directors.

The specific duties of the IMC are to:

I. receive and review data on current market conditions and 

economic outlook in regional and international markets

II. review monthly reports on -

a. investment portfolio strategy, objectives and results

b. summaries of all portfolio positions and their market 

values, including details of all major categories of 

securities held in the portfolio.

c. details of portfolio segmentation, mix, yields, cost 

and market values

d. portfolio duration 

e. cash flow and liquidity

III. disclose any exceptions to the Investment Policy, and 

the plan and timetable within which compliance will be 

achieved.

IV. oversee compliance by PIL and its subsidiaries with the 

risk management policies and procedures approved by 

the Board of PIL and to review the adequacy of the risk 

management framework in relation to the risks faced by 

the Company

The IMC also approves the purchase, sale and exchange 

of securities, investments and loans, within the stipulated 

guidelines and limits set out in the Investment Policy. 

PML’s management team is responsible for:

I. formulating investment portfolio strategy, objectives and 

results in conjunction with the clients;

II. conducting the necessary due diligence on each asset 

category and on individual securities; 

III. purchasing and selling investments within the approved 

portfolio mix and subject to discretionary limits;

IV. valuation and pricing of the portfolios;

V. reviewing the portfolios on an ongoing basis; and 

VI. reporting on the portfolios to the Investment Management 

Committee and PML’s Board of Directors
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11. RISK EXPOSURES & RISK 

MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES

The activities of PIL and its direct and indirect subsidiaries 

are principally related to investments in the real sector 

and the financial services sector, private equity, real estate 

development and trading in financial instruments. These 

activities are diverse and span different cultures and 

geographies therefore exposing PIL, as the ultimate holding 

company, to a variety of risks, including but not limited to, 

credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk (including currency risk, 

interest rate risk and price risk) and operational risk. The aim 

is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk 

and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the 

Company’s financial performance.

PIL’s Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the 

establishment and oversight of the risk management 

strategy ensuring that PIL maintains a comprehensive risk 

management framework applicable to PIL and its subsidiaries 

inclusive of a structure that incorporates regular reviews, 

policies and standards setting and testing of controls.  PIL’s risk 

management framework incorporates relevant policies that 

govern the boundaries within which the strategic objectives 

of the Company are pursued. The policies are designed to 

identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits 

and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits. 

The Company regularly reviews its risk management policies 

and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and 

emerging best practice.

The Board of Directors has established the Audit and 

Compliance Committee as a sub-committee of the Board 

of Directors, which is responsible for ensuring that the risk 

management framework is continuously reviewed and 

strengthened, in addition to assisting the Board in fulfilling 

its oversight responsibilities for:

•	 The integrity of the Company’s financial statements.

•	 The Company’s policies, programs and procedures 

to ensure compliance with the relevant legal and 

regulatory requirements, the Company’s Code of 

Ethics and Conduct, policies, other relevant standards 

and best practice.

•	 The Company’s efforts to comply with legal 

obligations arising from material agreements and 

undertakings.

•	 The qualifications and independence of the 

Company’s external auditors, and

•	 The performance of PIL’s internal audit function and 

its external auditors

The Audit and Compliance Committee meets at least quarterly 

and inquires on the significant risk exposures that might exist, 

and assesses the steps that have been taken to minimize the 

risk exposures of the Company. The Audit and Compliance 

Committee is comprised mostly of those directors identified 

by the Company as independent directors, in keeping with 

JSE requirements, and those directors are identified in Section 

6 of this Prospectus.  

Included in the risk management framework are the functions 

performed by PML’s Investment Management Committee. 

As part of PML’s contractual responsibilities, the Investment 

Management Committee oversees compliance with the risk 

management policies and procedures approved by the Board 

of PIL and reviews the adequacy of the risk management 

framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company.

The major risks affecting the Company and the risk 

management activities deployed are as follows;

Credit Risk - Credit risk is the risk of default by an obligor. 

Credit risk may be disaggregated into three (3) types of risk:

i. Default (Counterparty) risk – the possibility that the 

issuer will fail to meet its payment obligations or other 

contractual covenants.  Technical default may occur 

due to the issuer’s violation of other agreed terms (e.g. 

failure to maintain a certain financial ratio at/above a pre-

determined level).

ii. Credit spread risk – measured by the amount of yield 

differential above the return on a benchmark, default-

free security (e.g. Treasury bills) demanded by investors 

to compensate for buying the riskier security.  The risk is 

that the riskier security might offer a lower than required 

premium.

iii. Downgrade risk – risk that a bond will be reclassified as 

a riskier security by a credit rating agency (e.g. Standard 

& Poor’s). A downgrade in the rating of a security usually 

leads to a fall in its market price.

This risk is managed primarily by reviews of the financial status 

of each obligor. The results of each review  forms a part of the 

reporting package of the IMC and Audit and Compliance 

Committee meetings. Additional credit risk mitigation 

activities deployed by the Company to mitigate credit risk 

exposure include:

•	 ensuring that no credit rating for an asset falls below the 

minimum approved rating. Credit ratings are sourced 
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from international rating agencies such as S&P, Moody’s 

or CariCris, or from internal credit research. 

•	 ensuring that the assets are diversified across various 

issuers (e.g. countries, corporations) subject to limitations 

on the maximum exposure to any one issuer.

liquidity Risk - Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will 

encounter difficulty in meeting obligations arising from its 

financial liabilities. Liquidity risk may result from an inability 

to sell a financial asset quickly at, or close to, its fair value. 

PIL’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as 

possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities 

when due under both normal or stressed conditions. Prudent 

liquidity risk management procedures which are used include 

maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and 

monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis.

The Company’s liquidity management process includes:

•	 monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. 

This incorporates an assessment of expected cash flows 

and the availability of high grade collateral which could 

be used to secure funding if required;

•	 maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse 

assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against 

any unforeseen interruption to cash flows;

•	 optimising cash returns on investments;

•	 monitoring statement of financial position liquidity ratios 

against internal requirements. The most important of 

these is to maintain limits on the ratio of net liquid assets 

to customer liabilities; and

•	 managing the concentration and profile of debt 

maturities. Monitoring and reporting take the form of 

cash flow measurement and projections for the next day, 

week and month, respectively, as these are key periods 

for liquidity management. The starting point for these 

projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of 

the financial liabilities and the expected collection date 

of the financial assets.

Market Risk - Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future 

cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 

changes in market prices, whether caused by factors specific 

to the individual security or its issuer, or factors affecting 

all securities traded in the market. These arise mainly from 

changes in foreign currency rates (“foreign currency risk”), 

interest rates (“interest rate risk”), and equity prices (“equity 

price risk”) and will affect the Company’s income or the value 

of its holdings of financial instruments. Market risk is monitored 

by the Investment Management Committee which carries 

out extensive research and monitors the price movement 

of financial assets on the local and international markets, as 

previously indicated. Market risk exposure is measured using 

sensitivity analysis. 

i. Foreign Currency Risk - Foreign currency risk is the 

risk that the market value of, or the cash flows from, 

financial instruments will vary because of exchange rate 

fluctuations. PIL is exposed to foreign currency risk due 

to fluctuations in exchange rates on transactions and 

balances that are denominated in currencies other than 

its functional currency, the US$. The main currencies 

giving rise to this risk are the J$, the Euro, the Canadian 

dollar, the Australian dollar and the British pound sterling. 

The Company manages this risk by matching foreign 

currency assets with foreign currency liabilities, to the 

extent practicable. The net foreign currency exposure is 

kept at the targeted levels by buying or selling currencies 

at spot rates when necessary to address imbalances.

ii. Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that the value 

of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 

in market interest rates. This risk is managed by PML 

through its continuous update of its outlook for interest 

rate which guides its duration risk and fixed vs floating 

rate positioning. PML engages in stress testing and 

interest rate sensitivity analysis to assess and quantify the 

level of risk exposure under varying market conditions. 

The maturity profile of its financial assets is matched by 

that of its financial liabilities; where gaps are deliberately 

arranged, PML expects that its monitoring will, on a timely 

basis, identify the need to take appropriate action to close 

a gap if it becomes necessary.

Floating rate instruments expose the Company to cash 

flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate instruments 

expose the Company to fair value interest risk.

iii. Equity Price risk - Equity price risk arises from equity 

securities held by the Company as part of its investment 

portfolio. PML monitors the mix of debt and equity 

securities in PIL’s investment portfolio based on market 

expectations. 

Operational risk: Operational Risk is the risk arising from 

execution of an enterprise’s business functions and in 

particular the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed 

internal processes, people and systems, or from external 

events such as:

•	 Internal Fraud - misappropriation of assets, tax evasion, 

intentional mismarking of positions and bribery; 
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•	 External Fraud - theft of information, hacking damage, 

third-party theft and forgery;

•	 Employment Practices and Workplace Safety - 

discrimination, workers compensation, employee health 

and safety;

•	 Clients, Products, & Business Practice - market 

manipulation, antitrust, improper trade, product defects, 

fiduciary breaches, account churning;

•	 Damage to Physical Assets - natural disasters, terrorism, 

vandalism;

•	 Business Disruption & Systems Failures - utility disruptions, 

software failures, hardware failures;

•	 Execution, Delivery, & Process Management - data entry 

errors, accounting errors, failed mandatory reporting, 

negligent loss of client assets.

Operational Risk is managed through a robust internal audit 

structure. The Company has recently undertaken a revamp 

of the internal audit framework to enhance the process 

through the greater involvement of management of each 

operating subsidiary embracing their overall responsibility 

for establishing and maintaining systems of internal controls 

and reviewing the effectiveness of these controls, and PML is 

responsible for reporting on this to the Company. The internal 

auditors perform comprehensive quarterly internal audits of 

the Company’s operations, focusing on the operational areas 

that have been assessed as determined by the Audit and 

Compliance Committee, and report directly to the Audit and 

Compliance Committee. 
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12. OTHER RISK FACTORS 

RELATED TO PIL AND THE 

NEW ORDINARY SHARES

Notwithstanding PIL’s robust risk management framework 

it is faced by several risk factors in the normal course of its 

activities. In view of this, prospective investors in the New 

Ordinary Shares should give careful consideration to the 

information contained in this Prospectus and where necessary 

solicit advice from licensed professional advisors. Potential 

investors should be mindful that the risk factors outlined 

below and elsewhere in this Prospectus is not an exhaustive 

list of all the risks that the Group can become susceptible to, 

therefore due consideration should be given to such inherent 

risk that may arise. 

Regulatory and legal Uncertainties

Changes in approach by regulators of companies in the 

Group in relation to existing regulatory requirements or the 

introduction of new regulations, may affect the operations of 

PIL and/or other members of the Group and affect profitability.  

Non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations could 

lead to substantial monetary and or reputational damage and/

or fines, public reprimands, increased regulatory scrutiny or 

other regulatory restrictions. Further, members of the Group 

who are subject to regulatory oversight may face the potential 

for prosecution in certain circumstances, or, in extreme cases, 

revocation of license to operate.

Taxation Uncertainties

The tax structure resulting from the provisions of the CARICOM 

Double Taxation Treaty which provides one of the advantages 

of investing in PIL to Applicants who are resident in Jamaica 

may be subject to change in the future, a factor over which 

PIL has no control.

Price Volatility

PIL cannot predict the likely trading activity of the New 

Ordinary Shares after they are listed on the JSE, nor the 

likely price movement.  Fluctuations may occur as result of 

the occurrence of any of the factors set out this Section 12 

as well as:

•	 the Company’s reported financial performance

•	 perceptions by investors of the likely future financial 

performance of the Company

•	 economic conditions in the business sectors and 

economies in which the Company holds investments

•	 overall market conditions affecting the equity market 

and the attractiveness of stocks as an investment when 

compared to alternative forms of investments.

issue of Additional Ordinary Shares

The Company may hereafter authorize the issue of additional 

ordinary shares. Such shares, once issued, may rank pari passu 

with the existing ordinary shares.  The issue of additional 

ordinary shares may affect the trading price of the ordinary 

shares.  

The Ordinary Shares have limited voting power

The ordinary shares of the Company, in the aggregate, 

control only a maximum of 50% of the voting rights in PIL, 

as the Manager’s Preference Shares collectively hold 50% of 

the voting rights in PIL on matters other than the Investment 

Manager’s fees (on which each Manager’s Preference Share 

carries one vote). 

Macro-Economic Policies

Changes in fiscal and monetary policies by the Government 

of Jamaica or the government of any state or territory in which 

we have investments may create opportunities as well as 

challenges for PIL or members of the Group. Fluctuations in 

market interest rates may influence the relative attractiveness 

of the dividend yield. The price of the ordinary shares may be 

adversely affected by the annual dividend yield relative to the 

yield on other available financial instruments.

New Accounting Rules or Standards

PIL may become subject to new accounting rules or standards 

that differ from those that are presently applicable. Such new 

accounting rules or standards could require changes in the 

way PIL reports its financial position, operating results or cash 

flows. Such changes could be applied retrospectively. The 

preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS 

requires the use of estimates. It also requires management to 

exercise judgment in applying relevant accounting policies; 

for example, the calculation of expected credit losses and 

significant increases in credit risk for financial assets under 

IFRS 9 or fair value of financial instruments where observable 

market prices are not available. There is a risk that if the 

judgment exercised or the estimates or assumptions used 

subsequently turn out to be incorrect then this could result in 

an adverse impact on the Group’s financial results.

Competitive Environment

Changes in the macro and business environment may lead to 

intensified levels of competition in the jurisdictions in which 

PIL operates, as other market participants look to the private 

equity asset class as a means of enhancing returns. This could 
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lead to an increase in valuation levels, therefore negatively 

impacting the pipeline of viable private equity deals. New 

market entrants and or consolidation in the subsectors in 

which portfolio companies operate may lead to increased 

competitive pressures which could negatively impact market 

share and profitability. To combat competitive pressures PIL 

will need to proactively execute on strategies to grow existing 

businesses while expanding through new acquisitions.

Cross border Operations/ Risks Associated with 

international Conditions

Though incorporated in St Lucia, PIL currently has investment 

assets and subsidiaries in several different countries, therefore 

it is exposed to adverse event risk which may impact its financial 

results and by extension its share price. Additionally, the nature 

of PIL’s investment activities exposes it to developments in the 

international arena as described below:

•	 international political and economic conditions;

•	 changes in Government regulations in various countries;

•	 trade barriers;

•	 adverse tax consequences
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13. LICENSES & REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

PIL does not hold, nor is it required to hold any licenses in Jamaica or in St. Lucia.   PIL is registered as an international business 

company under the International Business Companies Act of St. Lucia and is of good standing within the meaning of section 

116 thereof.  PIL has not established a place of business in Jamaica and accordingly is not required to be registered under the 

Companies Act of Jamaica. 

PROVEN Management Limited (the Investment Manager) is licensed by the Financial Services Commission of Jamaica as a 

securities dealer and investment adviser.

As regards PIL’s subsidiaries, the following information applies:

NAME Of ENTiTy REGUlATORS

PROVEN Wealth limited Financial Services Commission, the Bank of Jamaica

boslil bank limited Financial Services Regulatory Commission of Saint Lucia

international financial 

Planning Group

Cayman Islands Monetary Authority, the British Virgin Islands Financial Services 

Commission and the Bermuda Monetary Authority
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14. LITIGATION

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is currently 

engaged in any material litigation in which they are the 

defendants, nor are they aware of any such pending material 

litigation.

15. CONSENTS

Pursuant to section 374 (1) (a) of the Companies Act, KPMG has 

given and not withdrawn its consent (as set out at Appendix 

5 hereto) to the issue of this Prospectus with the inclusion 

therein of its reports and the references to its name in the 

form and context in which they are included.

16. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents will be available for 

inspection on any Business Day during the hours of 9:00 am to 

4:00 pm, at the offices of PROVEN Wealth Limited, 26 Belmont 

Road, Kingston 5:

(1) the Memorandum and Articles of Association of PIL (as 

amended);

(2) the Investment Management Agreement between PIL 

and PML

(3) the Underwriting Agreement between PIL and Sagicor 

Investments Jamaica Limited

17. STATUTORY & GENERAL 

INFORMATION

PART 1 - The information set out in the following 

paragraphs (1) – (19) is required to be set out pursuant to 

section 373 (1) (b) of the Companies Act: 

1. With reference to paragraph 1(1)(a) of Part 1 of the Third 

Schedule to the Companies Act (the “Third Schedule”), 

the Company has no founders or deferred shares.  

The Company has management shares in the form of 

the Manager’s Preference Shares, as described in this 

Prospectus. Paragraphs 1(1)(b) and (c) of Part 1 of the Third 

Schedule do not apply, this Prospectus being issued more 

than two years after the date on which PIL was entitled to 

and actually commenced business.

2. No minimum amount is required to be raised out of the 

proceeds of the Invitation to provide for any of the matters 

set out in paragraph 2 of Part 1 of the Third Schedule.

3. The application lists will open at 9:00 a.m. on the Opening 

Date and will close at 4:00 pm on the Closing Date. The 

Company reserves – (i) the right to close any application 

list at any time without notice if Applications have been 

received for the full amount of the respective New 

Ordinary Shares available for subscription, and – (ii) the 

right(s) to extend such closing beyond the date(s) above-

mentioned and/or increase the number of New Ordinary 

Shares available for subscription in the Invitation, subject 

to the maximum number of New Ordinary Shares made 

available for subscription in the Invitation not exceeding 

267,857,143 New Ordinary Shares. All Applicants will be 

required to pay in full, on Application, the Subscription 

Price per New Ordinary Share, and no further sum will be 

payable on Allotment. 

4. The Company has not offered any shares for subscription 

within the two preceding years of the date of this 

Prospectus.

5. No person has, or is entitled to be given, any option 

to subscribe for any shares in, or debentures of, the 

Company.

6. The aggregate amounts respectively of the Company’s 

trade investments, quoted investments other than trade 

investments and unquoted investments other than 

trade investments as at December 31, 2019 are set out 

in Section 8 hereof.

7. The amount for goodwill, patent, or trademarks shown in 

the financial statements or ascertainable from the books 

of the Company is as set out in the table below:
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8. Regarding paragraph 5(1)(c) of Part 1 of the Third Schedule, 

the aggregate amount of bank loans, overdrafts and other 

liabilities owing by the Company as of December 31, 2019 

was US$559.17 million, of which bank loans and overdrafts 

constituted US$319,834

9. Apart from such amounts already recommended for 

distribution by way of dividend and paid or to be paid 

accordingly within the current financial year ending March 

31, 2020, no further amount is recommended by the 

Directors for distribution by way of dividend as at the date 

of issue of this Prospectus, and accordingly paragraph 5(1)

(d) of Part I of the Third Schedule does not apply.

10. As respects paragraphs 7 and 8 of the Third Schedule, 

as at the date of issue of this Prospectus, there is no 

identifiable property which has been or is proposed to 

be purchased or acquired by the Company which is to 

be paid for wholly or partly out of the proceeds of this 

Invitation, or the purchase or acquisition of which has not 

been completed at the date of the issue of this Prospectus, 

and accordingly, there is no ‘property’ to which paragraph 

7 or paragraph 8 of Part 1 of the Third Schedule applies.

11. For the reason stated in paragraph (10) above, paragraph 

9 of Part 1 of the Third Schedule does not apply.

12. Regarding paragraph 10(1)(a) of Part 1 of the Third 

Schedule, within the two preceding years, no commission 

has been paid, nor will any be payable by the Company 

to anyone for subscribing or agreeing to subscribe or 

procuring or agreeing to procure subscriptions for any 

shares or debentures of the Company.

13. Paragraph 10(1)(b) of Part 1 of the Third Schedule does 

not apply, the Company having commenced business 

more than two years before the issue of this Prospectus. 

The total expenses of the Invitation will be borne by the 

Company and those expenses are estimated to be an 

amount not exceeding 3% of the amount sought to be 

raised by the Company.

14. As respects paragraph 10(1)(c) of Part 1 of the Third 

Schedule, within the last two years preceding the date 

of this Prospectus no amount or benefit has been paid or 

given or is intended to be paid or given to any promoter.

15. As respects paragraph 11 of Part 1 of the Third 

Schedule, in the two preceding years before the issue 

of the Prospectus, the only material contracts which the 

Company has entered into are those entered into in the 

ordinary course of the Company’s business, or those 

which were entered into more than two years before the 

date of issue of this Prospectus.

16. As respects paragraph 12 of Part 1 of the Third Schedule, 

the name and address of the auditors of the Company are 

KPMG of 204 Johnsons Centre, #2 Bella Rosa Rd, Gros 

Islet, St. Lucia, W.I.

17. This Prospectus is issued more than two years after the 

date on which the Company was entitled to commence 

and actually commenced business; accordingly, 

paragraph 13 of Part 1 of the Third Schedule does not 

apply.

18. As regards paragraph 14 of Part 1 of the Third Schedule, 

the issued share capital of the Company consists of 

three classes of shares, namely (i) ordinary shares (ii) 

the Manager’s Preference Shares and (iii) cumulative 

redeemable preference shares. The voting rights and 

the rights in respect of capital and dividends attached to 

each class of shares are as set out in Appendix 1.

19. Paragraph 15 of Part 1 of the Third Schedule does not 

apply, the Company having been incorporated on 

December 16, 2009 and having carried on business since 

that date. 

PART 2 - The additional information set out in the 

following paragraphs (1) and (2) is required to be set out 

pursuant to section 373 (1 (a) of the Companies Act, which 

requires the inclusion of particulars with respect to the 

following matters: 

1. the date on which and the country in which the company 

was incorporated:

The Company was incorporated in St. Lucia on December 

16, 2009.

2. whether the company has established a place of business 

in the Island, and, if so, the address of its office in the 

Island:

The Company has not established a place of business in 

Jamaica.
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18. APPLICATION PROCEDURES 

AND CONDITIONS OF INVITATION

1. You may apply for the New Ordinary Shares in the 

Invitation by using (i) the relevant Application Form 

included with this Prospectus, which is available for 

download on our website at www.weareproven.com and 

the JSE’s website at www.jamstockex.com or (ii) by way 

of IPOPRO, the Lead Broker’s online application portal, 

which can be accessed by logging on to www.ipopro.com 

or (iii) any other approved online application portal used 

by an appointed Selling Agent for the Invitation.

2. Each Application for the New Ordinary Shares must 

be for a minimum of 1,000 New Ordinary Shares, and 

Applications above this amount shall be in multiples of 

100 New Ordinary Shares. 

3. If you apply via IPOPRO, you should follow the instructions 

set out in Appendix 2. If you utilize a Selling Agent’s 

approved portal, you should comply with the instructions 

provided by such Selling Agent. If you choose to apply 

using a paper Application Form, your duly completed and 

signed Application Form TOGETHER WITH the following 

supporting documents should be delivered to the 

locations specified at Appendix 6 of this Prospectus on 

or before 4:00 pm on the Closing Date.  Your Application 

will be deemed incomplete if the applicable supporting 

documents are not included. 

Supporting Documents

1. Copy of valid identification (Driver’s Licence, 

Passport or National ID) for all individual Applicants

2. Copy Tax Registration Number card for all 

Applicants resident in Jamaica (NB: if the 

document tendered at Item 1 is the Jamaican 

driver’s licence, this will not be required). 

3. Payment or proof of payment using an Approved 

Payment Method (where applicable)

4. Each Application must be accompanied by payment 

or evidence of payment using an Approved Payment 

Method. The Approved Payment Methods shall be any 

one of the following:

(i) Manager’s cheques payable to your Stockbroker for 

amounts less than J$1 Million per cheque* where the 

Applicant is subscribing in J$

(ii) US$ bank draft, drawn on a Jamaican bank and 

negotiable in Jamaica and made payable to your 

Stockbroker.

(iii) Cleared funds in the currency in which the Subscription 

Price is being paid held in an investment account in 

the Applicant’s name at the Lead Broker supported 

by an authorisation from the Applicant (in such form 

as determined by the Lead Broker) instructing the 

Lead Broker to transfer the payment to the applicable 

Lead Broker’s account (i.e., whether J$ or US$), the 

details of which are set out below.

(iv) Transfer of funds in the currency in which the 

Subscription Price is being paid from Applicant’s 

account held with their Stockbroker to the applicable 

Lead Broker’s account (i.e., whether J$ or US$).

(v) Transfer in the Real Time Gross Settlement (RTGS) 

or Automated Clearing House (ACH) system to your 

Stockbrokers account as indicated in this Prospectus, 

where the Applicant is subscribing in J$.

(vi) Wire transfer to your Stockbroker’s US$ account as 

indicated in this Prospectus, where the Applicant is 

subscribing in US$.

* a penalty of J$5,000.00 is imposed by bankers in Jamaica 

in respect of cheques (including manager’s cheques) 

tendered for payment in an amount greater than or equal 

to J$1,000,000.00

All clients transferring funds via Wire &/Or RTGS to PWL, 

should ONLY use these accounts:

US dollars (USd) Transfers:

Bank Citibank NY

Address 111 Wall Street

New York, NY 10043

ABA 021000089

For credit to PROVEN Wealth Limited

Account Number 36256315

Jamaican dollars (JMd) Transfers

Bank Citibank N.A

Swift CITIJMK1

For credit to PROVEN Wealth Limited

Account Number 0022374079
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5. The Company reserves the right to: 

(i) close the application list at any time without prior 

notice if Applications have been received prior to the 

Closing Date for the full amount of the New Ordinary 

Shares made available for subscription or 

(ii) extend such closing beyond the above-mentioned 

date. 

In either case, the Company will provide notice as 

soon as reasonably practicable via a press release in 

Jamaica and by posting a notice on the website of the 

Jamaica Stock Exchange at www.jamstockex.com and 

at the Company’s website at www.weareproven.com. In 

addition, the Company may elect in its sole discretion to 

reduce the number of New Ordinary Shares available for 

subscription in which case the Company will issue a press 

release and post a notice on the website of the Jamaica 

Stock Exchange as soon as reasonably practicable upon 

such decision being made.

6. The Board in their sole discretion may accept (in whole 

or in part) or reject in whole or in part any Application to 

subscribe for New Ordinary Shares even if the Application 

is received, validated and processed. Accordingly, the 

number of New Ordinary Shares allocated to you may 

be reduced.

7. Neither the submission of an Application by an Applicant 

nor its receipt by the Company will result in a binding 

contract between the Applicant and the Company. Only 

the allotment of New Ordinary Shares by the Registrar 

on behalf of the Company to an Applicant (whether 

such New Ordinary Shares represent all or part of those 

specified by the Applicant in their Application) will result 

in a binding contract under which the Applicant will be 

deemed to have agreed to subscribe for the number of 

allotted New Ordinary Shares at the Subscription Price, 

subject to PIL’s Articles of Association and the terms and 

conditions set out in this Prospectus.

8. Early Applications will be received, but not processed 

until the Opening Date.  All early Applications will be 

treated as having been received at the same time, being 

9:00 a.m. on the Opening Date. New Ordinary Shares will 

be allocated after close of the application list when all the 

valid Applications are received.

9. If the Invitation is oversubscribed, the Company may, 

in consultation with the Underwriter, take any or a 

combination of the following actions:

(i) Elect at any time prior to the closing of the Invitation 

or on the Closing Date, to upsize the Invitation by 

making up to 89,285,714 further New Ordinary Shares 

available for subscription by Applicants, bringing the 

maximum size of the Invitation to 267,857,143 New 

Ordinary Shares. The decision to upsize shall be in 

the sole discretion of the Company after consultation 

with the Underwriter, and the Company does not 

represent or warrant that it will exercise the option 

to upsize. In the event that the Company exercises 

its discretion under this paragraph 9, it shall make 

reference thereto in any announcement it issues for 

the purposes of the closing of the Invitation and the 

publication of the basis of allotment following the 

Closing Date (or earlier);

(ii) notwithstanding that the intention of the Company is 

to allot the New Ordinary Shares on a first come, first 

served basis, if the Invitation is oversubscribed, the 

Company reserves the right to allot the New Ordinary 

Shares to Applicants on a basis to be determined by 

it in its sole discretion, including on a pro rata basis. 

In this case Applicants may be allotted fewer New 

Ordinary Shares than they applied for.

10. Multiple Applications by the same Applicant shall 

be treated as a single Application for the purpose of 

Allocation/Allotment. For this purpose, Applicants will 

be regarded as being the same where it is either the 

same individual or corporate Applicant or, in the case 

of joint Applicants, the joint holders identified for each 

Application are the same.

11. Amounts refundable to Applicants whose Applications 

are not accepted in whole or in part will be refunded 

based on the instructions given in their Application.  

Refunds will be initiated via electronic transfer at the 

risk of the Applicant within ten clear (10) days after the 

Closing Date. As refunds to Applicants will only be made 

electronically, the required details of the Designated 

Account to facilitate refund payments by that method 

must be provided on the Application. The Company does 

not accept the risk of loss in respect of delays in effecting 

refunds, provided it has initiated the refund using the 

instructions provided by the Applicant. 
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12. In respect of each Application which is accepted in whole or in part by the Company, Ordinary Shares will be issued and 

allotted in the name of that Applicant (or in the joint names of joint Applicants. Each letter of allotment will be mailed through 

the post at the Applicant’s risk to the address of the Applicant (or of the primary Applicant) stated in the Application, or at 

the Company’s option, emailed to your email address as set out in the Application.  Letters of allotment are not transferable 

or assignable. The Company will dispatch the letters of allotment within ten clear (10) days after the Closing Date.  No share 

certificates will be issued, unless specifically requested through your broker.

13. Upon the issue of the New Ordinary Shares, it is the intention of the Company to have the issued New Ordinary Shares 

listed on the Main Market and the USD Market of the JSE.   To this end, the Company intends to apply promptly after the 

close of the Invitation for admission of the New Ordinary Shares to enable them to be listed in the same manner as the 

Company’s Existing Ordinary Shares are currently listed as a supplemental listing. This statement is not to be construed 

as a guarantee that the New Ordinary Shares will be listed.

14. This Invitation shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with the laws of Jamaica.
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ChAiRMAN

Hon. Hugh Hart, O.J.

diRECTOR

Garfield Sinclair

diRECTOR

Rhory McNamara: 

The undersigned, being the Chairman and two other directors of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to section 

372 (3) of the Companies Act 2004 of Jamaica, that this Prospectus was approved for issue on the date hereof by a 

resolution of the board of directors of PROVEN investments limited.

Dated as of the 28th day of February 2020

Signed on behalf of PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED by:
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APPENDIX 1

RiGhTS, TERMS ANd CONdiTiONS Of ThE ClASSES Of ShARES iN ThE COMPANy

1. Clause 7 of PIL’s Amended and Restated Memorandum of Association is set out below in its entirety. Sub-paragraphs (a) 

to (l) of Clause 7 (2) contain the rights, terms and conditions applicable to the Manager’s Preference Shares:

“7. The authorized capital shall be made up of three classes of shares:

(1) 2,999,990,000 Ordinary Shares of a par value of US$0.01 each; and

(2) 10,000 Manager’s Preference Shares of a par value of US$0.01 each, which shall the following rights, terms and 

conditions:

(a) the Manager’s Preference Shares shall rank pari passu as between and among themselves;

(b) each Manager’s Preference Share [sic] be entitled to a cumulative annual preference dividend in the sum which 

is equal to – (i) 25% of the profits and gains of the Company (calculated in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards prevailing from time to time, and expressed in US Dollars) in each financial year in excess of 

the Annual Earnings Hurdle (expressed in US Dollars) for such financial year, divided by (ii) the number of Manager’s 

Preference Shares in issue when the said cumulative annual preference dividend is paid; and for this purpose the 

Annual Earnings Hurdle shall be the amount which results when the Hurdle Rate is applied to the average equity 

of the Company during such financial year;

(c) For the purposes of paragraph (b) of sub-clause 7(2), the Hurdle Rate will be determined and reset annually, and 

the Hurdle Rate applicable to a particular financial year of the Company shall be fixed as at the first day of that 

financial year and shall be the rate which is 2% per annum above the 12-month LIBOR rate prevailing on that day, 

provided however that – (i) the Hurdle Rate shall be capped at and shall in no event exceed 6%, and (ii) during the 

first two (2) financial years of the Company the Hurdle Rate shall not be less than 5%;

(d) during each financial year of the Company, an amount being equal to the Investment Manager’s best estimate of 

one-fourth (1/4) of the current financial year’s cumulative annual preference dividend (calculated by reference to 

the Company’s management accounts for each financial quarter and financial year-to-date and the Investment 

Manager’s good faith projections of the Company’s earnings for the remainder of such financial year) shall be paid 

each financial quarter in arrears to the holders of the Manager’s Preference Shares (on account of the cumulative 

annual preference dividend for that financial year), and any adjustment which may be required based on the 

Company’s annual audited financial statements shall be added or recovered (as the case may require) in equal 

instalments over the next four successive quarterly payments arising after the Company’s annual audited financial 

statements are finalised;

(e) paragraph (b) and/or (c) of sub-clause 7(2) may be varied by an ordinary resolution of members which is supported 

by the affirmative vote of the holder(s) of a majority of the Manager’s Preference Shares, but shall not otherwise be 

varied without the approval in writing of the holder(s) of a majority of the Manager’s Preference Shares;

(f) in the event that the cumulative annual preference dividend is not paid in full in respect of any particular financial 

year of the Company, the unpaid portion thereof shall accumulate and be payable out of the profits and gains of 

the Company in next ensuing financial years until it has been paid in full;

(g) the Manager’s Preference Shares shall, apart from the right to the cumulative annual preference dividend, have no 

economic rights or entitlements save for the right on a winding up to the repayment of the capital paid thereon 

on a pari passu basis with the capital paid on the Ordinary Shares;

(h) the holder(s) of the Manager’s Preference Shares shall have the right to receive notices of, attend, vote at and 

demand a poll at general meetings of the Company;

(i) with the intent that on all resolutions and decisions in general meeting (other than those referred to in paragraph (j) 

of sub-clause 7(2)) the Manager’s Preference Shares shall as a class be entitled to not less than the number of votes 
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to which the Ordinary Shares as a class are entitled, each one of the Manager’s Preference Share shall be entitled 

to the number of votes which results when – (i) the total number of votes comprised by all the Ordinary Shares then 

in issue, is divided by (ii) the total number of Manager’s Preference Shares then in issue, and any fraction of a vote 

that would otherwise be applicable to each Manager’s Preference Share shall be rounded up to one additional vote 

(so that, by way of an hypothetical example only, if there are 30,000,000 Ordinary Shares and 10,000 Manager’s 

Preference Shares in issue, each one of the Manager’s Preference Shares shall be entitled to 3,000 votes);

(j) on any resolution which, if passed, will result in any variation of either or both of paragraphs (b) and (c) of sub-clause 

7(2), each Manager’s Preference Share shall be entitled to one vote;

(k) in the event that an entity which is (or becomes) the Investment Manager subsequently ceases to be the Investment 

Manager in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association, each one of the 

Manager’s Preference Shares held by that entity (or by a direct or indirect subsidiary of that entity, or by a corporation 

having the same direct or indirect shareholders as that entity) shall thereupon automatically convert into a fully paid 

Ordinary Share in the Company (so that, by way of an hypothetical example, if such entity holds 10,000 Manager’s 

Preference Shares, those Manager’s Preference Shares will automatically convert into 10,000 fully paid Ordinary 

Shares upon the entity ceasing to be the Investment Manager as aforesaid); and

(l) in sub-clause 7(2), the “12-month LIBOR rate” means the rate for 12-month US Dollar inter-bank deposits published 

by the British Bankers’ Association (as to which the Investment Manager’s determination thereof shall, in the absence 

of manifest error, be final and binding on the Company).”

(3) 1,000,000 Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares having a par value of US$0.01 per share.

(a) All designations, powers, preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations and restrictions whether in regard to 

dividend, voting, return of capital or otherwise shall be fixed by the Directors of the Company pursuant to Regulation 

5 of the Company’s Articles of Association, provided that no such shares shall be issued without the written consent 

of the Investment Manager being fist [sic] had and obtained in accordance with Regulation 126 of the Company’s 

Articles of Association.

(b) All Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares may, if the Directors so decide, be converted to Cumulative 

Redeemable Preference Stock Units upon issue.

2. All Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares previously issued by the Company have since been redeemed, and 

accordingly, none of this class of shares is in existence as at the date of this Prospectus.  If the Company elects to issue 

additional Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares in the future, the rights, terms and conditions of issue of such shares 

will be as determined by the Board of Directors in exercise of their rights under the Articles of Association of the Company, 

subject only to the written consent of the Investment Manager being first had and obtained pursuant to Regulation 126 of 

the Articles of Association of the Company, which provides that:

“Other than the 10,000 Manager’s Preference Shares issued to the Investment Manager, the Company shall not issue 

any other Manager’s Preference Shares, or any class of shares other than Ordinary Shares, or any securities which are 

convertible into shares, or any securities (other than Ordinary Shares) which carry voting rights, without the Investment 

Manager’s prior written consent thereto.”

3. As regards the Ordinary Shares, the following rights, terms and conditions apply:

(a) As to voting: The holders of the Ordinary Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of and to attend all general 

meetings of the Company. On a show of hands every member present in person shall have one vote, and on a poll 

every member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for each share of which he is a holder.

(b) As to capital: In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the Ordinary Shareholders 

shall be entitled to share equally and ratably in the Company’s assets, if any, remaining after the payment of all of the 

Company’s debts and liabilities, subject to any liquidation preference on any issued and outstanding preference shares 

at the time of such liquidation, dissolution or winding up.
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(c) As to dividend:   The holders of the Ordinary Shares shall be entitled, as such, to receive dividends and the Company 

shall pay dividends thereon, as and when recommended by the Directors of the Company in their absolute discretion 

and in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, in such amount and in such form as the Directors 

may from time to time recommend.
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APPENDIX 2

APPliCATiON fORM & iPOPRO iNSTRUCTiONS

PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED (PIL)

ADDITIONAL PUBLIC OFFER OF ORDINARY SHARES

APPLICATION FORM

PlEASE REAd CAREfUlly bEfORE COMPlETiNG ThiS fORM

To: PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Re: Invitation for Subscription of up to 178,571,429 New Ordinary Shares, provided that the number of New Ordinary Shares 

available for subscription in the Invitation may be increased by a maximum of 89,285,714 New Ordinary Shares, for a total 

maximum of 267,857,143 New Ordinary Shares.

I/We confirm that I/we have read and understood and hereby agree to be bound by the terms and conditions contained in 

the Prospectus, all of which are incorporated into this Application Form by reference. Capitalized words and expressions used 

herein shall bear the same meanings as are ascribed thereto in the Prospectus.

I/We hereby apply for __________________________ Ordinary Shares in the PIL APO at a price of US$0.28/J$38.64 per 

Ordinary Share.

I/We have remitted payment for the sum of J$/US$_______________________________________________ for my/our 

subscription and the JCSD processing fee of J$163.10 (inclusive of GCT).

I/We agree to accept the above or any smaller number of New Ordinary Shares in respect of which this Application may be 

accepted, subject to the terms and conditions in the Prospectus and the Memorandum and Articles of Association of PROVEN 

Investments Limited, by which I/we agree to be bound. I/We request you to issue to me/us the number of New Ordinary Shares 

which may be allocated to me/us at the close of the Offer upon the terms and conditions governing Applications, as set forth in 

the Prospectus. I/We hereby irrevocably agree to accept the New Ordinary Shares that may be allocated and issued to me/us.

PRiMARy hOldER (Either Company or individual)

Name: __________________________________________________           ___________________________           _________
   Surname/Company Name                     First Name                 Middle Initial

Address: _______________________________________________________________   Town/District: ___________________

Postal/Zip Code: _________________________ Parish/ City: ____________________________ Country:__________________

Mailing address (if different):________________________________________________________________________________

E-mail Address: ________________________________Occupation: ___________________Phone#:______________________

Nationality: ___________________________    Date of Birth (DDMMYYYY) ___ /___/______ TRN #: ____________________

Signature:

Companies:  ___________________________________  ________________________________________
    Director       Director/Secretary

Individual:  ___________________________________  ________________________________________
    Applicant      Date signatures affixed
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FIRST JOINT HOLDER: _________________________________          ____________________________          ___________
     Surname       First Name           Middle Initial

Occupation: ______________________   TRN#: ______________________Signature:______________________________

SECOND JOINT HOLDER: _________________________________          ____________________________          ___________
     Surname       First Name           Middle Initial

Occupation: ______________________   TRN#: ______________________Signature:______________________________

THIRD JOINT HOLDER: _________________________________          ____________________________          ___________
     Surname       First Name           Middle Initial

Occupation: ______________________   TRN#: ______________________Signature:______________________________

FOURTH JOINT HOLDER: _________________________________          ____________________________          ___________
     Surname       First Name           Middle Initial

Occupation: ______________________   TRN#: ______________________Signature:______________________________

PAyMENT iNfORMATiON

SUBSCRIPTION PAYMENT

 � I have submitted my application via IPO PRO and 

remitted payment to PROVEN Wealth Limited.   

 � J$ Manager’s cheque made payable to my Stockbroker. 

 � Debit my/our Account ________________________ 

held with my Stockbroker. 

 � US$ bank draft, drawn on a Jamaican 

bank and negotiable in Jamaica and 

made payable to my Stockbroker.

 � Transfer via RTGS/ACH to my Stockbroker’s account 

as indicated in this Prospectus (J$ subscriptions only)

 � Cleared funds in my/our account at 

PROVEN Wealth Limited.

 � Wire transfer to my Stockbroker’s US$ account as 

indicated in this Prospectus(US$ subscriptions only).

NON-PROVEN clients submitting paper application 

forms, please contact your stockbroker for banking 

information/payments details. 

Applicants submitting paper or electronic applications 

through any selling agent, or stockbroker must pay such 

selling agent or stockbroker who will submit their Application 

and make payment to PROVEN Wealth on the Applicants 

behalf. 

All applicants using PWL’s online platform, IPO PRO, please 

see the section “IPO PRO Instructions” on the following page, 

on how to to apply by logging onto ipopro.com.  

Please note that PROVEN does not accept any responsibility 

for failure by any selling agent, or stockbroker to submit 

Application Forms on a timely basis

PROVEN Wealth clients who wish to make payments via 

RTGS or ACH, please see banking information below: 

PROVEN Wealth clients or those applying via ipopro.com, 

transferring funds via Wire &/Or RTGS to PWL, should ONLY 

use these accounts:

US dollars (USd) Transfers:

Bank Citibank NY

Address 111 Wall Street

New York, NY 10043

ABA 021000089

For credit to PROVEN Wealth Limited

Account Number 36256315

Jamaican dollars (JMd) Transfers

Bank Citibank N.A

Swift CITIJMK1

For credit to PROVEN Wealth Limited

Account Number 0022374079
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IPOPRO INSTRUCTIONS

IPOPRO is an advanced and sophisticated digital online platform that 

allows Applicants to submit Applications within minutes.

STEPS TO USE iPOPRO

SIGNUP

1. Visit web address ipopro.com (no www. needed)

2. Create an account by selecting the signup link

3. Enter your details (name, email and create password)

4. Agree to the terms of service (Ensure that you read)

5. Hit the ‘sign me up’ button and you are done.

SUBMITTING AN APPLICATION IN THIS INVITATION (APO)

1. Go to the IPO link in the main navigation 

2. Select or search for this Invitation

3. Select this Invitation; this will take you to the Offer details page

4. Select the ‘apply’ button.

5. You will be taken to the application wizard

(a) Enter your personal details and select your broker.

(b) Add your joint holders (if applicable). 

(c) Select one of the following Approved Payment Methods

(i) Wire transfer

(ii) Manager’s Cheque

(iii) PWL A/C

(d) Enter banking details for refund/dividend payments

(e) Upload required documents 

(f) Add your signature by:

(i) Downloading the PROVEN Wealth app, and going to the IPOPRO tab and signing digitally, or 

(ii) Downloading your application in PDF form , signing manually and uploading signed form.

Please note that all joint holders (except minors) must have a signature 

affixed to the form regardless of the method selected.

(g) The final step is to review your application details, and click ‘submit’

6. Your application status may be viewed at any time under the ‘My applications’ tab in your account.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

To the Members of 

PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
Opinion 

 

We have audited the separate financial statements of Proven Investments 

Limited (“the Company”) and the consolidated financial statements of the 

Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), set out on pages 11 to 100, which 

comprise the Group’s and Company’s statements of financial position as at 

March 31, 2019, the Group’s and Company’s statements of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then 

ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all 

material respects, the financial position of the Group and the Company as at 

March 31, 2019, and the Group’s and Company’s financial performance and the 

Group’s and Company’s cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 

(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 

report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International 

Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Saint Lucia, and we have 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements 

and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 

To the Members of  

PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 

Key Audit Matters 
 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of 

most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period.  

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 

provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 

1. Acquisition of International Financial Planning Limited and Embassy Loans 

Inc. 

 

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our 

audit 

 

Accounting for the acquisitions of 

International Financial Planning 

Limited and Embassy Loans Inc. 

as business combinations 

required significant judgement 

and estimation to determine the 

fair value of the net assets 

acquired and the goodwill arising 

on each acquisition, in accordance 

with IFRS 3 Business 

Combinations.  The determination 

of fair values involved judgment in 

the application of fair value 

analysis, including the projected 

cash flows, discount rates 

reflecting the business risks and 

capital structure.  These 

measurements, being subject to 

significant judgement, are 

therefore, subject to higher risk of 

error. 

 

See notes 13(a) and 13(b) of the 

financial statements. 
 

 

In performing our audit in respect of 

this matter, we did the following: 

 

 Involved our own valuation 

specialists in challenging the 

valuation methodologies and 

assumptions used by 

management’s valuation experts 

to identify and measure the net 

assets, including intangible assets. 
 

We considered historical customer 

retention rates and growth trends, 

and reconciled underlying data to 

customer contracts and 

relationship databases. 
 

 Tested the mathematical accuracy 

of the calculations including cash 

flow projections performed by 

management and management’s 

expert and which formed the basis 

of accounting measurement for 

the transactions. 
 

 Evaluated the adequacy of 

disclosures in respect of the 

acquisitions and the assumptions 

involved in the measurement of 

net assets, acquired in the 

transactions. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 

To the Members of  

PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 

Key Audit Matters (Continued) 
 

2. Measurement of Expected Credit Losses 

 

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our 

audit 
 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, 

was implemented by the Group 

effective April 1, 2018.  The 

standard is new and complex and 

requires the Group to recognise 

expected credit losses (‘ECL’) on 

financial assets measured at 

amortised cost and fair value 

through other comprehensive 

income. The determination of ECL 

is highly subjective and requires 

management to make significant 

judgements and estimates, 

including the identification of 

significant increase in credit risk 

(‘SICR’) and the application of 

forward-looking information. 
 

 The identification of 

significant increases in credit 

risk is a key area of 

judgement as the criteria 

determine whether a 12 

month or lifetime allowance is 

recorded. 
 

 IFRS 9 requires the Group to 

incorporate forward-looking 

information, reflecting a range 

of possible future economic 

conditions, in measuring 

expected credit losses. 

Significant management 

judgement is used in 

determining the economic 

scenarios and management 

overlay. 

 

 

We performed the following 

procedures: 
 

 Obtained an understanding of the 

models used by management for 

the calculation of expected credit 

losses on investments and loans. 
 

 Tested the completeness and 

accuracy of the data used in the 

models to the underlying 

accounting records on a sample 

basis. 
 

 Involved our financial risk 

modelling specialists to evaluate 

the appropriateness of the 

Group’s impairment 

methodologies, including the 

criteria used for significant 

increases in credit risk and 

independently assessed the 

assumptions for probabilities of 

default, losses given default and 

exposures at default. 
 

 Involved our financial risk 

modelling specialists to evaluate 

the appropriateness of the 

Group’s methodology for 

determining management overlay. 
 

 Assessed the adequacy of the 

disclosures of the key 

assumptions and judgements as 

well as the details of the transition 

adjustment for compliance with 

IFRS 9. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 

To the Members of  

PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 

Key Audit Matters (Continued) 

 

2. Measurement of Expected Credit Losses (continued) 

 

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our 

audit 

 

We therefore determined that the 

estimates of impairment in 

respect of investments and loans 

have a high degree of estimation 

uncertainty. 
 

In addition, disclosures regarding 

the Group’s application of IFRS 9 

are key to understanding the 

change from IAS 39 as well as 

explaining the key judgements 

and material inputs to the IFRS 9 

ECL results.  

 

See notes 3, 4(j) and 36(b) of the 

financial statements. 

 

 

3. Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 
 

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our 

audit 
 

The carrying value of the Group's 

goodwill and intangible assets 

may not be recoverable due to 

changes in the business and 

economic environment in which 

the relevant subsidiaries operate.  

These factors create inherent 

uncertainty in forecasting and 

require significant judgement in 

estimating and discounting future 

cash flows that support the 

assessment of recoverability.  

 

See note 12 of the financial 

statements. 

 

Our audit procedures included testing 

the reasonableness of the Group's 

forecasts and discounted cash flow 

calculations, including:  
 

 Using our own enterprise 

valuation specialists to evaluate 

the assumptions and 

methodologies used by 

management and test the 

mathematical accuracy of the 

computations.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 

To the Members of  

PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 

Key Audit Matters (Continued) 

 

3. Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets (continued) 

 

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our 

audit 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Comparing the Group's 

assumptions to externally derived 

data as well as our own 

assessments of key inputs, such 

as projected economic growth, 

competition, cost inflation and 

discount rates, as well as 

performing sensitivity analysis on 

the assumptions. 
 

 Comparing the sum of the 

discounted cash flows to the 

subsidiaries’ market capitalisation, 

where applicable, to assess the 

reasonableness of those cash 

flows. 
 

 Assessing the adequacy of the 

Group's disclosures about the key 

assumptions and the sensitivity of 

the impairment assessment to 

changes in key assumptions. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 

To the Members of  

PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 

Key Audit Matters (Continued) 

 

4. Valuation of investment securities and derivatives 

 

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in 

our audit 

 

The valuation of the Group’s 

investment securities, including 

derivatives, requires significant 

estimation, which is impacted 

by uncertainty of market 

factors, pricing assumptions 

and general business and 

economic conditions.  This is 

particularly relevant for 

structured notes, which do not 

have readily comparable 

instruments for pricing 

purposes. 

 

See notes 6 and 37 of the 

financial statements. 

 

In performing our audit in respect of 

this matter, we did the following: 

 

 Involved our own valuation 

specialists in challenging the 

valuation methodologies and 

assumptions used by 

management to determine the fair 

value of investment securities and 

derivatives.  This included 

independent computations and 

comparison of the fair value of 

structured notes and derivatives. 
 

 Reviewed management’s 

assessment and considered 

whether impairment is 

appropriately considered and 

reflected in the measurement of 

investments and presented in 

profit or loss. 

 

 Assessed the adequacy of the 

Group's disclosures about fair 

value measurements and the 

sensitivity of the fair values to 

changes in key assumptions. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 

To the Members of  

PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 

 

Other Information 

 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information 

comprises the information included in the annual report but does not include 

the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.  The annual report is 

expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report. 

 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information 

and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to 

read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 

the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.  

 

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material 

misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those 

charged with governance. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 

Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as 

management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 

the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 

matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to 

cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s 

financial reporting process. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 

To the Members of  

PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 

 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 

are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 

be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 

these financial statements. 

 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial 

statements is included in the Appendix to this auditors’ report. This 

description, which is located at pages 9-10, forms part of our auditors’ 

report. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ 

report is Lisa Brathwaite. 

 

 
 

Chartered Accountants 

Castries 

Saint Lucia  

 

June 6, 2019 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 

To the Members of  

PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 
Appendix to the Independent Auditors’ Report 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment 

and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 

procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s 

internal control. 

 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 

management. 

 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern 

basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 

material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 

we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 

attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 

Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 

represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 

fair presentation. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 

To the Members of  

PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 
Appendix to the Independent Auditors’ Report (continued) 

 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 

information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express 

an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.  We are responsible for 

the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.  We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 

including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 

our audit. 

 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have 

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and 

communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 

be thought to bear on our independence and where applicable, related 

safeguards. 

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we 

determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 

financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters.  We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 

rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 

our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Statements of Financial Position 
As of March 31, 2019  
(Presented in United States dollars, except as otherwise stated) 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

  Group   Company  
  Notes 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $'000 $'000 $’000 $’000 
ASSETS 
 Cash and cash equivalents 4(c)(ii) 69,108 89,363 2,036 261 
 Resale agreements 5 10,056 24,373 600 5,500 
 Investment securities 6 336,740 369,085 62,570 117,487 
 Loans receivable 7 53,924 43,903 18,577 25,030 
 Other assets 8 9,307 10,350 1,163 2,326 
 Property development in progress 9 10,597       -             -             -       
 Owed by subsidiaries 16       -             -       1,940 47 
 Income tax recoverable   66 51 66 51 
 Guarantees and letters of credit  2,366       -             -             -       
 Property, plant and equipment 10     1,355 1,039       -             -       
 Investment property 11 14,229 17,348       -             -       
  Intangible assets 12 35,423 20,014       -             -       
 Investment in subsidiaries 13       -             -       86,774   56,988 
 Investment in associates 14 80,972       -       570       -       
 Deferred tax asset 21     1,768     1,389       -             -        
 Total assets  625,911 576,915 174,296 207,690 
 
LIABILITIES AND 
     STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Liabilities 
 Repurchase agreements 15 88,625 93,709       -       4,384 
 Owed to subsidiaries 16       -             -             -       1,269 
 Owed to related parties 16 423 98 423 98 
 Notes payable 17 185,550 110,961 86,891 101,144 
 Current income tax payable  688 1,143       -             -       
 Other liabilities 18 8,082 4,220 1,110        979 
 Due to banks  522 2,187       -             -       
 Due to customers 19 221,051 240,829       -             -       
 Deferred income  2,854 -             -             -       
 Guarantees and letters of credit  2,382       -             -             -       
 Preference shares 20            1   16,416            1   16,416  
 Total liabilities  510,178 469,563   88,425 124,290 
 
Stockholders’ equity 
 Share capital 22 86,716 86,716 86,716 86,716 
 Fair value reserve 23     2,689 (    8,194) (       836) (    4,638) 
 Foreign exchange translation reserve 24 (    7,063) (    6,875)       -             -       
 Retained earnings        9,671   13,448 (           9)     1,322 

Equity attributable to owners of the  
    company    92,013 85,095 85,871   83,400 
 Non-controlling interest 25   23,720   22,257       -             -        
 Total stockholders’ equity   115,733 107,352   85,871   83,400 
 Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 625,911 576,915 174,296 207,690 

 
The financial statements on pages 11 to 100 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on June 6, 2019 and 
signed on its behalf by:  
 
 
 
 
  Director   Director 
Rhory McNamara Jeffrey Gellineau 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
Year ended March 31, 2019  
(Presented in United States dollars, except as otherwise stated) 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

  Group   Company  
  Notes 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $'000 $'000 $’000 $’000 
 
Net interest income and other revenue 
 Interest income, calculated using the  
    effective interest method 26 26,206 28,490 5,348 7,034 
 Interest expense 26 (  7,475) (  8,099) (  3,660) (4,921) 
   18,731 20,391 1,688 2,113 
 Dividends  342 807 8,734 7,599 
 Fees and commissions  8,202 5,076      -          -     

Net fair value adjustments and  
     realised gains 27 1,139 4,293 (  1,324) 414  
 Net foreign exchange gains/(losses)  1,633 (     444) 522 (   594) 
 Pension management income    2,832   2,360      -          -      
Operating revenue, net of interest expense 32,879 32,483 9,620 9,532 
Other income    4,841   3,667   2,011        5 
 Total  37,720 36,150 11,631 9,537 
Operating expenses 
 Staff costs 28 11,640 8,608 94 92 
 Depreciation and amortisation 10,12 1,848 1,659      -          -     
 Impairment loss/(reversal) on loans 
     and other assets 7,8 1,089 2,273 (     144) 349 
 Impairment (reversal)/loss on 
     investments  (     476)      -      (     128) 1 
 Property expenses  116 2,155      -          -     
 Other operating expenses 29 11,672   8,866   4,272 2,919 
 Total  25,889 23,561   4,094 3,361 
Operating profit 11,831 12,589 7,537 6,176 
 
Preference share dividend 31(f) (  1,289) (     976) (  1,289) (   976) 
Gain on acquisition of business 13(b)(ii)      -             48      -          -      
Share of profit of associates 14   1,308      -           -          -      
Profit before income tax  11,850 11,661 6,248 5,200 
Income tax (charge)/credit 30 (  1,665) (  2,154)      -          -      
Profit for the year  10,185   9,507   6,248 5,200 
 
Profit attributable to: 
Owners of the company  6,968   5,682 6,248  5,200 
Non-controlling interest    3,217   3,825      -          -      
Profit for the year  10,185   9,507   6,248 5,200 
 
Earnings per stock unit 32    1.11¢     0.94¢ 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued) 
Year ended March 31, 2019  
(Presented in United States dollars, except as otherwise stated) 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

  Group   Company  
   2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $'000 $'000 $’000 $’000 
 
Profit for the year 10,185   9,507   6,248 5,200 
 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) 

Items that are or may be reclassified 
    to profit or loss: 

 Realised gains on securities at FVOCI 
          (2018: available-for-sale securities) 1,596 3,052 2,700 3,254 
 Unrealised losses on securities at FVOCI 
     (2018: available-for-sale 
      securities, net of tax) (     204) (  6,854) (  1,411) (4,642) 

 Deferred tax on fair value adjustment 
    on securities at FVOCI and ECL 
    (2018: available-for-sale securities) 878 (       95)      -          -     

 Exchange differences on translation 
     of foreign operations (     188)      689      -          -      
 Share of other comprehensive 
     income in associates   5,049      -           -          -      

Total other comprehensive income/(loss)   7,131 (  3,208)   1,289 (1,388) 
Total comprehensive income for the year 17,316   6,299   7,537 3,812 
 
Total comprehensive income attributable to:  

Owners of the Company 14,099 2,474   7,537 3,812 
Non-controlling interests   3,217   3,825      -          -      
Total comprehensive income for the year 17,316   6,299   7,537 3,812  
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Group Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended March 31, 2019  
(Presented in United States dollars, except as otherwise stated) 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

 
      Attributable 
      to 
    Foreign   equity 
   Fair exchange  holders Non- 
  Share value translation Retained of the controlling 
  capital reserve reserve earnings Company interest Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  (note 22) (note 23) (note 24)   (note 25) 
 
Balances at March 31, 2017 69,248 (  4,297) (7,564) 14,149 71,536 18,321   89,857 
 
Total comprehensive income for 2018 
 Profit for the year      -           -          -       5,682   5,682   3,825     9,507 
 Other comprehensive loss for the year 
 Foreign exchange differences on translation 
    of foreign subsidiary’s financial statements      -           -      689      -      689      -      689 
 Unrealised gain on available-for-sale  
     securities      -      3,052     -          -      3,052      -      3,052 
 Unrealised losses on fair value of 
     available-for-sale securities      -      (  6,854)     -          -      (  6,854)      -      (    6,854) 
 Deferred tax credit on fair value adjustments      -      (       95)     -          -      (       95)      -      (         95) 
Other comprehensive loss for year, net of tax      -      (  3,897)    689      -      (  3,208)      -      (    3,208) 
Total comprehensive income for the year      -      (  3,897)    689   5,682   2,474   3,825     6,299 
Transactions with owners recorded directly  
   in equity 
 Issue of ordinary shares (note 22) 17,468      -          -          -      17,468      -      17,468 
 Dividends to equity holders (note 33)      -           -          -     (  6,383) (  6,383) (  1,364) (    7,747) 
Change in ownership interest 
 Acquisition of non-controlling interest without 
     change in control      -           -          -          -           -        1,475     1,475 
Balances at March 31, 2018 86,716 (  8,194) (6,875) 13,448 85,095 22,257 107,352 
Adjustment on impact of initial  
     application of IFRS 9, net of tax [note 3(c)]      -        3,564     -     (  5,679) (  2,115)      -      (    2,115) 
Adjusted balances at April 1, 2018 86,716 (  4,630) (6,875)   7,769 82,980 22,257 105,237 
Total comprehensive income for 2019  
 Profit for the year      -           -          -       6,968   6,968   3,217   10,185 
 Other comprehensive loss for the year 
 Foreign exchange differences on translation 
 of foreign subsidiary’s financial statements      -           -      (   188)      -      (     188)      -      (       188) 
 Realised gain on securities at FVOCI (2018: 
    transferred to profit or loss)      -      1,596     -          -      1,596      -          1,596 
 Unrealised gain on debt securities at FVOCI      -      (     204)     -          -      (     204)      -      (       204) 
 Deferred tax credit on fair value adjustments      -      878     -          -      878      -      878 
 Share of associates’ other comprehensive  
    income      -        5,049     -          -        5,049      -          5,049 
Other comprehensive loss for year, net of tax      -        7,319 (   188)      -        7,131      -          7,131 
Total comprehensive income      -        7,319 (   188)   6,968 14,099   3,217   17,316 
 
Transactions with owners recorded directly  
   in equity 
 Dividends to equity holders (note 33)      -           -          -     (  5,066) (  5,066) (  1,754) (    6,820) 
Balances at March 31, 2019 86,716   2,689 (7,063)   9,671 92,013 23,720 115,733 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Company Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended March 31, 2019  
Presented in United States dollars, except as otherwise stated) 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

 
 
   Fair 
  Share value Retained earnings/ 
  capital reserve (accumulated deficit) Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  (note 22) (note 23) 
 
Balances at March 31, 2017 69,248 (  3,250)   2,505 68,503 
 
Total comprehensive income for 2018 
 Profit for the year      -           -        5,200   5,200 
 Other comprehensive loss for the year 
 Realised gains on available-for-sale  
 securities      -      3,254 -      3,254 
 Unrealised loss on fair  
 value of available-for-sale securities      -      (  4,642)      -      (  4,642) 
 Total other comprehensive loss      -      (  1,388)      -      (  1,388) 
Total comprehensive income for the year      -      (  1,388)   5,200   3,812 
Transactions with owners recorded directly 
 in equity     
 Issue of ordinary shares (note 22) 17,468      -      -      17,468 
 Dividends to equity holders (note 33)      -           -      (  6,383) (  6,383) 
Balances at March 31, 2018 86,716 (  4,638)   1,322 83,400 
 
Adjustment on impact of initial application 
     of IFRS 9, net of tax [note 3(c)]      -        2,513 (  2,513)      -       
Adjusted balances at April 1, 2018 86,716 (  2,125) (  1,191) 83,400 
Total comprehensive income for 2019 
 Profit for the year      -           -        6,248   6,248 
 Other comprehensive income for the year 
 Unrealised losses on debt securities at  
     FVOCI       -      (  1,411)      -      (  1,411) 
 Realised gain on securities at FVOCI  
    (2018: transferred to profit or loss)      -        2,700      -        2,700  
 Other comprehensive income      -        1,289      -        1,289 
Total comprehensive income for the year      -        1,289   6,248   7,537 
Transactions with owners recorded directly 

in equity  
 Dividends to equity holders (note 33)      -           -      (  5,066) (  5,066) 
Balances at March 31, 2019 86,716 (     836) (         9) 85,871 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Statements of Cash Flows  
Year ended March 31, 2019  
Presented in United States dollars, except as otherwise stated) 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

 
 Notes  Group   Company  
   2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $'000 $'000 $’000 $’000 
Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 
 Profit for the year   10,185 9,507 6,248 5,200 
 Adjustments for: 

Amortisation 12 1,462 1,336      -           -      
Depreciation  10 386 323      -           -      
Interest income 26 (  26,206) (28,490) (  5,348) (  7,034) 
Interest expense 26 7,475 8,099 3,660 4,921 
Dividend income  (       342) (     807) (  8,734) (  7,599) 
Impairment loss on loans and other assets  1,089 2,448 (     144)      -      
Gain on acquisition of subsidiary 13(b)        -       (       48)      -           -      
Share of profit of associates 14 (    1,308)      -           -           -      
Fair value adjustment on investment property  (    1,978)      -           -           -      
Equity-settled share based payment          -       199      -           -      
Unrealised exchange loss on preference 
    shares         -            -           -      375 
Unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss  (    1,633) 444 (     522) 594 
Amortisation of transaction cost on issue 
    of preference shares  323 63 323        63 
Income tax charge/(credit) 30     1,665   2,154 (       15)      -       
  (    8,882) (  4,772) (  4,532) (  3,480) 

Change in operating assets and liabilities 
Investment securities  36,504 (10,628) 56,350 (  6,814) 
Loans receivable  (    6,314) (  5,062) 6,453 (  6,142) 
Other assets  4,038 3,705 2,122 2,067 
Owed by subsidiaries         -            -      (  1,893) (       47) 
Other liabilities  1,193 (  9,390) (     150) (     727) 
Due to customers  (  19,778) (29,226)      -           -      
Due to other banks  (    1,665) (       28)      -           -       
Repurchase agreements  (    5,084) (49,290) (  4,384) (10,461) 
Resale agreements  14,317 14,125 4,900 (  5,500) 
Owed to subsidiaries        -       -      (  1,269) 532 
Owed to related party         325 (     851)      325 (     995) 
Deferred income  2,854      -           -           -      
Guarantees and letters of credit           16      -           -           -       
Development in progress  (    1,507)      -           -           -       
  16,017 (91,417) 57,922 (31,567) 
Interest received  24,079 26,009 4,389 4,903 
Dividend received  342 807 8,734 7,599 
Interest paid  (    8,815) (  7,458) (  3,379) (  5,314) 
Income tax paid  (    2,206) (  2,405)      -           -       

 Net cash provided/(used) by 
   operating activities    29,417 (74,464) 67,666 (24,379) 

Cash flows provided/(used) by investing activities 
Acquisition of subsidiaries, 
    net of cash acquired 13 (  19,829) (     644) (29,786)      -      
Acquisition of associate  (  74,615)      -      (     570)      -      
Development in progress        -       194      -           -      
Purchase of investment property  (    3,993) (11,184)      -           -      
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 10 (       702) (     344)      -           -      
Purchase of intangible asset 12 (       377) (       79)      -           -       
Repayment of preference shares  (  16,737)      -      (16,737)      -       
Net cash used by investing activities  (116,253) (12,057) (47,093)      -       

 
Net cash flows (used)/provided by operating  
   and investing activities (carried forward to  
        page 17)  (  86,836) (86,521) 20,573 (24,379) 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Statements of Cash Flows (Continued) 
Year ended March 31, 2019  
Presented in United States dollars, except as otherwise stated) 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

 
 
 Notes  Group   Company  
   2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $'000 $'000 $’000 $’000 
      
 
Cash flows (used)/provided by 
  operating and investing activities  
     (brought forward from page 16)  (  86,836) (  86,521) 20,573 (24,379) 
 
Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities 

Proceeds from issue of shares 22       -       17,468      -      17,468 
Translation adjustment in respect of  
     foreign subsidiaries  (       188) 575      -           -       
Notes payable  73,589 14,274 (13,732) 13,235  
Dividends paid 33 (    6,820) (    7,747) (  5,066) (  6,383)  

Net cash provided/(used) by  
     financing activities    66,581   24,570 (18,798) 24,320  
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and  
      cash equivalents  (  20,255) (  61,951)   1,775 (       59)  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    89,363 151,314      261      320  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year    69,108   89,363   2,036      261  
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended March 31, 2019   
(Presented in United States dollars, except as otherwise stated) 
 

 

1. Identification 
 

Proven Investments Limited (“the Company”) is incorporated and domiciled in Saint Lucia 
under the International Business Companies Act, with registered office at 20 Micoud Street, 
Castries, Saint Lucia.  The Company’s shares are listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange. 

 
The primary activities of the Company are the holding of tradable securities for investment 
purposes and holding equity in investments.  
 
The Company has the following subsidiaries and associated companies: 

 
 

Subsidiaries 
Country of 

incorporation Nature of Business 
Percentage ownership 

 2019 2018 
    
Boslil Bank Limited Saint Lucia Private Banking 75 75 
   Boslil International Holdings Limited Saint Lucia Holding company 100 100 

    Boslil Bond Fund Limited Saint Lucia 
Structured finance services 
investment management 100 100 

    Boslil Equity Fund Limited Saint Lucia Private mutual fund 100 100 
    Boslil Secretarial Services Saint Lucia Private secretarial services 100 100 
    Boslil Corporate Services Limited Saint Lucia Registered agent services 100 100 

    Boslil Finance Limited Saint Lucia 
Structured finance services 
investment management 100 100 

    Boslil Sudamenco S.A. Uruguay 
Market research translation and 
business development services 100 100 

Access Financial Services Limited and 
its wholly owned subsidiary 

Jamaica Retail lending 49.72 49.72 

 Embassy Loans Inc.  U.S.A. Retail lending 100 - 
Proven Wealth Limited Jamaica Fund management, investment 

advisory services, and money 
market and equity trading 

100 100 

Proven Fund Managers Limited Jamaica Pension fund management 100 100            
International Financial Planning 

(Cayman Limited) 
Cayman 
Islands 

 
Fund management 100 - 

Asset Management Company  
Limited 

 
Jamaica 

 
Hire purchase financing  

 
100 

 
100 

     
Real Properties Limited and its  
 wholly-owned subsidiaries 

Saint Lucia Real estate investment  100 100 

     
 Proven Kingsway Limited  Saint Lucia Real estate investment 100 100 

Real Millsborough Limited Saint Lucia Real estate investment 100 100 
Real Bloomfield Limited Saint Lucia Real estate investment 100 100 
Real PP Limited Saint Lucia Real estate investment 100 - 
Real  53 NPW Limited Saint Lucia Real estate investment 100 - 

Proven Reit Limited Jamaica Management services 100 100 
Proven Holding Limited Jamaica Investment advisory services 100 - 
     
Associate companies     

JMMB Group Limited 
Jamaica Investment advisory, Banking, 

Market and equity 20 - 
Dream Entertainment Limited Jamaica Entertainment 20 - 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended March 31, 2019  
(Presented in United States dollars, except as otherwise stated) 
 
 

 

2. Basis of preparation  
 
(a) Statement of compliance 

 
 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board.  

 
Certain new and amended standards and interpretations have been issued which are not 
yet effective for the current year and which the Group has not early-adopted. The Group 
has assessed the relevance of all such new standards, amendments and interpretations 
with respect to its operations and has determined that the following are likely to have an 
effect on its financial statements: 

 
(i) Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, effective retrospectively for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 clarifies the treatment of:  
(i) Prepayment features with negative compensation:   

Financial assets containing prepayment features with negative compensation 
can be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI) if they meet the other relevant requirements 
of IFRS 9. 

 
(ii) Modifications to financial liabilities: 

If the initial application of IFRS 9 results in a change in accounting policy 
arising from modified or exchanged fixed-rate financial liabilities, 
retrospective application is required, subject to particular transitional reliefs. 
There is no change to the accounting for costs and fees when a liability has 
been modified, but not substantially. These are recognised as an adjustment to 
the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term 
of the modified liability. 

 
The Group is assessing the impact that the amendment will have on its 2020 
financial statements. 

 
(ii) Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015-2017 cycle contain amendments to IFRS 3 

Business Combinations, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, IAS 12 Income Taxes and 
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2019. 

 
(i) The amendments to IFRS 3 and IFRS 11 clarify how an increased interest in 

a joint operation should be accounted for.  If a party maintains or obtains 
joint control, then the previously held interest is not remeasured. But if a 
party obtains control, this is a business combination achieved in stages and 
the acquiring party remeasures the previously held interest at fair value.  

(ii) IAS 12 is amended to clarify that all income tax consequences of dividends 
(including payments on financial instruments classified as equity) are 
recognised consistently (either in profit or loss, OCI or equity) with the 
transactions that generated the distributable profits. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended March 31, 2019  
(Presented in United States dollars, except as otherwise stated) 
 
 

 

2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(a) Statement of compliance (continued) 
 

(ii) Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015-2017 cycle (continued) 
 

(iii) IAS 23 is amended to clarify that the general borrowings pool used to 
calculate eligible borrowing costs excludes borrowings that specifically 
finance qualifying assets that are still under development or construction. The 
change will apply to borrowing costs incurred on or after the date of initial 
adoption of the amendment. 

 
The Group is assessing the impact that the amendments in respect of income taxes 
and borrowing costs will have on its 2020 financial statements. 

 
(iii) Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting 

Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020, and provides the following definition 
of ‘material’ to guide preparers of financial statements in making judgements about 
information to be included in financial statements: 

 
“Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be 
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose 
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which 
provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.” 

 
The Group does not expect the amendment to have a significant impact on its 2021 
financial statements. 

 
(iv) IFRS 16, Leases, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2019, eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, 
which distinguishes between on-balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet 
operating leases. Instead, there is a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that is 
similar to current finance lease accounting. Lessees will be required to bring all 
major leases on-balance sheet, recognising new assets and liabilities. The on-balance 
sheet liability will attract interest; the total lease expense will be higher in the early 
years of a lease even if a lease has fixed regular cash rentals. Optional lessee 
exemption will apply to short-term leases and for low-value items with value of 
US$5,000 or less. 

 
 Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice as the lessor will continue to 

classify leases as finance and operating leases.  
 
 The Group is assessing the impact that the standards will have on its 2020 financial 

statements. 
 
(v) IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over income tax treatments, is effective for annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is permitted. 
IFRIC 23 clarifies the accounting treatment for income tax treatments that are yet to 
be accepted by tax authorities, whilst aiming to enhance transparency. 



86

21 
 
PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended March 31, 2019  
(Presented in United States dollars, except as otherwise stated) 
 
 

 

2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(a) Statement of compliance (continued) 
 

(v) IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over income tax treatments (continued) 
 

IFRIC 23 is to be applied to the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, 
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over 
income tax treatments under IAS 12. An entity has to consider whether it is 
probable that the relevant authority will accept each tax treatment, or group of tax 
treatments, that is used or plans to use in its income tax filing.   

 
If the entity concludes that it is probable that a particular tax treatment is accepted, 
the entity has to determine taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, 
unused tax credits or tax rates consistently with the tax treatment included in its 
income tax filings. 

 
If the entity concludes that it is not probable that a particular tax treatment is 
accepted, the entity has to use the most likely amount or the expected value of the 
tax treatment when determining taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax 
losses, unused tax credits and tax rates. The decision should be based on which 
method provides better predictions of the resolution of the uncertainty. 

 
IFRIC 23 does not add any new disclosure requirements. However, it highlights that 
an entity shall determine whether it should disclose judgements made in the process 
of applying its accounting policy to determine taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, 
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, in accordance with paragraph 
122 of IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements.   
 
IFRIC 23 requires that when it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an 
uncertain tax treatment, paragraph 88 of IAS 12 should be applied to determine the 
disclosure of a tax- related contingency.  If facts and circumstances change, the 
entity is required to reassess the judgements and estimates applied. 
 
IFRIC 23 reinforces the need to comply with existing disclosure requirements 
regarding: 
- judgements made in the process of applying accounting policies to determine 

taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax 
rates; 

- assumptions and other estimates used; and 
- potential impact of uncertainties that are not reflected in the financial 

statements. 
 

The Group is assessing the impact that the interpretation will have on its 2020 
financial statements. 
 

(b) Basis of measurement 
 
 The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the inclusion 

at fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (2018: 
available-for-sale) and at fair value through profit or loss and investment property. 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 
 
The financial statements are presented in United States dollars (USD), which is the 
functional currency of the Company, rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise 
indicated.  The financial statements of those subsidiaries which have other functional 
currencies, are translated into USD in the manner set out in note 4(h).   

 
(d) Estimates critical to reported amounts, and judgements made in applying accounting 

policies: 
 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management 
to make estimates, based on assumptions and judgements.  Management also makes 
judgements, other than those involving estimations, in the process of applying the 
accounting policies.  The estimates and judgements affect (1) the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting date and the 
income and expenses for the year then ended, and (2) the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the next financial year.   

 
The estimates, and the assumptions underlying them, as well as the judgements are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods. 

 
Estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the next financial year and judgements that have a significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements, include the following: 

 
(i) Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
(1) Impairment of financial assets: 

 
Applicable under IFRS 9 from April 1, 2018 

 
A number of significant judgements are required in applying the accounting 
requirements for measuring expected credit loss (ECL), such as: 
• Determining criteria for significant increases in credit risk; 
• Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of 

ECL; 
• Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking 

scenarios for each type of product/market and the associated ECL; and 
• Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of 

measuring ECL. 
 

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the Group 
in the above areas is set out in notes 4(j) and 36(b). 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(d) Estimates critical to reported amounts, and judgements made in applying accounting 
policies (continued): 

 
(i) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

 
(1) Impairment of financial assets (continued): 

 
Applicable before April 1, 2018 

 
In determining amounts, if any, to be recorded for impairment of securities 
and receivables in the financial statements for 2018 and prior years, 
management makes assumptions in assessing whether certain facts and 
circumstances, such as repayment default and adverse economic conditions, 
are indicators that there may be a measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows from outstanding balances.   

 
Management also makes estimates of the likely estimated future cash flows 
from balances determined to be impaired, as well as the timing of such cash 
flows.  If the balances are individually significant the amount and timing of 
cash flows are estimated for each receivable individually.  

 
Where indicators of impairment are not observable on individually significant 
receivables, or on a group or portfolio of receivables that are not individually 
significant, management estimates the impairment by classifying each 
receivable or group of receivables according to their characteristics, such as 
credit risks and applying appropriate factors, such as historical loss 
experience, to each class with similar characteristics. The use of assumptions 
makes uncertainty inherent in such estimates.   

 
(2) Fair value of financial instruments 

 
There are no quoted market prices for a significant portion of the Group’s 
financial assets and liabilities.  Accordingly, fair values of several financial 
assets are estimated using prices obtained from a yield curve.  The yield curve 
is, in turn, obtained from a pricing source which estimates the yield curve on 
the basis of indicative prices submitted to it by licensed banks and other 
financial institutions in Jamaica.  There is significant uncertainty inherent in 
this approach; the fair values determined in this way are classified as Level 2 
fair values.  Some other fair values are estimated based on quotes published 
by broker/dealers, and these are also classified as Level 2.  The estimates of 
fair value arrived at from these sources may be significantly different from 
the actual price of the instrument in an actual arm’s length transaction (see 
notes 6 and 37). 

 
(3) Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 

 
 Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles is dependent upon 
management’s internal assessment of future cash flows from the cash-
generating units that gave rise to the goodwill and intangible assets. That 
internal assessment determines the amount recoverable from the cash 
generating units and is sensitive to the discount rates used and the projections 
of future cash flows (note 12).  
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2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(d) Estimates critical to reported amounts, and judgements made in applying accounting 
policies (continued): 

 
(ii) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies 

 
 For the purpose of these financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRS, 

judgement refers to the informed identification and analysis of reasonable 
alternatives, considering all relevant facts and circumstances, and the well-reasoned, 
objective and unbiased choice of the alternative that is most consistent with the 
agreed principles set out in IFRS.   

 
Management is sometimes also required to make critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies.  These include the following judgements: 

 
 Whether the criteria are met for classifying financial assets.  For example, the 

determination of whether a security may be classified as at “fair value through 
profit or loss (FVTPL)”, “fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI)” or “amortised cost” (note 6) or whether a security’s fair value may be 
classified as ‘Level 1’ in the fair value hierarchy (note 37) requires judgement as 
to whether a market is active. [see note 4(b)]  

 In determining whether the Group has control or significant influence over an 
investee and how to account for that investee, management considers the 
percentage of the investee’s share capital that it holds and makes judgements 
about other relevant factors affecting control or significant influence over the 
relevant activities of the investee [see notes 4(a), 13 and 14]. 
 
 

3. Changes in accounting policies 
 

The Group has applied IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 from April 1, 2018. A number of other new 
standards are also effective from January 1, 2018, but they do not have a material effect on the 
Group’s financial statements.  Due to the transition methods chosen by the Group in applying 
these standards, comparative information throughout these financial statements has not been 
restated to reflect the requirements of the new standards.  

 
The adoption of IFRS 15 did not impact the timing or amount of fee and commission income 
from contracts with customers and the related contract assets and liabilities recognised by the 
Group.  

 
The effect of applying IFRS 9 is mainly attributed to the following:  
- an increase in impairment losses recognised on financial assets; 
- reclassification of fair value measurement of investment securities; and 
- additional disclosures related to IFRS 9 [see note 36(b)]. 

 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 

 
 IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities 

and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items. This standard replaces IAS 39, Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and brings fundamental changes to the accounting 
for financial assets and to certain aspects of the accounting for financial liabilities. 
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3. Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, the Group has adopted consequential amendments to IAS 
1, Presentation of Financial Statements, which require separate presentation in the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of interest revenue calculated using the effective 
interest method.  

 
Additionally, the Group has adopted consequential amendments to IFRS 7, Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures that are applied to disclosures about 2019, but have not been applied to 
the comparative information. 
 
As permitted by the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, any adjustments to the carrying amounts 
of financial assets and liabilities at the date of transition were recognised in the opening retained 
earnings and other reserves of the current period.  
 
(a) Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 

 
IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at 
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL). The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is 
generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its 
contractual cash flow characteristics. 

 
The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of held-to-maturity, loans and 
receivables and available-for-sale.   

 
The adoption of IFRS 9 has not had a significant effect on the Group’s accounting policies 
related to financial liabilities, as IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 
for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities. 

 
For an explanation on how the Group classifies and measures financial instruments and 
accounts for related gains and losses under IFRS 9, see note 4(b). 

 
(b) Impairment of financial assets  
 

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with a forward-looking ‘expected 
credit loss’ (ECL) model. The new impairment model applies to financial assets measured 
at amortised cost or FVOCI.  Under IFRS 9, credit loss allowances are recognised earlier 
than under IAS 39 [see note 36(b)]. 
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3. Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

(c) The impact, net of tax, of transition to IFRS 9 on the opening retained earnings and fair 
value reserve is as follows: 

 
(i) Retained earnings: 

 
  Group  Company 
 $’000 $’000 
 

Balance as at March 31, 2018 13,448 1,322 
Reclassification of investment at FVOCI to FVTPL (  2,794) (2,273) 
Recognition of expected credit losses under IFRS 9: 
   Investment securities and loans receivable, net of taxes (  2,885) (   240) 
 (  5,679) (2,513) 
Opening balance under IFRS 9 at April 1, 2018   7,769 (1,191) 

 
 

(ii) Fair value reserve: 
 

  Group  Company 
 $’000 $’000 
 

Balance as at March 31, 2018 under IAS 39 (8,194) (4,638) 
Movement in fair value on reclassification  
     of investments securities from FVOCI to FVTPL 2,794 2,273 
Recognition of expected credit losses on investments, 
   net of taxes    770    240 
 3,564 2,513 
Opening balance under IFRS 9 at April 1, 2018 (4,630) (2,125) 

 
 

(d) The following table and the accompanying notes explain the original measurement 
categories under IAS 39 and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class 
of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets as at April 1, 2018. 
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3. Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

  Group  

 
 

  Company  

 
 

 

 
 

Original 
classification under 

IAS 39 

 
 

New classification 
under IFRS 9 

 
IAS 39  

Carrying 
 amount at 
March 31, 

2018 
 

$’000 

 
mpairment 

losses 
 

$’000 

 
IFRS 9  

carrying 
amount at 

April 1, 
2018 
$’000 

Financial assets      
Cash and cash 
equivalents Loans and receivables Amortised cost 89,364         -       89,364 
Resale agreements Loans and receivables Amortised cost 24,373         -       24,373 
Loans receivable Loans and receivables Amortised cost 43,903 (2,163) 41,740 
Quoted equities:      
      FVTPL FVTPL FVTPL 64         -       64 
Available-for-sale Available-for-sale FVTPL 5,547         -       5,547 
      Credit linked notes FVTPL Mandatory at FVTPL 1,998         -       1,998 
      
Available-for-sale Available for sale FVOCI 337,211 (1,616) 335,595 
Mutual Funds Available-for-sale FVTPL 10,977  10,977 
Term deposits and 
global bonds  Loans and receivables FVOCI   13,288     -        13,288 
      
Total financial assets   526,725 (3,779)  522,946 

  
 

 
 
 

Original classification 
under IAS 39 

 
 
 
 
 

New classification 
under IFRS 9 

IAS 39  
Carrying 

 amount at 
March 31, 

2018 
 

$’000 

 
 
 

Impairment 
losses 

 
$’000 

IFRS 9  
carrying 

amount at 
April 1, 

2018 
 

$’000 
Financial assets      
Cash and cash 
equivalents Loans and receivables Amortised cost        261     -            261 
Resale agreements Loans and receivables Amortised cost     5,500     -         5,500 
Loans receivable Loans and receivables Amortised cost 25,030     -     25,030 
Quoted equities:      
Available-for-sale Available-for-sale FVTPL 3,279     -     3,279 
Credit linked notes FVTPL Mandatory at FVTPL     1,998     -         1,998 
Available-for-sale Available for sale FVOCI 101,233 (   240) 100,993 
Mutual Funds Available-for-sale FVTPL   10,977     -        10,977 
Total financial assets   148,278 (   240) 148,038 
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4. Significant accounting policies  
 

(a) Basis of consolidation: 
 

(i) Business combinations 
 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the 
acquisition date, which is at the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  

 
The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 
 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 
 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquired entity; 

plus  
 if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-

existing interest in the acquired entity; less 
 the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed.  
 

When the result is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss. 

 
The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of 
pre-existing relationships. Such amounts generally are recognised in profit or loss. 
Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition 
date. 
 
Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity 
securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are 
expensed as incurred. 

 
(ii) Subsidiaries 

 
Subsidiaries are all entities controlled by the Group.  The Group controls an entity 
when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
relevant activities of the investee.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are 
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control 
commences until the date on which control ceases. 
 

(iii) Non-controlling interests 
 
Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate share of the acquirees’ 
identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition, plus accumulated share of changes 
in equity of the relevant subsidiary.  Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary 
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. 

 
 Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the 

non-controlling interests, even if doing so causes the non-controlling interest to have 
a deficit balance.  
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued): 
 

(iv) Investments in associates  
 

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not 
control or joint control, over the financial and operating policies.  Interest in 
associates are accounted for using the equity method.   
 
They are recognised initially at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of 
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investees, 
until the date on which significant influence ceases. 

 
When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the Group’s 
carrying amount is reduced to Nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued, 
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations, or 
made payments on behalf of an associate. If the associate subsequently reports 
profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share 
of profits equals the share of accumulated losses not recognised. 

 
(v) Loss of control 

 
On the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of a 
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests and other components of equity related 
to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised 
in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the former subsidiary, then such 
interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. 

 
(vi) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

 
 Balances and transactions between companies within the Group, and any unrealised 

gains arising from those transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements.   

 
 Unrealised gains arising from transactions between the Group and its associates are 

eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate.  Unrealised losses 
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the 
asset transferred. 

 
(b) Financial instruments – Classification, recognition and de-recognition, and measurement  

 
Policy applicable from April 1, 2018 

 
(i) Classification of financial assets 

 
In applying IFRS 9, the Group classified its financial assets in the following 
measurement categories: 
a. Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); 
b. Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or 
c. Amortised cost. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(b) Financial instruments – Classification, recognition and de-recognition, and measurement  
 

Policy applicable from April 1, 2018 (continued) 
 

(i) Classification of financial assets (continued) 
 
The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described below: 
 
Debt instruments 
 
Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial 
liability from the issuer’s perspective, such as loans, government and corporate 
bonds and trade receivables purchased from clients in factoring arrangements 
without recourse. 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on the 
Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of 
the asset. 
 
Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the 
following three measurement categories: 
 
Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where 
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’), and 
that are not designated at FVTPL. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by 
any expected credit loss allowance recognised and measured as described at note 
36(b). Interest income from these financial assets is included in ‘Interest and similar 
income’ using the effective interest method.  
 
Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are 
held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the 
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are 
not designated at FVTPL. On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not 
held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect, on an investment-by-investment 
basis, to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. 
 
Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised 
cost or FVOCI. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at 
fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is 
recognised in profit or loss within ‘Net trading income’ in the period in which it 
arises, unless it arises from debt instruments that were designated at fair value or 
which are not held for trading, in which case they are presented separately in ‘Net 
investment income’. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 
‘Interest income’ using the effective interest method. 
 
Equity instruments 

 
Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the 
issuer’s perspective; that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation 
to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s net assets.  
 



96

31 
 
PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended March 31, 2019  
(Presented in United States dollars, except as otherwise stated) 
 
 

 

4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(b) Financial instruments – Classification, recognition and de-recognition, and measurement 
(continued) 

 
Policy applicable from April 1, 2018 (continued) 

 
(i) Classification of financial assets (continued) 

 
Equity instruments (continued) 

 
The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit 
or loss, except where the Group’s management has elected, at initial recognition, to 
irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair value through other 
comprehensive income.  
 
Gains and losses on equity investments at FVTPL are included in the ‘Other 
operating income’ caption in the income statement. 

 
Business model assessment 

 
The business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate 
cash flows. That is, whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the contractual 
cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash 
flows arising from the sale of assets.  If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial 
assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of 
‘other’ business model and measured at FVTPL.  
 
Factors considered by the Group in determining the business model for a group of 
assets include: 
1. Past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected;  
2. How the asset’s performance is evaluated and reported to key management 

personnel; 
3. How risks are assessed and managed; and  
4. How managers are compensated.  

 
For example, securities held for trading are held principally for the purpose of 
selling in the near term or are part of a portfolio of financial instruments that are 
managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-
term profit-taking.  These securities are classified in the ‘other’ business model and 
measured at FVTPL.  

 
Solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI):  Where the business model is to 
hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and 
sell, the Group assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest (the ‘SPPI test’).  
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(b) Financial instruments – Classification, recognition and de-recognition, and measurement 
(continued) 

 
(i) Classification of financial assets (continued) 

 
Business model assessment (continued) 

 
In making this assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual cash flows 
are consistent with a basic lending arrangement, i.e., interest includes only 
consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a 
profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement.  Where the 
contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a 
basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at 
fair value through profit or loss.  Financial assets with embedded derivatives are 
considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely 
payments of principal and interest. 

 
The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for 
managing those assets changes.  The reclassification takes place from the start of the 
first reporting period following the change. Such changes are expected to be very 
infrequent and none occurred during the period. 
 

(ii) Measurement of gains and losses on financial assets  
 

For debt securities measured at FVOCI, gains and losses are recognised in OCI, 
except for the following, which are recognised in profit or loss in the same manner 
as for financial assets measured at amortised cost: 
- interest revenue using the effective interest method; 
- ECL charges and reversals; and 
- foreign exchange gains and losses. 

 
When a debt security measured at FVOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. 
 
Gains and losses on equity instruments classified at FVOCI are never reclassified to 
profit or loss and no impairment is recognised in profit or loss. Dividends are 
recognised in profit or loss unless they clearly represent a recovery of part of the 
cost of the investment, in which case they are recognised in OCI. Cumulative gains 
and losses recognised in OCI are transferred to retained earnings on disposal of an 
investment. 
 

(iii) Financial liabilities 
 

The adoption of IFRS 9 did not have a significant effect on the Group’s accounting 
policies related to financial liabilities, as IFRS 9 largely retains the existing 
requirements in IAS 39 for the classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities.  
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(b) Financial instruments – Classification, recognition and de-recognition, and measurement 
(continued) 

 
Policy applicable before April 1, 2018 
 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

 
(i) Classification of financial instruments 

 
Financial instruments are classified, recognised and measured in accordance with 
the substance of the terms of the contracts as set out herein. 
 
The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories.  
Management determines the appropriate classification of investments at the time of 
purchase, taking account of the purpose for which the investments were purchased. 
 

 Loans and receivables: This comprises securities acquired or loans granted with 
fixed or determinable payments and which are not quoted in an active market. 
 
Fair value through profit or loss: This comprises securities that the Group acquires 
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term, or that it holds as part of 
a portfolio that is managed together for short-term profit or position taking, or that it 
designates as such at the time of acquisition. 
 
Available-for-sale: The Group’s financial instruments included in this classification 
are securities with prices quoted in an active market or for which the fair values are 
otherwise determinable, and which are designated as such upon acquisition or not 
classified in any of the other categories.   
 
The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the “other financial 
liabilities” category. 
 

(ii) Recognition and derecognition - non-derivative financial assets and financial 
liabilities 

 
The Group recognises a financial instrument when it becomes a party to the 
contractual terms of the instrument.   
 
The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and debt securities on the date 
when they are originated.  All other financial assets and financial liabilities are 
initially recognised on the trade date.   
 
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash 
flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither transfers nor retains all 
or substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership but does not retain control 
over the transferred asset.  Any interest in such derecognised financial assets that is 
created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.   
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(b) Financial instruments – Classification, recognition and de-recognition, and measurement 
(continued) 

 
Policy applicable before April 1, 2018 (continued) 

 
(iii) Recognition and derecognition - non-derivative financial assets and financial 

liabilities (continued) 
 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations expire 
or are discharged or cancelled. 

 
(iv) Measurement and gains and losses - Non-derivative financial assets 

 
  Loans and receivables:  On initial recognition these are measured at fair value plus 

any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, they 
are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less impairment 
losses.  Where securities classified as loans and receivables become quoted in an 
active market, such securities will not be reclassified as available-for-sale securities.  
An active market is one where quoted prices are readily and regularly available 
from an exchange, dealer, broker or other agency and those prices represent actual 
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. 

 
  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: On initial recognition these are 

measured at fair value, with directly attributable transaction costs recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred.   Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and changes therein, as well 
as any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.   

 
  Available-for-sale: On initial recognition, these are measured at fair value plus any 

directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, they are 
measured at fair value, with unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair 
value treated as follows: 

 
 Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign 

currency and classified as available-for-sale are analysed between translation 
differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the security and other 
changes in the carrying amount of the security.  The translation differences are 
recognised in profit or loss and changes in the fair value of securities classified 
as available-for-sale are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 
 When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the fair 

value adjustments accumulated in other comprehensive income are reclassified 
to profit or loss. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Financial instruments - Other 
 

(i) Non-trading derivatives 
 

Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value from the price of the 
underlying items such as equities, interest rates, foreign exchange or other indices.  
Derivatives enable users to increase, reduce or alter exposure to credit or market 
risk.  The Group makes use of derivatives to manage its own exposure to foreign 
exchange risk. 
 
The Group evaluates financial instruments which it acquires or issues to determine 
whether derivatives are embedded in any of the contracts (making it a “host 
contract”).  The Group accounts for an embedded derivative separately from the 
host contract when (i) the host contract is not itself carried at fair value through 
profit or loss, (ii) the terms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition of 
a derivative if they were contained in a separate contract, and (iii) the economic 
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the 
economic characteristics and risks of the host contract.  
 
Separated embedded derivatives are accounted for depending on their classification, 
and are presented in the statement of financial position together with the host 
contract.  When an embedded derivative cannot be separated from the host contract, 
the entire contract is designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
When a derivative is not held for trading, and is not designated in a qualifying hedge 
relationship, all changes in its fair value are recognised immediately in profit or loss 
as a component of net income from other financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss. 
 

(ii) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash comprises cash in hand and demand and call deposits.  Cash equivalents are 
short-term, highly liquid financial assets that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and are held 
for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments, rather than for investment 
or other purposes.  These include certificates of deposit where the maturities do not 
exceed three months from the date of acquisition.   
 
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost. 
 

(iii) Other assets 
 
Other assets are measured at amortised cost less impairment losses. 
 

(iv) Other liabilities 
 
Other liabilities are measured at amortised cost.   
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Financial instruments – Other (continued) 
 

(v) Resale and repurchase agreements 
  
Resale agreements are accounted for as short-term collateralised lending, and are 
classified as at amortised cost (2018: loans and receivables).  On initial recognition 
they are measured at fair value.  Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured 
at amortised cost.  The difference between the purchase cost and the resale 
consideration is recognised in profit or loss as interest income using the effective 
interest method. 
 
Repurchase agreements are accounted for as short-term collateralised borrowing, 
and are classified as other liabilities.  On initial recognition and subsequently, the 
securities given as collateral are retained in the statement of financial position and 
measured in accordance with their original measurement principles.  The proceeds 
of sale are reported as liabilities and are carried at amortised cost.  The difference 
between the sale consideration and the repurchase cost is recognised in profit or loss 
over the life of each agreement as interest expense using the effective interest 
method. 
 

(vi) Share capital 
 

 The Group classifies capital instruments as financial liabilities or equity instruments 
in accordance with the substance of the contractual terms of the instrument.  In the 
case of its preference share capital, it is classified as: 
(1) equity if it is non-redeemable, or redeemable only at the Group’s option, and 

any dividends are discretionary; in such a case, dividends thereon are 
recognised as distributions within equity;  

(2) liability if it is redeemable on a specific date or at the option of the holders, or 
if dividends are not discretionary; in such a case dividends thereon are 
recognised as interest in profit or loss. 

 
The Group’s preference shares bear contractual entitlements to dividends that are 
cumulative, and not at the discretion of the directors.  Accordingly, they are 
classified as financial liabilities. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of equity instruments are deducted 
from the initial measurement of the equity instruments. 
 

(vii) Loans and notes receivable and other receivables 
  
Loans and notes receivable and other receivables are measured at amortised cost less 
impairment allowances, see note 4(j). 
 

(viii) Accounts payable 
 
Accounts payable are measured at amortised cost. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Financial instruments – Other (continued) 
 

(ix) Interest-bearing borrowings 
 
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are 
measured at amortised cost, with any difference between cost and redemption being 
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest 
basis. 
 

(x) Offsetting 
 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the 
statement of financial position only when the Group has a legal right to set off the 
recognised amounts and it intends to settle on a net basis or to realise the assets and 
settle the liabilities simultaneously. 
 

(xi) Amortised cost 
 

Amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method.  Premiums, 
discounts and initial transaction costs are included in the carrying amount of the 
related instruments and amortised based on the effective interest rates. 
 

(d) Property development costs 
 
 Property development costs comprise all costs that are directly attributable to development 

activities or that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to such activities.  These costs 
comprise the value of land contributed to the development, direct costs related to property 
development activities and indirect costs that are attributable to the development activities 
and can be allocated to the projects. 

 
(e) Investment properties 

 
Investment properties, comprising principally land and buildings, are held for rental yields 
and capital appreciation and are treated as long-term investments. They are measured 
initially at cost, including related transaction costs and are subsequently measured at fair 
value. 

 
Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the 
nature, location or condition of the specific asset. The fair value of investment property 
reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases and assumptions about 
rental income from future leases in light of current market conditions. The fair value also 
reflects, on a similar basis, any cash outflows that could be expected in respect of the 
property.  Fair value is determined every three years by an independent registered valuer, 
and in each of the two intervening years by the directors.  Fair value is based on current 
prices in an active market for similar properties in the same location and condition.  Any 
gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is recognised in profit or loss. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(e) Investment properties (continued) 
 

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset's carrying amount only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged 
to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.  

 
(f) Property, plant and equipment 

 
(i) Cost 

 
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.  Cost includes expenditures that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of an asset. The cost of replacing part of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of an asset if it is 
probable that the future economic benefits embodied in the part will flow to the 
Group and its cost can be reliably measured. 
 
The cost of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment is recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred. 
 

(i) Depreciation 
 
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis at annual 
rates estimated to write down the assets to their residual values over their expected 
useful lives.  The depreciation rates are as follows: 
 

 Computers 25% - 33⅓% 
  Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% - 20% 

 Leasehold improvements 10% - 20% 
 Motor vehicles 20% - 25% 

 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each 
reporting date. 
 

(g) Intangible assets 
 

(i) Customer relationships and non-compete agreements that are acquired by the Group 
and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
any accumulated impairment losses.   
 
Trade names, licences and other intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives are 
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  The useful lives of such assets 
are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether events and circumstances 
continue to support an indefinite useful life assessment for those assets.  If they do 
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for 
as a change in an accounting estimate. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(g) Intangible assets (continued) 
 

(ii) Software 
 
Acquired computer software licenses as well as third party and internal costs directly 
associated with the development of software are capitalised as intangible assets on 
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring the specific software to use.  
These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (three to eight years).  
Internal costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software 
programs are recognised as expense as incurred. 

 
(iii) Subsequent expenditure  

 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic 
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, 
including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred.  
 

(iv) Amortisation 
 

Intangible assets with finite asset lives, are amortised on a straight-line basis in profit 
or loss over their estimated useful lives, from the date that they are available for use. 
 
The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 
 Customer relationships 6 to 20 years 
 Non-compete agreement 2-5 years 

 
Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each 
reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. 
 

(h) Foreign currency translation 
 
(i) Transactions and balances 
 

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 
profit or loss.  These rates represent the weighted average rates at which the Group 
trades in foreign currency. 
 
Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency 
classified as FVOCI (2018: available-for-sale) are analysed between translation 
differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other 
changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related to 
changes in the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss. Other changes in the 
carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in fair 
value reserve. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(h) Foreign currency translation (continued) 

 
(i) Transactions and balances (continued) 

 
Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities classified as FVOCI 
(2018: available-for-sale) financial assets, are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and presented in the fair value reserve in stockholders’ equity. 
 

(ii) Foreign operations 
 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into USD at the spot 
exchange rate at the reporting date.  The income and expenses of the foreign 
operations are translated into USD at the average exchange rates for the period.  
Foreign currency differences on the translation of foreign operations are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and included in foreign exchange translation reserve. 
 

(i) Income tax 
 

Income tax on the profit or loss for the period comprises current and deferred tax.  Income 
tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
directly in equity or other comprehensive income, in which it is recognised accordingly. 

 
(i) Current income tax 

  
  Current income tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, 

using tax rates enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to income tax 
payable in respect of previous years. 

 
(ii) Deferred income tax 

 
Deferred income tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used for income tax purposes.  Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on laws 
that have been enacted by the reporting date.   

 
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.  Deferred tax 
assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realised. 
 

(j) Impairment of financial assets 
 

Policy applicable from April 1, 2018 
 

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the financial 
instruments measured at amortised cost and debt instruments at FVOCI.  No impairment 
loss is recognised on equity instruments which are measured at FVTPL.  
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(j) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

Policy applicable from April 1, 2018 (continued) 
 

Framework 
 
IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality 
since initial recognition as summarised below:  

 
 A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in 

‘Stage 1’ and has its credit risk continuously monitored by the Group. 
 If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since initial recognition is identified, the 

financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. 
See below for a description of how the Group determines when a significant increase in 
credit risk has occurred. 

 A financial asset is credit impaired (‘Stage 3’) when one or more events that has a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have 
occurred. 
 

 Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the 
expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 
months.  Instruments in Stages 2 and 3 have their ECL measured based on expected 
credit losses on a lifetime basis.  See below and note 36(b) for a description of inputs, 
assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring the ECL. 

 A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should 
consider forward-looking information. See note 36(b) for an explanation of how the 
Group has incorporated this in its ECL models. 

 Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (POCI) are those financial 
assets that are credit-impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always measured on 
a lifetime basis (Stage 3).  

 
Credit-impaired financial assets  
 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised 
cost and debt financial assets carried at FVOCI are credit-impaired (‘Stage 3’).  Evidence 
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:  
- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;  
- a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;  
- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that it would not consider 

otherwise;  
- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation; or  
- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.  

 
In addition, a loan that is overdue for 90 days or more is considered credit-impaired even 
when the regulatory definition of default is different.  
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(j) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

Policy applicable from April 1, 2018 (continued) 
 

Credit-impaired financial assets (continued) 
 

In making an assessment of whether an investment in sovereign debt is credit-impaired, the 
Group considers the following factors: 
- The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond yields.  
- The rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness.  
- The country’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance.  
- The probability of the debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses 

through voluntary or mandatory debt forgiveness.  
- The international support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary support as 

‘lender of last resort’ to that country, as well as the intention, reflected in public 
statements, of governments and agencies to use those mechanisms. This includes an 
assessment of the depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective of the political intent, 
whether there is the capacity to fulfil the required criteria. 

 
Restructured financial assets  

 
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is 
replaced with a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is 
made of whether the financial asset should be derecognised and ECL are measured as 
follows:  
- If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then 

the expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in 
calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset.  

- If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the 
expected fair value of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing 
financial asset at the time of its derecognition.  This amount is included in calculating 
the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted from the 
expected date of derecognition to the reporting date using the original effective 
interest rate of the existing financial asset.  

 
Measurement of ECL  

 
The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the 
following, for which they are measured as 12-month ECL:  
- debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting 

date; and  
- other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not 

increased significantly since their initial recognition.  
 
The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for each future month and for 
each individual exposure. These three components are multiplied together and adjusted for 
the likelihood of survival (i.e., the exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier 
month).  This effectively calculates an ECL for each future month, which is then 
discounted back to the reporting date and summed.  
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(j) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

Policy applicable from April 1, 2018 (continued) 
 

Measurement of ECL (continued) 
 

The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective interest rate or an 
approximation thereof. 
 
The lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturity profile to the current 12-month PD. 
The maturity profile looks at how defaults develop on a portfolio from the point of initial 
recognition throughout the lifetime of the loans. The maturity profile is based on historical 
observed data and is assumed to be the same across all assets within a portfolio and credit 
grade band. This is supported by historical analysis. 
 
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.  They are measured as follows:  
- financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value 

of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive);  

- financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between 
the gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;  

- undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the 
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group if the commitment is drawn and the 
cash flows that the Group expects to receive;  

- financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any 
amounts that the Group expects to recover; and  

- trade and lease receivables: Loss allowances for trade and lease receivables, measured 
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.  

 
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position  

 
Allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:  
- financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying 

amount of the assets.  
- loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision.  
- debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in the statement 

of financial position because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. 
However, the loss is recognised in profit or loss as a reclassification from OCI. 

 
 Policy applicable before April 1, 2018 

 
  The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to 

determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the 
carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.  
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.   
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(j) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

 Policy applicable before April 1, 2018 (continued) 
 

When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognised 
directly in other comprehensive income and there is objective evidence that the asset is 
impaired, the cumulative loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is 
recognised in profit or loss even though the financial asset has not been derecognised.  The 
amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised in profit or loss is the difference between 
the acquisition cost and current fair value less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Loans and advances that have been assessed individually and found not to be impaired are 
assessed collectively in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics to determine 
whether provisions should be made due to incurred loss events which are not yet evident.   

 
The collective assessment takes account of data from the loan portfolio such as credit 
quality, levels of arrears, credit utilisation, loan to collateral ratios, concentrations of risks 
and economic data country risk and the performance of different groups. 

 
(1) Calculation of recoverable amount 

 
The recoverable amount of the Group’s investment securities classified as loans and 
receivables and other receivables such as loans and advances is calculated as the 
present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate inherent in the asset. Receivables with a short duration are not 
discounted. 
 
(a) The calculation of the present value of the estimate future cash flows of a 

collateralised financial asset reflects the expected cash flows from foreclosure 
less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not the 
foreclosure is probable. 

 
(b) When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for 

loan impairment.  Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures 
have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.  
Subsequent recoveries of amount previously written off decrease the amount 
of the loan impairment charge in profit or loss.  

 
The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair value less 
cost to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset.  For an asset that does not generate largely 
independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 
(2) Reversals of impairment 

 
An impairment loss in respect of a receivable is reversed if the subsequent increase 
in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(j) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
Policy applicable before April 1, 2018 (continued) 
 
(2) Reversals of impairment (continued) 
 

An impairment loss in respect of an investment in an equity instrument classified as 
available for sale is not reversed through profit or loss, but through other 
comprehensive income.   
 
If the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the 
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss 
was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reverse in profit or loss.In 
respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 

 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
 

(k) Impairment of  non-financial assets 
 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, an 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the 
carrying amount of an asset, or group of operating assets, exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

 
(l) Investment in subsidiaries 

 
 Investment in subsidiaries is measured in the separate financial statements of the Company 

at cost, less impairment losses, if any. 
 

(m) Revenue recognition 
 

 Revenue comprises interest income, fees and commissions, dividends, income and gains 
from holding and trading securities and property sales. 
 
(i) Interest income 
 

Policy applicable from April 1, 2018 
 

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of financial assets, except for: 
 Purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets, for which the 

original credit-adjusted effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost 
of the financial asset. 

 Financial assets that are not ‘POCI’ but have subsequently become credit 
impaired (or ‘stage 3’), for which interest revenue is calculated by applying the 
effective interest rate to their amortised cost (i.e., net of the expected credit 
loss provision). 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(m) Revenue recognition (continued) 
 
(i) Interest income (continued) 
 

Policy applicable before April 1, 2018 
 
Interest income is recognised in profit or loss for all interest-earning instruments on 
the accrual basis using the effective interest method.  The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of 
the financial asset to its carrying amount.  The effective interest rate is established on 
initial recognition of the financial asset and is not revised subsequently.  Interest 
income includes coupons earned on fixed income investments, accretion of discount 
on treasury bills and other discounted instruments, and amortisation of premium on 
instruments bought at a premium. 

 
(ii) Fee and commission income 
  
 Fee and commission income are recognised on the accrual basis when the service has 

been provided.  Fees and commissions arising from negotiating or participating in the 
negotiation of a transaction for a third party are recognised on completion of the 
underlying transaction. 

 
 Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees are recognised based on 

the applicable service contracts, usually on a time-apportioned basis.  Asset 
management fees related to investment funds are recognised as the service is 
provided. Performance linked fees or fee components are recognised when the 
performance criteria are fulfilled. 

 
(iii) Dividends 
 
 Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive income is established.  For 

quoted securities, this is usually the ex-dividend date. 
 
(iv) Gains or losses on holding and trading securities 
 
 Gains or loss on securities trading are recognised when the Group becomes a party to 

a contract to dispose of the securities, or, in the case of financial assets measured at 
fair value, upon re-measurement of those assets. 
 

(n) Interest expense 
 
Interest expense is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.  The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial liability to its carrying amount.   
 

 The effective interest rate is established on initial recognition of the financial liability and 
not revised subsequently.  Interest expense includes coupons paid on fixed rate liabilities 
and accretion of discount or amortisation of premium on instruments issued at other than 
par. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(o) Employee benefits 
 
Employee benefits comprise forms of consideration given by the Group in exchange for 
service rendered by employees. These include current or short-term benefits such as 
salaries, National Insurance Scheme contributions, annual vacation leave, and non-
monetary benefits, such as medical care and housing; post-employment benefits, such as 
pensions and medical care; other long-term employee benefits, such as long service 
awards; and termination benefits. 
 
(i) General benefits 
 

Short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability, net of payments made, 
and charged as expense.  The expected cost of vacation leave that accumulates is 
recognised when the employee becomes entitled to the leave.   

 
Post-employment benefits are accounted for as described in (ii) below. Other long-
term benefits, including termination benefits, which arise when either (1) the 
employer decides to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal 
retirement date or (2) an employee decides to accept voluntary redundancy in 
exchange for termination benefits, are accrued as they are earned and charged as an 
expense, unless not considered material, in which case they are charged when they 
fall due. 

 
(ii) Share-based payment transaction  
 

For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant-date fair 
value of the share-based payment is recognised as staff costs. 
 
 

5. Resale agreements 
 

The Group purchases government and corporate securities and agrees to resell them at a specified 
dates at a specified prices [see note 4(c)(v)].   

 
Resale agreements result in credit exposure, in that the counterparty to the transaction may be 
unable to fulfill its contractual obligations.  At the reporting date, the fair value of the securities 
held as collateral for resale agreements was $12,531,000 (2018: $29,727,000) for the Group and 
$637,000 (2018: $5,731,000) for the Company.  

 
 

6. Investment securities 
  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets at fair value through 
   profit or loss 

Quoted equities 3,839 64      -      -        
Credit-linked notes       -           1,998      -          1,998 
Global bonds 9,450       -            -      -       
Foreign sovereign debt 576       -            -      -       
Global equities     2,347       -            -            -        

    16,212     2,062      -          1,998 
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6. Investment securities (continued) 
  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets at fair value through  
    other comprehensive income  
      (2018: Available-for-sale)  

Global bonds 193,691 198,863 16,280 20,948  
Government of Jamaica securities 49,694 31,757      -      -        
Corporate bonds 53,715 72,520 43,886 58,904  
Mutual funds       -       10,977      -      10,977  
Certificate of deposits 2,682 21,381 2,404 21,381  
Equities - Jamaica       -       332      -      332 
Global equities       -       5,215      -      2,947  
Commercial paper       -           1,043      -            -        
Foreign sovereign debt     5,475   11,647      -            -        
  305,257 353,735 62,570 115,489 

Amortised cost    
    (2018: Loans and receivables) 

Term deposits       -       7,423      -      -        
Global bonds 10,105 5,865      -      -        
Corporate bonds 4,516       -            -            -        
Commercial papers        680       -            -            -        
  15,301   13,288     -             -        
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (         30)       -            -            -        
    15,271   13,288      -            -        
Total investments 336,740 369,085 62,570 117,487  

 
As at March 31, 2019, $115,422,000 (2018: $293,309,000) of investment securities is expected to 
be recovered more than 12 months after the reporting date. 

 
 

7. Loans receivable 
 
  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Loans and advances to customers 40,864 41,376      -      -       
Margin loans [see (a) below] 1,601 1,683      -      -       
Corporate notes 15,035   6,647 18,750 25,347 
Other loans         12      -           -           -       
  57,512 49,706 18,750 25,347 
Less allowance for expected credit losses [see (c)] (  3,588) (  5,803) (     173) (      317) 
  53,924 43,903 18,577 25,030 
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7. Loans receivable (continued) 
 
(a) Margin loans represent advances made by the Group to facilitate the purchase of securities 

by its clients. The securities purchased are pledged as collateral for the outstanding 
advances.  Certain of these securities have been re-pledged by the Group. At the reporting 
date, the fair value of the collateral pledged by the clients and re-pledged by the Group was 
$20,906,000 (2018: $7,566,000). 

 
(b) Loans receivable, net of allowance for expected credit losses, are due from the reporting 

date as follows: 
  Group  
 Within 3-12 1-5  Over  
 3 months months years 5 years Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  2019  
 

Margin loans 860 741      -          -     1,601 
Corporate notes 1,150      -      12,139 1,573 14,862 
Hire purchase loans     -          -      12     -            12 
Loans and advances to  

customers 3,068 16,249 18,132     -     37,449 
 5,078 16,990 30,283 1,573 53,924 
 
 

  2018  
 

Margin loans 152 1,534 -      -     1,686 
Corporate notes 1,150 1,501 -      3,678 6,329 
Loans and advances to  
    customers 3,874   9,264 22,750     -     35,888 
 5,176 12,299 22,750 3,678 43,903 

 
 
  Company  
 Within 3-12 1-5  Over  
 3 months months years 5 years Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  2019  
 

Corporate notes 1,234 3,571 12,199 1,573 18,577 
 
 
  2018  
 

Corporate notes 1,420 8,426 11,505 3,679 25,030 
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7. Loans receivable (continued) 
 

(c) Expected credit losses (2018: Impairment losses) 
 

(i) The ageing of loans receivable is as follows: 
 
  Group  
  2019   2018  
  Allowance Allowance 
  for for 
 Gross impairment Gross impairment 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Not past due and not impaired 35,301     -     41,947 -      
Less than 90 days past due and  
   impaired 3,720 1,280 2,776 892  
More than 90 days past due and  
   impaired 18,491 2,308   4,983 4,911   

  57,512 3,588 49,706 5,803  
 
(ii) The movement on the expected credit losses (2018: impairment allowance) is as 

follows: 
 

  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

 Balance at the beginning of the year 5,803 3,594 317    -   
IFRS 9 transition adjustment  

        (see note 3) 2,081     -        -      -   
 Impairment allowances   
        recognised/reversed 905 2,241 (144) 349 
 Bad debt recovered      -         -        -   (  32) 
 Loans written off (5,201)     -        -      -   
 Effect of exchange rate movements     -     (     32)    -      -    
 Balance at the end of the year 3,588 5,803 173 317 
 
 

8. Other assets 
  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Withholding tax recoverable 3,371 3,185     -     -      
Interest receivable 2,128 2,481 959 2,132  
Other     4,103   4,794    204    194  
  9,602 10,460 1,163 2,326  
Less allowance for expected credit losses (     295) (     110)     -         -      
    9,307 10,350 1,163 2,326  
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8. Other assets (continued) 
 

The movement in expected credit losses (2018: allowance for impairment) is as follows: 
 

     Group  
   2019 2018 
   $’000 $’000 
 

Balance at beginning of year   110 108 
Expected credit losses recognised   184    -   
Effect of exchange rate movements       1     2  
Balance at end of year   295 110  
 
During the year trade receivables of $Nil (2018: $32,000) for the Group and $Nil (2018: $32,000) 
for the Company were expensed directly in profit or loss. 
 
 

9. Property development in progress 
 

 This comprises land and associated costs on a project to develop a residential and commercial 
complex, including an amount of $1,308,000 in settlement of variable consideration on the 
purchase of the property.  

 
 Of this amount, $9,090,000 was previously classified as investment property (note 11). 

 
 

10. Property, plant and equipment 
 
   Group  
   Furniture,   Work  
  Leasehold fixtures and Motor Computer in Art- 
  improvements equipment vehicles equipment progress work Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 Cost: 

 March 31, 2017 561 1,076 153 1,255  -          5 3,050 
 Acquired through business 

  combination  -   43 -   -     -    -      43 
 Additions 50 137 110 47 -    -     344 

Disposals -   -     (  59) -     -    -     (     59) 
 Translation adjustment   12      14   12 (     42)   -        -     (       4) 

March 31, 2018 623 1,270 216 1,260   -           5 3,374 
 Additions 106 118 -   56 422     -        702 
 Disposals (    9) (       9) -       -       -        -     (     18) 
 Translation adjustment   12        8     9      12   -        -          41 

March 31, 2019 732 1,387 225 1,328 422        5 4,099 
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10. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
   Group  
   Furniture,   Work  
  Leasehold fixtures and Motor Computer in Art- 
  improvements equipment vehicles equipment progress work Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
 Depreciation: 
 March 31, 2017  267    717 117 984   -        -     2,085 

 Charge for the year 104 77 34 108   -    -     323 
 Disposals -   -     (  59) -       -    -     (     59) 
 Translation adjustment (    3) (       7) (    4)     -       -        -     (     14) 
 March 31, 2018 368    787   88 1,092   -        -     2,335 
 Charge for the year 63 136 39 148   -        -     386 
 Translation adjustment (  19)      10   18      14   -        -          23 
 March 31, 2019 412    933 145 1,254   -        -     2,744 
 

Net book values: 
 March 31, 2019 320    454   80      74 422        5 1,355 
 March 31, 2018 255    483 128    168   -           5 1,039 

 
 
11. Investment property 
 
     Group  
   2019 2018 
   $'000 $'000 

 

At beginning of year   17,348 6,148  
Investment property acquired   3,993 11,186  
Fair value adjustment (note 27)   1,978 (         4) 
Transfer to property development in progress (note 9)  (  9,090) -     
Foreign exchange translation adjustment        -             18  
   14,229 17,348  
 
The Group’s investment properties were last revalued in September 2018 and December 2018 
by independent valuators, DC Tavares Finson Realty Company Limited. The valuations were 
done on the basis of open market value.  The fair value of the investment property is categorised as 
Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. 
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11. Investment property (continued) 
 

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs Inter-relationship between key 
unobservable inputs and fair 
value measurement 

Market approach.   
This model takes into account: 
 The fact that the intention 

is to dispose of the 
property in an open 
market transaction. 

 The expected sale would 
take place on the basis of a 
willing seller and willing 
buyer. 

 A reasonable period in 
which to negotiate a sale, 
taking into account the 
nature of the property and 
state of the market. 

 Judgements about whether 
the property can be sold, 
exchanged, transferred, let, 
mortgaged or used for any 
other economic activity, 
within its use class. 

 The strength of demand for 
the property, given its 
condition, location and range 
of potential uses. 

 The potential rental value of 
the property in the current 
investment climate 
 

 
The estimated fair value would 
increase/(decrease) if:  

 
 The level of current and 

future economic activity 
in the location and the 
impact on the strength of 
the demand is 
greater/(less) than judged. 

 
 The potential rental 

income from the property 
is greater /(less) than 
judged. 

 

 Values are expected to 
remain stable throughout 
the period of market 
exposure and disposal by 
of sale (hypothetical). 

 The property will be freely 
exposed to the market; and 

 
 The potential rental value 

of the property in the 
current investment climate. 
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12. Intangible assets 
 
   Group  
  Customer Non-compete Trade  Computer 
  relationships agreements name Goodwill License software Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 Cost:  

 March 31, 2017 8,312 1,669 2,534 10,391 439 887 24,232  
 Acquired through  
    business combination  46 -     12 -      -       -     58 
 Additions      -      -     -     -      -   79 79 
 Translation adjustment          4     -            1          1   13      10        29 
 March 31, 2018   8,362 1,669 2,547 10,392 452    976 24,398 
 Acquired through business 
     combination 6,756     -     320 9,422    -       -     16,498 
 Additions      -      -     -     -      -   377 377 
 Translation adjustment          6     -     (       7) (         8)    -   (       5) (       14) 
 March 31, 2019 15,124 1,669 2,860 19,806 452 1,348 41,259 

  
 Amortisation: 

 March 31, 2017 1,765    899     -          -         -   378   3,042 
 Amortisation for the year 844 182     -     -         -   310 1,336 
 Translation adjustment (         1)      20     -          -         -   (  13)        6 
 March 31, 2018   2,608 1,101     -          -         -   675   4,384 
 Amortisation for the year   1,022 206     -          -         -   234 1,462 
 Translation adjustment      -      (     15)     -          -         -       5 (       10) 
 March 31, 2019   3,630 1,292     -          -         -   914   5,836  
 
Net book values: 
 March 31, 2019 11,494    377 2,860 19,806 452 434 35,423 
 March 31, 2018   5,754    568 2,547 10,392 452 301 20,014 

 
 

In testing goodwill for impairment, recoverable amounts of cash-generating units are estimated 
based on value-in-use. Where the recoverable amounts exceed the carrying amounts, no 
impairment allowance is made. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units are arrived at by 
estimating their future cash flows and discounting those cash flows using long-term discount rates 
applicable to the countries in which the businesses operate.  

 
Future sustainable cash flows are estimated based on the most recent forecasts, after taking account 
of past experience. In all cases projected cash flows are taken over 5 years and the long-term 
growth rate is applied following the projection period, with a terminal value calculated based on 
the discount rate and growth rate applied.  Each cash generating unit is regarded as saleable to a 
third party at any future date at a price sufficient to recover its carrying amount of goodwill. Key 
assumptions are set out below: 
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12. Intangible assets (continued) 
 

  2019 2018 
Retail lending cash generating units (CGUs) 

Discount rate    24.3% 29.5% 
Growth rate    6.0%   6.0% 
 

The fair values of the Access Financial Services Limited and International Financial Planning 
Limited (IFP) trade names were calculated using the relief from royalty method and compared to 
the carrying value of the trade names as at March 31, 2019. 

 
 
13. Investment in subsidiaries 
 
    Company  
  2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 

Ordinary shares at cost: 
 Proven Wealth Limited  16,567 16,567 
 Real Properties Limited (formerly Proven REIT Limited) 16,214 641 
 Asset Management Company Limited  412 412 
 Boslil Bank Limited  10,435 10,435 
 Proven Fund Managers Limited   18,176 18,176 
 Access Financial Services Limited  10,757 10,757 
 International Financial Planning (Cayman) Limited [see (a) below] 14,213      -       
    86,774 56,988 
 
(a) Acquisition of International Financial Planning Limited 

 
Effective August 22, 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the common shares of IFP, a 
licensed securities dealer, with offices in the Cayman Islands and thoroughout the Caribbean.  
The principal activities of IFP are investment management. The acquisition is expected to 
provide an enhanced level of income, above-average returns, and preservation of capital for 
shareholders of the Company. 

 
IFP contributed revenue of $2,725,000 and attributable post-acquisition profit of $525,000 to 
the Group’s results in the period to March 31, 2019.   If the acquisition had occurred on April 
1, 2018, management estimates that consolidated revenue from IFP would have been 
$4,514,133, and consolidated profit for the year would have been $835,933. In determining 
these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments, determined 
provisionally, that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the 
acquisition had occurred on April 1, 2018. The following summarises the fair value of the 
identifiable assets and liabilities recognised by the Group at the date of acquisition. 
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (continued) 
 

(a) Acquisition of International Financial Planning Limited (continued) 
 

(i) Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed: 
 

 2019 
 $’000 
 

  Cash and cash equivalents 720 
  Other receivables 37 
  Intangible assets 6,672 
  Other liabilities (       51) 
  Net assets acquired 7,378 

 Goodwill acquired    6,835 
  Total consideration on acquisition 14,213 

 
(ii) Cash flow on acquisition 

 
  2019 

    $’000 
 

Total consideration transferred (14,213) 
Less: cash acquired      720 

  Net cash outflow on acquisition (13,493) 
 

(iii) The fair values of material asset categories were established as follows: 
 
 Intangible assets: The value of brands and trademarks was assessed using the relief 

- from-royalty method.  The value of customer relationships was assessed through 
the multi-period excess earnings method, performed by a qualified independent 
valuator. The value of non-compete agreements was valued using the incremental 
cash flow method. 

 
 The other receivables comprise gross contractual amounts which were expected to 

be fully collectible at the date of acquisition. 
 

(iv) Acquisition-related costs 
 

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of $462,244 on legal fees and due 
diligence costs. These costs have been included in ‘administrative expenses’ in profit 
for the year ended March 31, 2019. 

 
(b)(i) Acquisition of Embassy Loans Inc. 

 
On December 15, 2018, Access Financial Services acquired 100% shareholding in 
Embassy Loans Inc as a going concern.  
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (continued) 
 

(b)(i) Acquisition of Embassy Loans Inc. (continued) 
 

 Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed: 
  2019 

  $’000 
 

 Loans receivable  4,612 
 Other assets  1,015 
 Cash and cash equivalents  481 
 Intangible asset  400 
 Other liabilities and accruals  (1,278) 
 Subordinated notes payable  (1,000) 
 Net assets acquired  4,230 
 Goodwill acquired  2,587 
 Total consideration on acquisition  6,817 
 

 Cash flow on acquisition 
  2019 
  $’000 

 Cash and cash equivalents  (5,817) 
 Shareholder notes for two years at a rate of 10% per annum  (1,000) 
   (6,817) 
 Less cash acquired      481 
 Net cash outflow on acquisition  (6,336) 
 
(b)(ii) Acquisition of Micro Credit Limited 

 
On May 27, 2017, Access Financial Services acquired the net assets, comprising the  
business of Micro Credit Limited, as a going concern comprising mainly loan portfolio, 
property, plant and equipment, trademark and customer relationship.  
 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed: 
 

  2018 
    $’000 
 

 Loans receivable   591 
 Intangible assets   58 
 Property, plant and equipment     43 
     692 
 Consideration transferred: 

 Cash (644) 
 Gain on acquisition     48 
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14. Investment in associates 
 

  2019 
    $’000 

Carrying amount of interest in associate: 
JMMB Group Limited 80,402 
Dream Entertainment Limited      570 

   80,972 
(i) Investment in Dream Entertainment Limited 

 
Effective February 6, 2019, the Company acquired 2,500 shares or 20% of the participating 
voting shares in Dream Entertainment Limited. The purpose of the acquisition is to generate 
dividend income. 
 

(ii) Investment in JMMB Group Limited 
 
Effective December 27, 2018, Proven Holdings Limited acquired 326,277,325 shares or 20% 
shareholding in JMMB Group Limited (JMMBGL). The principal activities of JMMBGL are 
investment management and banking services. The purpose of the acquisition is to generate 
dividend income.  JMMBGL is listed on Jamaica Stock Exchange. 
 
The following table summarises the financial information of JMMBGL as included in the 
Group’s financial statements as at March 31, 2019, reflecting adjustments for differences in 
accounting policies. 

  
 2019 
 $'000 

 Percentage ownership interest 20% 
 Statement of financial position 
 Assets  2,559,878 
 Liabilities (2,311,084) 
 Net assets attributable to equity holders (100%)    248,794  
 
 Group’s share of net assets (20%) 49,758 
 Fair value difference at date of investment 32,504 
 Foreign exchange adjustment (       1,860) 
 Carrying amount of investment      80,402 
 
 Revenue    206,973 
 Profit from continuing operations 29,784 
 Other comprehensive loss, net of tax (       4,258) 
 Total comprehensive income       25,526
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14. Investment in associates 
 

(ii) Investment in JMMB Group Limited shares (continued) 
 

 2019 
 $'000 
 

Share of total comprehensive income since date of investment: 
     Profit from continuing operations 1,308 
     Other comprehensive income   5,409 
    6,717 
 
 
15. Repurchase agreements 
 

The Group sells Government and corporate securities and agrees to repurchase them on specified 
dates and at specified prices.   

  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Denominated in Jamaica Dollars 27,358 28,868     -     2,730 
Denominated in United States Dollars 61,218 64,841     -     1,654 
Denominated in Pound Sterling 3      -          -         -     
Denominated in Canadian Dollars        46      -          -         -      
  88,625 93,709     -     4,384 

 
 
16. Owed by/(to) related parties 
  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Owed by subsidiaries - current account      -       -       1,940       47 
Owed to subsidiaries - current account     -       -         -       (1,269) 
Owed to other related parties 

Current accounts (   129) (85) (       129) (     85) 
Dividend payable  (   294) (13) (       294) (     13) 
  (   423) (98) (       423) (     98) 

 
Current accounts represent accrued management fees and amounts payable to Proven Management 
Limited. 
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17. Notes payable 
  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Structured notes [see (i)] 70,612 59,577 70,612 59,577 
Margin loans payable [see (ii)] 16,954 41,567 16,279 41,567 
Other  23,584      9,817      -      -       
Long-term loan [see (iii)]   74,400       -            -            -        
  185,550 110,961 86,891 101,144 

 
(i) Structured notes represent short to medium-term debt obligations issued by the Group. The 

notes are secured by a basket of securities and typically have fixed quarterly coupon payments, 
with bullet payments of principal at maturity. 
 

(ii) Margin loans payable represent short-term debt facilities provided by brokerage firms to the 
Group to: 
 acquire securities on its own account.  The facilities are collateralised by the securities 

held with the brokerage firms. 
 fund facilities offered to its clients.  The clients have agreed with the Group that the 

securities purchased may be re-pledged or otherwise offered by the Group as collateral 
for the margin facility extended to the Group by the brokerage firm [note 7(a)].  

(iii) During the year, the Company issued a Jamaican Dollar Corporate Bond of J$10.5 billion 
through NCB Capital Markets Limited to assist with the acquisition of ordinary shares in 
JMMB Group Limited. The bond was issued in three facilities (A, B & C) with maturity of ten 
(10) years, six (6) years and two (2) years respectively. 
 
 Facility A represents J$6.4 billion, matures in 10 years, bears fixed interest of 5% per 

annum for years 1-3, fixed interest of 6.5% per annum for years 4-6, and fixed interest of 
7.5% thereafter. 

 Facility B represents J$2.9 billion, matures in 6 years, bears fixed interest of 6% per 
annum for years 1-3 and fixed interest of 7.5% thereafter. 

 Facility C represents J$1.2 billion, which will be drawn down for a maximum period of 2 
years and bears fixed interest of 6% per annum. 

 
All coupon payments are required to be paid semi-annually. 
 
 

18. Other liabilities 
  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Interest payable 1,340 641 281 393 
Payable to clients 116 342     -     -   
Statutory payments 22 24     -     -   
Accrued charges 1,011 295 140 131 
Other   5,593 2,918    689 455 
  8,082 4,220 1,110 979 
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19. Due to customers 
  Group  
 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 
 

Time deposits      -      15,983 
Term deposits 22,348       -       
Interest bearing accounts 1,962 7,228 
Non-interest bearing accounts 196,741 217,618 

  221,051 240,829 
 
 
20. Preference shares 
 
     Group and Company 
  2019 2018 
 J$’000 $'000 $'000 
 

Manager’s preference shares [see (a)]          1        1 
 8.25% Cumulative redeemable preference shares  
 [see (b)] 
 At beginning of year 2,097,967 16,416 15,976 
 Repayment  (2,097,967) (16,737) -      
 Amortisation of transaction costs        -         322 64 
 Effect of exchange rate fluctuation        -              -           376 
 At end of year        -                  1 16,416 
 

(a) The terms and conditions of the manager’s preference shares include the following: 
 

 (i) the manager’s preference shares rank pari passu as between and among themselves; 
 
 (ii) each manager’s preference share is entitled to a cumulative annual preference dividend 

in the sum which is equal to: 
(1) 25% of the profits and gains of the Company in each financial year in excess of 

the Annual Earnings Hurdle (computed in accordance with the formula set out in 
the terms and conditions of issue) for such financial year, divided by 

(2) the number of manager’s preference shares in issue when the said cumulative 
annual preference dividend is paid; and for this purpose the Annual Earnings 
Hurdle shall be the amount which results when the hurdle rate is applied to the 
average equity of the Company during such financial year. 

(iii) Apart from the right to the cumulative annual preference dividend, the manager’s 
preference shares have no economic rights or entitlements save for the right on a 
winding up to the repayment of the capital paid thereon on a pari passu basis with the 
capital paid on the ordinary stock units. 

(iv) Each manager’s preference share has votes attaching to it that are a multiple of the votes 
attaching to each ordinary stock unit on all resolutions and decisions at a general 
meeting, such that the preference share votes will be at least equal to the votes of the 
ordinary stock units, except on any resolution intended to vary the formula for 
computing the dividend payable to the preference shareholders, in which case each 
manager’s preference share is entitled to one vote. 
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20. Preference shares (continued) 
 

(b) The terms and conditions of the manager’s preference shares include the following: 
 

 (i) the manager’s preference shares rank pari passu as between and among themselves; 
 
 (ii) each manager’s preference share is entitled to a cumulative annual preference dividend 

in the sum which is equal to: 
 

(1) 25% of the profits and gains of the Company in each financial year in excess of 
the Annual Earnings Hurdle (computed in accordance with the formula set out in 
the terms and conditions of issue) for such financial year, divided by 

 
(2) the number of manager’s preference shares in issue when the said cumulative 

annual preference dividend is paid; and for this purpose the Annual Earnings 
Hurdle shall be the amount which results when the hurdle rate is applied to the 
average equity of the Company during such financial year. 

 
(iii) Apart from the right to the cumulative annual preference dividend, the manager’s 

preference shares have no economic rights or entitlements save for the right on a 
winding up to the repayment of the capital paid thereon on a pari passu basis with the 
capital paid on the ordinary stock units. 

 
(ii) Each manager’s preference share has votes attaching to it that are a multiple of the votes 

attaching to each ordinary stock unit on all resolutions and decisions at a general 
meeting, such that the preference share votes will be at least equal to the votes of the 
ordinary stock units, except on any resolution intended to vary the formula for 
computing the dividend payable to the preference shareholders, in which case each 
manager’s preference share is entitled to one vote. 

 
(b) The terms and conditions of the 8.25% Cumulative redeemable preference shares include the 

following: 
 

(i) The right to a preferential dividend at the agreed annual rate, payable out of the profits 
of the Company, calculated on the capital paid up on the preference stock units, and any 
dividend not paid shall accumulate until paid; 

 
(ii) The right to preferential repayment of paid-up preference capital, and any arrears of 

preference dividend upon the winding up or the Company or other return of capital; 
 

(iii) No right to vote at any general meeting of the Company except where the dividend on 
the preference stock units are past due more than twelve months, and/or the notice for 
the redemption of preference stock units is past due and/or a resolution to wind up the 
Company has been passed; 

 
(iv) The Company may redeem all or any of the preference stock units on or before 

December 15, 2021 at J$5.00 each. 
 

The dividend on both classes of preference shares is recorded as interest expense in the profit or loss 
for the year. 
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21. Deferred tax assets 
 
  Group  
  2019  
 Balance Recognised  Balance 
 at March  in profit Recognised  at March 
 31, 2018 or loss in equity  31, 2019 
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  (note 30) 

 
Property, plant and equipment 12 7      -      19 
Loans receivable  917 (482) 625 1,060 
Other receivables  (   426) 9      -      (   417) 
Unrealised foreign exchange gains 436 63      -      499 
Investment property  (       9)    -        -      (       9) 
Investment at FVOCI (2018: available-for-sale)    190    -   221 411 
Investment at FVPTL (2018: Fair value through 
 profit nd loss)  8 72      -      80 
Impairment loss on instruments at fair 
 value through OCI     -     (  32) 32     -     
Other liabilities  76 5      -      81 
Tax losses   24    -        -      24 
Exchange difference on translation 27 (    6)      -      21 
Other      134 (135)      -      (       1) 
   1,389 (499)      878 1,768 
 

  Group  
  2018  
 Balance Recognised  Balance 
 at March  in profit Recognised  at March 
 31, 2017 or loss in equity 31, 2018 
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  (note 30) 

 
Property, plant and equipment 7 5 -    12 
Loans receivable  917 -    -    917 
Other receivables  (750) 324 -    (  426) 
Unrealised foreign exchange gains 914 (478) -    436 
Investment property  (    5) (    4) -    (      9) 
Available-for-sale investment 
      securities  309 (  24) (   95) 190 
Other liabilities  143 (  67) -    76 
Tax losses  24 -    -    24 
Exchange difference on translation  14 13 -    27 
Other      140     2    -       142 
   1,713 (229) (   95) 1,389 
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22. Share capital 
 2019 2018
 $’000 $’000 
 Authorised: 
  2,999,990,000 Ordinary shares, par value US$0.01 each 29,999,900 29,999,900 
  10,000 Manager’s Preference Shares, par value US$0.01 each             100            100 
  300,000,000 8.25% Cumulative Redeemable  
 Preference Shares, par value US$0.01 each   3,000,000   3,000,000 
 700,000,000 cumulative redeemable 
 Preference share, par value US$0.01 each   7,000,000   7,000,000 
    40,000,000 40,000,000 
 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 Units Units $’000 $’000 

Issued and fully paid: 
 Ordinary shares 625,307,963 625,307,963 86,716 86,716 
 Manager’s Preference Shares          10,000 10,000 1 1 

  8.25% (2018: 8.25%) Cumulative  
 Redeemable Preference Shares          -           419,493,412       -         16,415 
    86,717 103,132 
 Less: Preference shares classified as liability (see note 20)  (           1) (  16,416) 
      86,716   86,716 
 

(a) During 2018, the Company issued an additional 73,712,186 ordinary shares at US$0.24¢ per 
share for the aggregate increase in ordinary share capital of $17,468,000. 

 
(b) The holders of the ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends from time to time, and are 

entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. 
 

(c) The rights and entitlements of the holders of the preference shares are set out in note 20. 
 
 
23. Fair value reserve 
 

This represents the cumulative net unrealised gains and losses in fair value, net of taxation, on the 
revaluation of FVOCI (2018: available-for-sale) investment securities, and remains until the 
securities are disposed of or impaired. 

 
 
24. Foreign exchange translation reserve 
 
 The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 

financial statements of foreign operations as well as from the translation of liabilities that hedge the 
Company’s net investment in foreign operations. 
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25. Non-controlling interest 
 

The following table summarises information relating to each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has 
material non-controlling interest (NCI), before any intra-group eliminations.  

 
  2019   2016   

 Access  
 Financial Boslil Bank Intra-group 
 Services Ltd. Ltd. adjustments Total 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $’000 

 
NCI percentage  50.28% 25% 
Total assets 38,132 245,354   
Total liabilities (20,764) (222,146)  
Net assets 17,368   23,208  
Carrying amount of NCI   8,733     5,802 9,185 23,720 
 
Revenue 13,758     8,392   
Profit for the year   4,255 4,314   
Profit allocated to NCI   2,139     1,078   3,217 
 
Cash flows from operating activities 5,917 (  20,749)  
Cash flows from investment activities  (  2,535) (       447)  
Cash flows from financing activities  (  2,723) (       430)  
Net decrease in cash and cash     
    equivalents       659 (  21,626)  

 
 

  2018   2016   
 Access  
 Financial Boslil Intra-group 
 Services Ltd. Bank Ltd. adjustments Total 

   $'000 $'000 $'000 $’000     
NCI percentage  50.28% 25% 
Total assets 28,077 262,963   
Total liabilities (  9,697) (243,441)   
Net assets 18,380   19,522   
Carrying amount of NCI   9,241     4,881 8,135 22,257 
 
Revenue 14,235     8,074   
Profit for the year 5,631 3,977    
Profit allocated to NCI   2,831     994    3,825 
 
Cash flows from operating activities   1,980 (  43,655)   
Cash flows from investment activities  (     356) (         22)    
Cash flows from financing activities  (  1,949) (    2,279)    
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (     325) (  45,956)   
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26. Net interest income 
 
  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 Interest income: 

 BOJ certificates of deposit      -      9     -     -     
 GOJ benchmark investment notes 1,054 2,011 283 410  
 Regional and corporate bonds 6,502 6,648 2,485 3,046  
 Global bonds 4,673 5,027 1,614 1,619  
 Resale agreements 420 903 20 14  
 Corporate note 905 989 896 1,932  
 Other loans receivable 11,333 11,935     -     -      
 Other   1,319      968      50      13  
  26,206 28,490 5,348 7,034  

 Interest expense: 
 Interest on margin loans 1,002 708 1,002 708  
 Repurchase agreements 1,371 2,874 20 185  
 Notes payable 4,183 3,878 2,234 2,332  
 Other      919      639    404 1,696  
    7,475   8,099 3,660 4,921  
 Net interest income 18,731 20,391 1,688 2,113  
 
 

27. Net fair value adjustments and realised gains 
 
  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Fair value adjustment for investment property (note 11) 1,978 (       4)     -     -     
Fair value (losses)/gains on fixed income  

securities (   604) 4,247 (1,267) 414 
Fair value (losses)/gains on equity securities (   235)      50 (     57)     -      
 1,139 4,293 (1,324)    414 
  

 
28. Staff costs 
  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
 Salaries, wages and related costs 8,692 6,813     -        -    
 Bonus and ex-gratia payments 459 361     -        -    
 Statutory payroll contributions  289 275     -        -    
 Pension costs - defined contribution plan  176 134     -        -    
 Staff welfare 113 53     -        -    
 Equity-settled share based payment     -     199     -        -    
 Other   1,911    773      94    92 
  11,640 8,608      94    92 
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28. Staff costs (continued) 
 

Included in staff costs are the following directors' emoluments: 
 

  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
 Fees 295 261 94 92  
 Management remuneration  623 366      -        -     
 
 
29. Other operating expenses 
  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
 Audit fees 380 233 101 109 
 Bad debt recovery, net (     269) (   208)     -     -   
 Irrecoverable GCT 558 347 127 111 
 Insurance 75 136     -     13 
 Legal and other professional fees 1,596 583 799 233 
 Licenses and permits    473    474     -        -    
 Marketing and advertising 771 677 201 205 
 Miscellaneous 927 612 447 144 
 Management fees [note 31(f)] 1,657 1,690 1,657 1,690 
 Irrecoverable income tax withheld  84 79 84 79 
 Office rent 892 646     -     -     
 Commission expenses and fees 403 432 490 210 
 Printing and stationery 182 210 4 4 
 Repairs and maintenance 757 449     -     -     
 Subscriptions and donations 66 94     -     -     
 Courier and collection services 203 300     -     -     
 Travelling 322 200 43 44 
 Utilities 530 549     -     -     
 Other operating expenses   2,035 1,363    319      77  
  11,672 8,866 4,272 2,919 
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30. Taxation 
 

(a) The tax charge for income tax is computed at 1%, 25% and 33⅓% (depending on the 
jurisdiction) of profit for the year as adjusted for tax purposes, and is made up as follows: 

 
  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

(i) Current tax charge: 
Charge/(credit) on current period’s profits: 

  Income tax at 1% -     24 -     -       
  Income tax at 2.74% 289     -         -          -      
  Income tax at 25% (     81)    675     -          -       
  Income tax at 33⅓%    945 1,401     -          -       
   1,153 2,100     -         -       
  Prior year under provision      13     -         -          -       
   1,166 2,100     -          -       

(ii) Deferred tax (note 21): 
Origination and reversal of  

     temporary differences 499    229     -     -       
(iii) Prior year over provision     -     (   175)     -          -       
Total income tax charge 1,665 2,154     -          -       

 
 (b) Reconciliation of actual tax expense/(credit): 
 

The tax rates for two of the subsidiaries are 25% and 33⅓% of profit before income tax 
adjusted for tax purposes, while the tax rate for the Company is 1% of profits.  The actual 
charge for the year is as follows: 

  Group   Company 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000    

Profit before taxation 11,850 11,661 6,233 5,200  
 Computed “expected” tax expense at 1%      -      1     -         -     
 Computed “expected” tax expense at 2.74% (       81)      -          -         -     
 Computed “expected” tax expense at 25% 962 1,576     -         -     

Computed “expected” tax expense at 33⅓%   1,208   1,417     -         -      
   2,089   2,994     -         -      
Difference between profits for financial 
   statements and tax reporting purposes on 

  Depreciation charge and capital  
   allowances (     10) 2     -     -     

  Income exempt from income tax (   414) (     212)     -     -     
  Employer tax credit 263 (     363)     -     -      
  Disallowed expenses  438     -     -      
  Unrealised foreign exchange gains  (         5) -         -     
  Financial asset at fair value (       3) 3     -     -      
  Tax remission in subsidiary (   633) (     661)     -     -      
  Provision for loan loss 453 -          -     -      
  Prior period over-accrual 13 (     175) -         -     
  Other (     93)      133     -         -      
  Actual tax expense/(credit) 1,665   2,154     -         -      
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31. Related party transactions 
 

(a) Definition of related party 
 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group. 
 
(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person: 
 

(1) has control or joint control over the Group; 
(2) has significant influence over the Group; or 
(3) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the 

Group. 
 

(ii) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies: 
 

(1) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others). 

(2) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member). 

(3) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 
(4) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of 

the third entity. 
(5) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either 

the Group or an entity related to the Group. 
(6) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (i). 
(7) A person identified in (i)(1) has significant influence over the entity or is a member 

of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). 
(8) The entity, or any member of a group of companies of which it is a part, provides 

key management personnel services to the Group. 
 
  A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the 

Group and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged. 
 
(b) Identity of related parties 
 
 The Group has related party relationships with its subsidiaries and associates and with its 

directors and executive officers and those of its subsidiaries and associates.  
 

(c) The Group has engaged a related party, Proven Management Limited, to provide investment 
management services in relation to financial instruments held in a number of funds, and the 
business and operations of the Group, for a fee. The fee is charged at 2% of the Group’s 
Average Net Asset Value in the financial year [see note 31(f)]. 

 
  Group and Company 
 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 

 Investment management fees paid for  
    the year 1,514 1,545 
 Fees accrued at end of year    143    145 
  1,657 1,690 
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31. Related party transactions (continued) 
 

(d) Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the relevant activities of the Group, directly or indirectly.  Such 
persons comprise the directors and executive officers.  Key management compensation for the 
year is included in staff costs (note 28). 

 
(e) The statement of financial position includes balances, arising in the ordinary course of 

business, with its related parties, as follows: 
   
  Directors and key 

  management  
 2019 2018 
 $’000  $’000 
 

Resale agreements  32 63 
Other receivables  19 273 
Repurchase agreements  1,092   -     

  
 Other amounts with related parties are disclosed in note 16. 
 

(f) The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income includes the following income 
earned from, and expenses incurred in, transactions with related parties: 

 
  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Proven Wealth Limited 
 Interest income     -         -          19    139 
 
MPS Holding Limited 

Dividends paid 1,289   976 1,289    976 
 Proven Management Limited 

Management fees 1,657 1,690 1,657 1,690 
 
 
32. Earnings per stock unit 
 
 Earning per stock unit (“EPS”) is computed by dividing the profit attributable to stockholders of the 

parent, of $6,968,000 (2018: $5,682,000), by the weighted average number of ordinary stock units in 
issue during the year, numbering 625,307,963 (2018: 601,881,624). 

 
 
33. Distribution to equity holders 
 
  Group   Company  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Distribution to ordinary shareholders  
   per stock unit - parent at  0.81¢ (2018: 1.1¢) 5,066 6,383 5,066 6,383 
 - non-controlling interest  1,754 1,364     -         -      
  6,820 7,747 5,066 5,066 
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34. Lease commitments 
 
 At the reporting date, there were operating lease rental commitments payable as follows: 
 

   Group  
  2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 
 

Within one year  170 494 
Subsequent years  199 355 
  369 849 
 
 

35. Segment financial information  
 

  Group  
  2019  

 Real 
 Wealth Private  Retail estate & 
 management banking lending other Eliminations Group 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Gross revenue 26,669 8,385 13,745 5,900      -      54,642 
Inter-segment revenue (    6,273) (    1,270) (  1,296) (       608)      -      (    9,447) 
Revenue from external customers   20,396     7,115 12,449     5,292      -        45,195 
Segment results   11,692     4,314   3,844        965 (  8,984)   11,831 
Preference share dividend      (    1,289) 
Share of profit of associateS          1,308 
Profit before income tax      11,850 
Taxation      (    1,665) 
Profit for the year        10,185 
 
Total segment assets 291,654 245,354 38,073 106,899 (56,069) 625,911 
Total segment liabilities 184,050 222,147 20,767   90,310 (  7,096) 510,178 
 
Interest income     9,901     5,842 10,813          42 (     392)   26,206 
Interest expense (    5,195) (       313) (  1,066) (    1,293) 392 (    7,475) 
Depreciation and amortisation          54        280      290          22   1,202     1,848 

75 
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35. Segmental financial information (continued) 
 

  Group  
  2018  

 Real 
 Wealth Private  Retail estate & 
 management banking lending other Eliminations Group 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
  

Gross revenue 27,118 8,074 14,225 3,123      -      52,540 
Inter-segment revenue (    5,383) (1,895) (     952) (       13)      -      (     8,243) 
Revenue from external customers   21,735 6,179 13,273   3,110      -         44,297 
Segment results   10,428 3,977   6,259 (       61) (  8,014)   12,589 
Preference share dividend      (       976) 
Gain on acquisition of subsidiary                48 
Profit before income tax      11,661 
Taxation      (    2,154) 
Profit for the year          9,507 

 
Total segment assets 329,194 262,963 28,079 20,205 (63,526) 576,915 
Total segment liabilities 222,307 243,440   9,697 20,053 (25,934) 469,563 

 
Interest income 13,351 4,572 11,536 77 (  1,046) 28,490 
Interest expense (    7,741) (       179) (     830) (     395) 1,046 (  8,099) 
Depreciation and amortisation        538        634      487      -           -        1,659 

 
 

The geographic information analyses the Group’s external revenue and non-current assets by the 
Company’s country of domicile and other countries.  In presenting the geographic information 
below, segment revenue is based on the geographic location of the customers and segment assets are 
based on the geographic location of the assets. 

 
   Group  
   2019  
  St. Lucia Jamaica Cayman Other Eliminations Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
External revenues 16,828 24,060 2,725 1,639      -      45,252 
Non-current assets 110,829 77,646      -      2,758 (88,522) 102,711  

 
   2018  
  St. Lucia Jamaica Cayman Other Eliminations Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
External revenues 16,762 27,535      -          -          -      44,297 
Non-current assets 74,341   2,511      -          -     (37,058) 39,794 
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36. Financial instruments - risk management 
 
(a) Introduction and overview: 
 

By their nature, the Group’s activities are principally related to the use of financial 
instruments. The Group’s activities therefore expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit 
risk, liquidity risk, market risk and other operational risk. Market risk includes currency risk, 
interest rate risk and price risk. The Group's aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance 
between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial 
performance. 

 
The Group's risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means 
of reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk 
management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best 
practice. 

 
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of the 
Group's risk management framework. The Board has established committees for managing 
and monitoring risks, as follows: 

 
(i) Investment Management Committee 
(ii) Audit Committee 

 
The Investment Management Committee oversees management’s compliance with the 
Group's risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk 
management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group.   
 
The Group accepts investments from customers at both fixed and floating rates and for various 
periods and seeks to earn above-average interest margins by investing these funds in high 
quality assets. 
 
The Group seeks to increase these margins by consolidating short-term funds and investing 
for longer periods at higher rates while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet claims as they 
fall due. 
 
The Group also trades in financial instruments where it takes positions to take advantage of 
short-term market movements in bond prices and in foreign exchange and interest rates. To 
manage the associated risks, trading limits are placed on the level of exposure that can be 
taken. 

 
(b) Credit risk: 

 
Management of credit risk attaching to key financial assets 

 
Investment securities and loans receivable 

 
The estimation of credit exposure for risk management purposes is complex and requires 
the use of models, as the exposure varies with changes in market conditions, expected cash 
flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails 
further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, the associated loss ratios and 
the default correlations between counterparties.  
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36. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 
(b) Credit risk: 

 
Management of credit risk attaching to key financial assets (continued) 

 
Investment securities and loans receivable (continued) 

 
The Group uses ECL models developed by independent service providers to determine the 
ECL allowances for its investments and loans receivable. The models measure credit risk 
using Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default 
(LGD).   The Group uses a provision matrix in applying the simplified model for trade 
receivables. 

 
The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets 
measured at amortised cost, FVOCI debt instruments (2019) and available-for-sale debt 
assets (2018).  Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the amounts in the table 
represent gross carrying amounts.  For loan commitments, the amounts in the table 
represent the amounts committed. 

 
 Debt securities and other financial assets at amortised cost: 

 
   Group  

 
 2019  2018 

 
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

 
Total 

 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 
$'000 

Credit grade 
      Cash and cash 

equivalents and 
resale agreements 79,164      -           -      79,164  113,736 
Investment grade 6,113      -           -      6,113  2,125 
Non-investment 
grade   19,723      -            -         19,723    19,723 

 
105,030      -           -      105,030  131,630 

Loss allowance (         30)      -            -       (         30)        -        
 105,000      -            -       105,000  131,630 
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36. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued): 
 

Management of credit risk attaching to key financial assets (continued) 
 

Investment securities and loans receivable (continued) 
 
 Debt securities and other financial assets at amortised cost (continued): 
 

   Company  

 
 2019  2018 

 
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

 
Total 

 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 
$'000 

Credit grade 
      Cash and cash 

equivalents and 
resale agreements 2,636        -              -        2,636  5,761 

 
 

 Debt securities at FVOCI: 
  Group  

 
  2019  2018 

 
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

 
Total 

 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 
$'000 

Credit grade 
       

Investment grade 212,783 750      -      213,533  237,019 
Non-investment 
grade 91,750 181      -      91,931  116,747 
Default (       192) (  15)      -       (       207)  (         31) 

 
304,341 916      -       305,257  353,735 

Loss allowance (    1,132) (    8)       -       (    1,140)        -        
 
 
  Company  

 
  2019  2018 

 
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

 
Total 

 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 
$'000 

Credit grade 
       

Investment grade 58,558      -           -      58,558  83,131 
Non-investment 
grade   4,012      -            -         4,012    32,358 

 
62,570      -            -       62,570  115,489  

Loss allowance (       71)      -           -       (       71)        -        
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36. Financial instruments - risk management 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued): 
 

Management of credit risk attaching to key financial assets (continued) 
 

Investment securities and loans receivable (continued) 
 

 Loans receivable at amortised cost: 
 
   Group  
   2019  2018 
  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Ageing of 
    loans receivable 
 
Current 35,301      -           -      35,301 34,689 
Past due 1-30 days 2,457      -           -      2,457 4,497 
Past due 31-60 days 106 642      -      748      -      
Past due 60-90 days      -      294 221 515      -      
Over 90 days 16,839      -      1,652 18,491      317  
 54,703 936 1,873 57,512 39,503 
Loss allowance (  1,612) (     200) (1,776) (  3,588) (     317) 
Total 53,091      736      97 53,924 39,186  
 
Guarantees and letters of credit 
Loan commitments 
Grades A: Low risk   2,381      -           -      2,381 504 
Loss allowance (       15)      -           -      (       15)      -       
   2,366      -           -        2,366      504  

 
 
   Company  
   2019  2018 
  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Ageing of 
    loans receivable 
 
Current 1,234       -           -     1,234 25,030 
Over 90 days 17,343       -          173 17,516      317 
 18,577       -          173 18,750 25,347 
Allowance for impairment  
    losses      -            -       (   173) (     173) (     317) 
Total 18,577       -       (   173) 18,577 25,030 
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36. Financial instruments - risk management 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued): 
 

Management of credit risk attaching to key financial assets (continued) 
 

Investment Securities and Loans receivable (continued) 
 

 Loans receivable at amortised cost (continued): 
 
Policy applicable under IFRS 9 after April 1, 2018 
 
The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the Group in addressing the 
requirements of IFRS 9 are discussed below: 
 
Credit risk grades 
 
The Group uses internal credit risk gradings that reflect its assessment of the 
probability of default of individual counterparties.  The Group uses internal rating 
models tailored to the various categories of counterparty.  
 
Borrower and loan specific information collected at the time of application (such as 
disposable income, and level of collateral for personal exposures; and turnover and 
industry type for commercial exposures) is fed into this rating model.  This is 
supplemented with external data such as credit bureau scoring information on 
individual borrowers. In addition, the models enable expert judgement from the 
Credit Risk Officer to be fed into the final internal credit rating for each exposure. 
This allows for considerations which may not be captured as part of the other data 
inputs into the model.  
 
For debt securities in the Treasury portfolio, external rating agency credit grades are 
used. These published grades are monitored and regularly updated.  The PD’s 
associated with each grade are determined based on realised default rates over the 
prior 12 months, as published by the rating agency.  

 
The Group considers a debt investment security to have low credit risk when its credit 
risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. 
The Group does not apply the low credit risk exemption to any other financial 
instruments.  

 
Determining whether credit risk has been increased significantly (Stage 2) 

 
The Group uses three criteria for determining whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk:  
- quantitative test based on movement in Probabilities of Default (PD).  Credit 

risk is deemed to increase significantly where the probability of default on a 
security or a loan has moved by six (6) basis points. 

- qualitative indicators; and  
- a backstop of 30 days past due, determined by counting the number of days 

since the earliest elapsed due date in respect of which full payment has not been 
received. Due dates are determined without considering any grace period that 
might be available to the borrower. 
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36. Financial instruments - risk management 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued): 
 

 Loans receivable at amortised cost (continued): 
 
Policy applicable under IFRS 9 after April 1, 2018 (continued) 

 
Credit risk grades (continued) 

 
If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk relative 
to initial recognition, then the loss allowance on an instrument returns to being 
measured at 12-month ECL. Some qualitative indicators of an increase in credit risk, 
such as delinquency or forbearance, may be indicative of an increased risk of default 
that persists after the indicator itself has ceased to exist. In these cases, the Group 
determines a probation period during which the financial asset is required to 
demonstrate good behaviour to provide evidence that its credit risk has declined 
sufficiently. When contractual terms of a loan have been modified, evidence that the 
criteria for recognising lifetime ECL are no longer met includes a history of up-to-
date payment performance against the modified contractual terms.  

 
Definition of default (Stage 3): 

 
In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Group uses the following indicators:  
- Bankruptcies and liquidations 
- Failure to pay interest/principal on an interest-bearing bond or loan, missed 

payment (principal, interest, or both), past the grace period. 
- Distressed restructuring: difference between the net present values of cash flows 

before and after restructuring arrangements exceeds a certain threshold 
- Government bail-out: For banks and financial institutions. 

 
Incorporation of forward-looking information 
 
The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both incorporate forward-looking 
information. The Group has performed historical analysis and identified the key 
economic variables impacting credit risk and expected credit losses for each portfolio. 
 
These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD, EAD and LGD vary 
by financial instrument. Expert judgment has also been applied in this process. 
Forecasts of these economic variables (the “base economic scenario”) are provided by 
the Group’s Finance team and provide the best and worst estimate view of the 
economy. 
 
The impact of these economic variables on the PD, EAD and LGD has been 
determined by performing a trend analysis and comparing historical information with 
forecast macro-economic data to determine whether the indicator describes a positive, 
negative or stable trend and to understand the impact changes in these variables have 
had historically on default rates and on the components of LGD and EAD. 
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36. Financial instruments - risk management 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued): 
 

 Loans receivable at amortised cost (continued): 
 
Policy applicable under IFRS 9 after April 1, 2018 (continued) 

 
In addition to the base economic scenario, the Group considers other possible 
scenarios and scenario weightings. At April 1, 2018 and March 31, 2019, the Group 
concluded that three scenarios appropriately captured non-linearities.  The scenario 
weightings are determined by a combination of statistical analysis and expert credit 
judgement, taking account of the range of possible outcomes each chosen scenario is 
representative of.  
 
As with any economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are 
subject to a high degree of inherent uncertainty and therefore the actual outcomes 
may be significantly different to those projected. The Group considers these forecasts 
to represent its best estimate of the possible outcomes and has analysed the non-
linearities and asymmetries within the Group’s different portfolios to establish that 
the chosen scenarios are appropriately representative of the range of possible 
scenarios. 
 
Each scenario considers the expected impact of interest rates, unemployment rates 
and gross domestic product (GDP). 
 
Other forward-looking considerations not otherwise incorporated within the above 
scenarios, such as the impact of any regulatory, legislative or political changes, have 
also been considered, but are not deemed to have a material impact and therefore no 
adjustment has been made to the ECL for such factors. This is reviewed and 
monitored for appropriateness on a quarterly basis.  
 
The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation - such as how the maturity profile of 
the PDs and how collateral values change etc. - are monitored and reviewed on a 
quarterly basis. 

 
Measurement of ECL 
 
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following 
variables:  
 
- probability of default (PD);  
- loss given default (LGD); and  
- exposure at default (EAD).  
 
ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD 
and EAD.  Lifetime ECL is calculated by multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and 
EAD.  
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36. Financial instruments - risk management 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued): 
 

 Loans receivable at amortised cost (continued): 
 
Policy applicable under IFRS 9 after April 1, 2018 (continued) 

 
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following. 
 
Life time PD models calculate probabilities of default at a minimum of an annual 
frequency all the way out for 20 years. Beyond 20 years, due to lack of available data 
and the challenge of predicting PDs this far into the future, the model assumes that the 
20 year annual marginal PD holds constant from the 20 year mark until maturity. 
 
LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The recovery rate model 
provides transparent, timely (point-in-time), quantitative estimates of recovery rates 
of issues within different liability classes of a given company. 
 
The bond recovery rate model is based on historically realised recovery rates of 
defaulted bonds. Realised recovery rates are defined as the trading price of defaulted 
bonds approximately 30 days after default. Effectively, the model is a non-linear 
factor based model. Historical recovery rate data was compared to a variety of factors 
in order to determine correlations between these factors and the amount recovered (as 
defined above). These correlations were then used to determine the coefficients in a 
non-linear factor model which is used for projecting recovery rates and losses 
prospectively. The output from this model can be used either on a stand-alone basis to 
estimate recovery by specific liability class upon default, or as inputs to a more 
comprehensive portfolio credit risk management system. 
 
EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default.  The Group uses an 
established third party service provider to determine client-specific exposure at 
default (“EAD”) amounts on a position-by position or lot-by-lot basis.  In preparing 
the full lifetime ECL calculation, the EAD is calculated at annual intervals from the 
reporting date out to maturity. The reporting date, transaction date and transaction 
price are used to calculate the accounting exposure at default.  If not provided, an 
accounting effective interest rate is calculated using the transaction date and price (see 
section below) and is applied to the future cash flows of the particular instrument to 
discount these cash flows.  This is done on an annual basis from reporting date out 
unit maturity. 
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36. Financial instruments - risk management 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued): 
 

Policy applicable under IFRS 9 after April 1, 2018 (continued) 
 

Loss allowance 
 
The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the 
loss allowance by class of financial instrument.   

 
 Debt securities, loans receivable and resale agreements at amortised cost: 
 

   Group  
  2019   
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Balance at March 31, 2018  
    (IAS 39)       -         -     (5,803) (5,803) 
Remeasurement on  
     April 1, 2018 (IFRS 9) (1,344) (   258) (   561) (2,163) 
Net re-measurement of 
    loss allowance  (   430) 7 (   679) (1,102) 
Loans written off     -         -     5,201 5,201 
Foreign currency adjustment     151      40      43    234  
Balance at March 31, 2019 (1,623) (   211) (1,799) (3,633) 

 
   Company  

  2019   
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Balance at March 31, 2018  
    (IAS 39)     -         -     (   317) (   317) 
Remeasurement on  
     April 1, 2018 (IFRS 9)     -         -         -         -     
Net re-measurement of 
    loss allowance      -         -        144    144  
Balance at March 31, 2019     -         -     (   173) (   173) 
 

 



147

82 
 
PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended March 31, 2019  
(Presented in United States dollars, except as otherwise stated) 
 
 

 

36. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued): 
 

Policy applicable under IFRS 9 after April 1, 2018 (continued) 
 

Loss allowance (continued) 
 
 Debt securities at FVOCI: 
 

   Group   
  2019   
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Balance at March 31, 2018  
    (IAS 39)     -      -      -      -   
Remeasurement on  
     April 1, 2018 (IFRS 9) (1,419) (197)    -   (1,616) 
Net re-measurement of 
    loss allowance     287 189    -      476 
Balance at March 31, 2019 (1,132) (    8)    -   (1,140) 

 
 

   Company  
  2019   
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Balance at March 31, 2018  
    (IAS 39)       -             -             -             -       
Remeasurement on  
     April 1, 2018 (IFRS 9) (       240)       -             -       (       240) 
Net re-measurement of 
    loss allowance         127       -             -              127  
Balance at March 31, 2019 (       113)       -             -       (       113) 

 
 

(i) Maximum exposure to credit risk: 
 

The maximum credit exposure, the total amount of loss the Group would suffer if 
every counterparty to the Group’s financial assets were to default at once, is 
represented by the carrying amount of financial assets exposed to credit risk. 
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36. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued): 
 

(i) Maximum exposure to credit risk (continued): 
 

The Group manages its credit risk exposure as follows: 
 

 Cash and cash equivalents  
 

 These are held with reputable, regulated financial institutions.  Collateral is not 
required for such accounts, as management regards the institutions as strong.  

 
 Resale agreements  
 
 Collateral is held for resale agreements in amounts that secure the collection of 

both principal and interest. 
 

 Investment securities 
 

 The Group manages the level of risk it undertakes by investing substantially in 
sovereign debts and companies with acceptable credit ratings.   

 
 Accounts receivable 

 
 Exposure to credit risk is managed by regular analysis of the ability of the 

customers and other counterparties to meet repayment obligations. 
 

 Loans receivable 
 

The Group’s policy requires that proposed significant loans are approved by the 
Investment Committee prior to disbursement, with the Committee thereafter 
monitoring the performance of the credit. 

 
(ii) Concentration of credit risk: 
 

The Group holds significant amounts of debt securities issued by Government of 
Jamaica and Bank of Jamaica.  There is no other significant concentration of credit 
risk. 

 
(c) Liquidity risk: 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
from its financial liabilities.  Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial 
asset quickly at, or close to, its fair value. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to 
ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when 
due under both normal and stressed conditions. Prudent liquidity risk management 
procedures which the Group applies include maintaining sufficient cash and marketable 
securities, and monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. 
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36. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 

(c) Liquidity risk (continued): 
 

(i) Liquidity risk management: 
 

The Group's liquidity management process, as carried out within the Group and 
monitored by the Investment Management Committee, includes: 
 
(i) Monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates 

collateral which could be used to secure funding if required; 
 
(ii) Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can easily 

be liquidated as protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash flows;  
 

(iii) Optimising cash returns on investment; 
 
(iv) Monitoring liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements. The 

most important of these is to maintain limits on the ratio of net liquid assets to 
customer liabilities; and 

 
(v) Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.  Monitoring and 

reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the next 
day, week and month, respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity 
management.  The starting point for those projections is an analysis of the 
contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection date 
of the financial assets. 

 
The table below presents the undiscounted cash flows payable (both interest and 
principal cash flows) based on contractual repayment obligations.  The tables also 
reflect the expected maturities of the Group's liabilities at the reporting date. 

 
   Group  

     No 
    366 days specific Total  
 0-30 31-90 91-365 to maturity contractual Carrying 
 days days days 5 years date outflow amount 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

   2019  
 Liabilities 
 Repurchase agreements 41,642 41,214 5,783 961       -       89,600 88,625 
 Owed to related parties       -            -           -           -           423        423        423 
 Notes payable 2,186 17,108 14,644 64,138 107,605 205,681 185,550 
 Other liabilities 4,228 505 807      -      4,484 10,024 8,082 
 Due to banks 522      -           -           -            -       522 522  
 Due to customers 212,120 5,177 3,766 36       -       221,099 221,051 
 Preference shares       -            -           -           -                 1            1            1  
 Total financial liabilities 260,698 64,004 25,000 65,135 112,513 527,350 504,254 
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34. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 

(c) Liquidity risk: 
 

(i) Liquidity risk management (continued): 
 

 
   Group  

    No 
    366 days specific Total  
 0-30 31-90 91-365 to maturity contractual Carrying 
 days days days 5 years date outflow amount 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

   2018   
 Liabilities 
 Repurchase agreements 48,101 47,294 754 2,759 -     98,908 93,709 
 Notes payable 155 1,842 27,808 73,245 19,620 122,670 110,961 
 Other liabilities 2,330 2,229 18 3,169 979 8,725 4,220 
 Due to related parties -       -      -      -      98 98 98 
 Due to banks 2,187 -      -      -      -     2,187 2,187 
 Due to customers 227,042 695 7,405 5,424 -     240,566 240,829 
 Preference shares       -            -           -        17,063      -       17,063   16,416 
 Total financial liabilities 279,815 52,060 35,985 101,660 20,697 490,217 468,420 
 
 
   Company  

    No 
    366 days specific Total  
 0-30 31-90 91-365 to maturity contractual Carrying 
 days days days 5 years date outflow amount 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

   2019  
  
 Liabilities 
 Owed to related parties     -          -           -           -           423      423      423 
 Notes payable 2,186 15,379 10,712 46,156 16,278 90,711 86,891 
 Preference shares     -          -           -           -      1 1 1 
 Other liabilities     -          -           -           -        1,110   1,110   1,110 
 Total financial liabilities 2,186 15,379 10,712 46,156 17,812 92,245 88,425 
  

 
   2018  
  
 Liabilities 
 Repurchase agreements 1,867 2,748 -      -       -     4,615 4,384 
 Due to subsidiaries  -     -     -      -       1,269 1,269 1,269 
 Due to related parties -     -     -      -       98 98 98 
 Notes payable -     1,806 26,800 73,245 -     101,851 101,144 
 Preference shares -     -     -      16,797 -     16,797 16,416 
 Other liabilities     -         -          -           -          979        979        979 
  Total financial liabilities 1,867 4,554 26,800 90,042 2,346 125,609 124,290 
 
 

(d) Market risk: 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether caused by factors specific to the 
individual security or its issuer, or factors affecting all securities traded in the market. 
These arise mainly from changes in interest rate, foreign currency rates and equity prices 
and will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  
Market risk is monitored by the Investment Management Committee which carries out 
extensive research and monitors the price movement of financial assets on the local and 
international markets. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis. 
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36. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 

(d) Market risk (continued): 
 
There has been no major change to the nature of the Group's exposure to market risks or the 
manner in which it measures and manages the risk. 
 
(i) Foreign currency risk: 

 
 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the market value of, or the cash flows from, 

financial instruments will vary because of exchange rate fluctuations.  The Group is 
exposed to foreign currency risk due to fluctuations in exchange rates on transactions 
and balances that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency.  
The main currencies giving rise to this risk are the Jamaica dollar (JMD), Great 
Britain Pound (GBP), Canadian Dollar (CAD), Euro (EUR) and the Australian Dollar 
(AUD).  The Group manages this risk by matching foreign currency assets with 
foreign currency liabilities, to the extent practicable.  The net foreign currency 
exposure is kept to the targeted levels by buying or selling currencies at spot rates 
when necessary to address imbalances.   

 
At the reporting date, exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows: 
 

   Group  
   2019  

 JMD GBP CAD EUR AUD Other 
 $’000 £’000 $’000 €’000 $’000 $’000 

 Assets 
 Cash and cash equivalents 304,006 3,226 1,533 2,754 2,190 2,544 
 Resale agreements 430,006      -          -          -          -         -     
 Investment securities 3,855,283 6,140     -     15,920 685 157 
 Loans receivable 1,178,413      -          -          -          -         -     
 Other      522,365      -          -          -          -          22  
    6,290,072   9,366 1,533 18,674 2,875 2,723 
 Liabilities 
 Repurchase agreements 3,419,911 2      61      -          -         -      
 Notes payable 10,501,568      -          -          -          -         -     
 Preference shares 33,333      -          -          -          -         -     
 Due to customers         -          9,333 1,435 18,477 2,855 2,868 
 Other      195,132        32     -              1     -        351 
  14,149,944   9,367 1,496 18,478 2,855 3,219 

 Net position (  7,859,872) (         1)      37      196      20 (   496) 
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36. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 

(d) Market risk (continued): 
 

(i) Foreign currency risk (continued): 
 

   Group  
   2018  

 JMD GBP CAD EUR AUD Other 
 $’000 £’000 $’000 €’000 $’000 $’000 
 

 Assets 
 Cash and cash equivalents 348,731 3,226 1,533 2,754 2,190 2,544 
 Resale agreements 430,006 -     -      -      -      -      
 Investment securities 3,855,283 6,140 -      15,920 685 157 
 Loans receivable 1,178,413 -     -      -      -      -      
 Other      539,215     -        -           -         -         -       
    6,351,648 9,366 1,533 18,674 2,875 2,701 
 Liabilities 
 Repurchase agreements 3,419,911      -     61 -      -      -      
 Notes payable 10,501,581 -     -      -      -      -      
 Deposits from other banks         -         2 -      -      -      -      
 Due to customers -         9,333 -      18,477 2,855 2,868 
 Other      195,132      32 1,435      -         -         351 
  14,116,624 9,367 1,496 18,477 2,855 3,219 

Net position (  7,764,976) (       1)      37      197      20 (   518) 
 
   Company  

  2019  2018 
  JMD GBP JMD  
  $’000 $’000 $’000  

 Assets 
 Cash and cash equivalents  105,444       -       18,720  
 Resale agreements         -               -       -         
 Loans receivable  537,427       -       32,159 
 Investment securities  300,507       -       2,721,111 
 Due from related party         -               -       -         
 Other         9,350       -            12,118 
      952,728       -       2,784,108 
 Liabilities 
 Owed to related parties  7       -       -         
 Notes payable  1,201,581       -       2,034,071 
 Preference shares         -               -       2,097,967 
 Repurchase agreement         -               -       342,140 
 Other       21,370            6      32,250 
   1,222,958            6 4,506,428 
 Net position   (   270,230) (           6) (1,722,320)
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36. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 

(d) Market risk (continued): 
 

(i) Foreign currency risk (continued): 
 

 Sensitivity to exchange rate movements: 
 

The following indicates the sensitivity to changes in foreign currency exchange rates 
of the Group’s profit and shareholders’ equity.  It is computed by applying a 
reasonably possible change in exchange rates to foreign currency denominated 
monetary assets and liabilities as assessed by management at the reporting date.  The 
analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.   

 
  2019  

  Group   Company  
 % change in  Effect Effect on Effect Effect on  
 currency on comprehensive on comprehensive 
 rate profit income profit income 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Currency: 
JMD 2% Revaluation (1,267)       -       (         44)       -       
GBP 2% Revaluation     -           -             -             -       
CAD 2% Revaluation 1       -             -             -       
AUD 2% Revaluation 1       -             -             -       
EUR 2% Revaluation       3       -             -             -        

 
  2018  

  Group   Company  
 % change in  Effect Effect on Effect Effect on  
 currency on comprehensive on comprehensive 
 rate profit income profit income 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Currency: 
JMD 1% Revaluation 271 -     (280) -     
GBP 1% Revaluation 2 -     -   -     
CAD 1% Revaluation 6 -     -   -     
AUD 1% Revaluation -    -     -   -     
EUR 1% Revaluation     2     -        -       -      

 
  2019  

  Group   Company  
 % change in  Effect Effect on Effect Effect on  
 currency on comprehensive on comprehensive 
 rate profit income profit income 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Currency: 
JMD 4% Devaluation (   389)       -                 83       -       
GBP 4% Devaluation     -           -             -             -        
CAD 4% Devaluation (      2)       -             -             -        
AUD 4% Devaluation (      1)       -             -             -        
EUR 4% Devaluation (      6)       -             -             -        
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36. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 

(d) Market risk (continued): 
 

(i) Foreign currency risk (continued): 
 

  2018  
  Group   Company  
 % change in  Effect Effect on Effect Effect on  
 currency on comprehensive on comprehensive 
 rate profit income profit income 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

JMD 6% Devaluation (511) -     529 -    
GBP 6% Devaluation (    3) -     -   -    
CAD 6% Devaluation (  11) -     -   -    
AUD 6% Devaluation (    1) -     -   -    
EUR 6% Devaluation (    4)     -       -      -     

 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk: 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due 
to changes in market interest rates. The Group manages this risk by monitoring 
interest rates daily. Even though there are no formally predetermined gap limits, 
where possible and to the extent judged appropriate, the maturity profile of its 
financial assets is matched by that of its financial liabilities; where gaps are 
deliberately arranged, management expects that its monitoring will, on a timely basis, 
identify the need to take appropriate action to close a gap if it becomes necessary. 

 
Floating rate instruments expose the Group to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed 
interest rate instruments expose the Group to fair value interest risk. 

 
The Group's interest rate risk management policy requires it to manage interest rate 
risk by maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments. The 
policy also requires it to manage the maturities of interest-earning financial assets 
and interest-bearing financial liabilities.  The Investment Management Committee 
sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, 
which is monitored daily by management and reported monthly to the Committee. 
 
The table below summarises exposure to interest rate risk. Included in the tables are 
the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities, categorised by the 
earlier of contractual repricing and maturity dates. 
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36. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 

(d) Market risk (continued): 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued): 
 

   Group 
  2019  

      Non 
 0-30 31-90 91-365 366 days Over 5 interest 
 days days days to 5 years years sensitive Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Assets 
 Cash and cash  

 equivalents 28,450 16,692      -            -             -       23,966 69,108 
 Resale  
     agreements 7,740 400 900       -             -       1,016 10,056 
 Investment  
   securities 10,187 9,420 20,621 179,063 110,237 7,212 336,740 
 Loans receivable 35,527 7,226 3,650 5,243 2,278       -       53,924 
 Other assets   5,650      -           -            -             -           3,657     9,307  

 Total assets 87,554 33,738 25,171 184,306 112,515   35,851 479,135 
 
 Liabilities 

Repurchase  
   agreements 41,649 41,277 4,753 946       -             -       88,625 
 Owed to related 
  parties -      -       -       -       -      423 423 
 Notes payable 27,296 15,137 9,650 45,824 75,063 12,580 185,550 
 Other liabilities 3,198      -           -            -       1,047 3,837 8,082 
 Deposits from other 
   banks 119      -           -            -             -       403 522 
 Due to customers 15,878 5,164 3,737 35       -       196,237 221,051 
 Preference shares      -           -           -            -             -                  1            1 
 Total liabilities 88,140 61,578 18,140   46,805   76,110 213,481 504,254 
 

Interest rate  
     sensitivity gap (     586) (27,840)   7,031 137,501   36,405 (177,630) (  25,119) 

 Cumulative  
   interest rate  
    sensitivity 

      gap (     586) (28,426) (21,395) 116,106 152,511 (  25,119)       -        
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36. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 

(d) Market risk (continued): 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued): 
 

   Group 
  2018  

      Non 
 0-30 31-90 91-365 366 days Over 5 interest 
 days days days to 5 years years sensitive Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Assets 
 Cash and cash  

 equivalents 55,902 14,200 -            -             -       19,261 89,363 
 Resale  
     agreements 3,168 21,205 -            -             -             -       24,373 
 Investment  
   securities 27,211 6,037 42,528 137,082 131,492 24,735 369,085 
 Loans receivable 24,605 4,088 29 11,504 3,677 -      43,903 
 Other assets     1,259   1,130        21     1,136       -         6,804   10,350 

 Total assets 112,145 46,660 42,578 149,722 135,169 50,800 537,074 
 

 Liabilities 
Repurchase  

   agreements 43,651 45,680 1,606 2,772       -             -       93,709 
 Owed to related 
   parties -           -       -            -             -       98 98 
 Notes payable 72       1,806 68,367 38,669       -       2,047 110,961 
 Other liabilities 1,546 111       -            -             -       2,563 4,220 
 Deposits from other 
   banks 118     -       -            -             -       2,069 2,187 
 Due to customers   14,024      695   7,387     5,070       -       213,653 240,829 
 Preference shares       -           -            -             -            -          16,416     16,416 
 Total liabilities   59,411 48,292 77,360   46,511       -       236,846 468,420 
 

Interest rate  
     sensitivity gap   52,734 (  1,632) (34,782) 103,211 135,169 (186,046)   68,654 

 Cumulative  
   interest rate  
    sensitivity 

      gap   52,734 51,102 16,320 119,531 254,700 68,654      -         
 

   Company  
   2019  

      Non 
 0-30 31-90 91-365 366 days Over 5 interest  
 days days days to 5 years years sensitive Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Assets: 
 Cash and bank     -          -           -           -           -      2,036 2,036 
 Resale agreements 600      -           -           -           -           -      600  
 Investment securities     -     2,404 500 18,500 41,166      -      62,570 
 Loans receivable 3,455 1,150 2,740 9,799 1,433      -      18,577 
 Other assets     -          -           -           -           -      1,163 1,163  
 Due from subsidiaries     -          -           -           -           -        1,940   1,940  
 Total assets 4,055   3,554   3,240 28,299 42,599   5,139 89,888 

 
 Liabilities: 

 Owed to related parties     -          -           -           -           -      423 423 
 Notes payable     -     15,137 9,650 45,824      -      16,279 86,891 
 Other liabilities     -          -           -           -           -      1,110 1,110 
 Preference shares     -          -           -           -           -               1          1 

 Total liabilities     -     15,137   9,650 45,824      -      17,813 88,425 
 Total interest rate  
     sensitivity gap 4,055 (11,583) (  6,410) (17,525) 42,599 (14,190) (  3,054) 
 Cumulative interest 

    rate sensitivity gap 4,055 (  7,528) (13,938) (31,463) 11,136 (  3,054)      -       
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36. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 

(d) Market risk (continued): 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued): 
 

   Company  
 

   2018  
      Non 
 0-30 31-90 91-365 366 days Over 5 interest  
 days days days to 5 years years sensitive Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Assets: 
 Cash and bank -      -      -      -      -      261 261 
 Resale agreements -     5,500 -      -      -      -      5,500 
 Investment  
   securities 21,651 449 10,426 28,133 42,580 14,248 117,487 
 Loans receivable 270 1,150 8,426 11,505 3,679 -      25,030 
 Other assets -      -      -      -      -      2,326 2,326 
 Due from  
    subsidiaries       -          -           -          -          -             47          47 

 Total assets  21,921   7,099 18,852 39,638 46,259 16,882 150,651 
 
 Liabilities: 

 Repurchase 
    agreements 1,654 2,730 -      -      -      -          4,384 
 Notes payable -      1,806 26,801 30,971 -      41,566 101,144 
 Other liabilities -      -      -      -      -      979 979 
 Due to related 
    subsidiaries -      -      -      -      -      1,269 1,269 
 Due to related  

 parties -      -      -      -      -      98 98 
 Preference shares       -          -           -          -          -      16,416   16,416 

 Total liabilities    1,654   4,536 26,801 30,971     -      60,328 124,290 
 Total interest rate 
     sensitivity gap  20,267   2,563 ( 7,949)   8,667 46,259 (43,446)   26,361 

 Cumulative  
   interest rate 
    sensitivity 

       gap  20,267 22,830 14,881 23,548 69,807  26,361       -        
 

The table below summarises the effective interest rate by major currencies for financial 
instruments at the reporting date. 

  Group   Group  
    2019   2018  

 JMD USD JMD USD
 % % % % 

Assets 
  Resale agreements  3.29 2.01 3.29 2.01  
  Investment securities  3.75 6.65 3.75 6.65  
  Loans receivable  6.60 2.96 6.60 2.96  

 

Liabilities 
  Repurchase agreements  2.82 1.07 2.82 1.07  
 Notes payable   3.00 6.00 3.00 6.00  
 Preference shares 8.25    -   8.25    -     

 
  Company   Company  

    2019   2018  
 JMD USD JMD USD 
 % % % % 

Assets 
  Resale agreements -     -      -    2.45  
  Investment securities -     5.08  3.20 5.53  
  Loans receivable   8.17 5.70  3.34 2.96  

 

Liabilities 
  Repurchase agreements -     -      3.50 1.50  
  Notes payable   3.69   3.11  -    -    
  Preference shares    -         -      8.25    -     
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36. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 

(d) Market risk (continued): 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued): 
 

Sensitivity to interest rate movements 
 

The following table indicates the sensitivity to interest rate movements at the 
reporting date, on the Group's profit or loss and shareholders' equity.  The analysis 
assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.   
 

   Group  
   2019   2018  

J$ interest rates Increase by 100 bps Increase by 100 bps  
 Decrease by 100 bps Decrease by 100 bps  
 
US$ interest rates Increase by 100 bps Increase by 50 bps  
 Decrease by 100 bps Decrease by 50 bps  

 
 

   2019   2018  
 Effect on Effect on Effect on Effect on 
 profit equity profit equity 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Direction of change in basis  

points: 
Increase in interest rates 509 4,459 835 3,430 
Decrease in interest rates (  92) (5,099) (419) (3,416) 

 
 

   Company  
   2019   2018  

J$ interest rates Increase by 100 bps Increase by 100 bps  
 Decrease by 100 bps Decrease by 100 bps  

  
US$ interest rates  Increase by 100 bps Increase by 50 bps  
  Decrease by 100 bps Decrease by 50 bps  

 
 

 Effect on Effect on Effect on Effect on 
 profit equity profit equity 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Direction of change in basis 
 points: 

Increase in interest rates 81 297 101 653  
Decrease in interest rates (   81) (297) (101) (653)   
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36. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 

(d) Market risk (continued): 
 

(iii) Price risk: 
 

Sensitivity to equity price movements 
 

 Equity price risk arises from equity securities held by the Group as part of its 
investment portfolio.  Management monitors the mix of debt and equity securities in 
its investment portfolio based on market expectations.  The primary goal of the 
Group’s investment strategy is to maximise investment returns.  
 
The Group’s exposure to price risk is represented by the total carrying value of equity 
investments on the statement of financial position of $6,186,000 (2018: $3,123,000) 
for the Group and $Nil (2018: $3,279,000) for the Company. 
 
A 10% (2018: 15%) increase in stock prices at March 31, 2019 would have increased 
other comprehensive income by $618,600 (2018: $468,450) for the Group and $Nil 
(2018: $491,850) for the Company; an equal change in the opposite direction would 
have decreased profit by an equal amount.   

 
(e) Capital management: 

 
The Group's objectives when managing capital, as it applies to the regulated subsidiaries, 
are as follows:  
 
(i) To comply with the capital requirements set by the Financial Services Commission 

(“the Commission”) in Jamaica and Financial Services Regulatory Authority (‘the 
Authority) in St. Lucia. 

 
(ii) To safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can 

continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and 
 

(iii) To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.   
 

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by management, 
employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Commission and the 
Authority.  The required information is filed with the Commission on a monthly basis and 
with the Authority on a quarterly basis. 

 
The Commission requires each securities dealer to: 
 
(i) Hold the level of the regulatory capital at no less than 50% of Tier 1 Capital; and 
 
(ii) Maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted assets at or above 

10%.   
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36. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 
(e) Capital management (continued): 
 

The Jamaican subsidiary's regulatory capital is managed by its compliance officer and is 
divided into two tiers: 
 
(i) Tier 1 capital: issued and fully paid-up capital in the form of ordinary shares, 

retained earnings and reserves; and 
 
(ii) Tier 2 capital: redeemable cumulative preference shares. 

 
The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of stipulated weights applied to the risk-
based assets and other risk exposures as determined by the Commission.  

 
St. Lucia regulator, (the Authority) requires each bank or banking group to: 
 
 (i) hold the minimum level of the regulatory capital of $1,000,000, and 
 
 (ii) maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted asset (the “Basel 

capital ratio’) at or above the prescribed regulatory minimum and maintain a ratio of 
total regulatory Tier 1 capital to the risk-weighted asset (the’ Basel capital adequacy 
ratio’) at or above the prescribe regulatory minimum. 

 
Regulatory capital for the St. Lucia subsidiary, as managed by its Treasury function, is 
divided into two tiers: 
 
 Tier 1 capital: share capital (net of any book value of treasury shares), minority 

interests arising on consolidation from interest on permanent equity, retained 
earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained earnings.  The book 
value of goodwill is deducted in arriving at Tier 1 capital; and 

 
 Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment 

allowances and unrealised gains arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments 
held as available for sale. 

 
Investments in associates are deducted from Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital to arrive at the 
regulatory capital. 
 
The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights 
classified according to the nature of - and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other 
risks associated with each asset and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral 
or guarantees. 
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36. Financial instruments - risk management (continued) 
 

(e) Capital management (continued): 
 
The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the 
Company’s subsidiaries that are regulated by the Commission and Authority.  These ratios 
were in compliance with the requirements of the Commission and Authority throughout the 
year. 

  Proven  Proven Fund  BOSLIL 
  Wealth Limited   Managers Limited   Bank Ltd       
 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Tier 1 capital: 
Ordinary shares 532 532 5,462 7,444 6,277 5,521 
Retained earnings and  

reserves 17,948 19,604 (  3,295) (  3,930)   16,848   15,919 
Total qualifying tier 1  

capital 18,480 20,136   2,167   3,514   23,125   21,440 
 
Tier 2 capital: 
Unrealised (gain)/loss      -      -          -           -      82 (    1,918) 
Redeemable preference  

shares, being total 
   qualifying tier 2  

         capital      266      266      -           -            -             -        
Total regulatory capital 18,746 20,402   2,167   3,514   23,209   19,522 
 
Total risk-weighted assets 93,075 97,103   2,392   1,868 175,923 159,793 

 
The Commission and the Authority requires the subsidiaries to maintain certain specific 
ratios, as follows: 

  
  Proven  Proven Fund  BOSLIL 
  Wealth Limited   Managers Limited   Bank Ltd       
 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
(i) Tier 1 capital to total  

  regulatory capital: 
Minimum required 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%      -           -      
Actual 98.56% 99.00% 100.00% 100.00%      -           -      

 
(ii) Regulatory capital to total  

assets: 
Minimum required 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%      -           -      
Actual 16.54% 17.00% 82.04%   92.25%      -           -      

 
(iii) Regulatory capital to risk- 

  weighted assets: 
Minimum required 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 10.00%      -           -      
Actual 20.14% 21.01% 90.60%   92.75%      -           -      

 
(iv) Basel capital ratio: 

Minimum required     4.00% 4.00% 
Actual       12.22%   13.19% 

 
(v) Basel capital adequacy ratio: 

Minimum required     8%   8.00%   
Actual       13.42%   13.19% 
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37. Financial instruments – fair values  
 

(a) Definition and measurement of fair values  
 
 The Group’s accounting policies on measurement and disclosure require the measurement of 

fair values for financial assets and financial liabilities.  Fair value is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. 

 
 When measuring fair value of an asset or liability, where a quoted market price is available, 

fair value is computed by the Group using the quoted bid price at the reporting date, without 
any deduction for transaction costs or other adjustments.  Where a quoted market price is not 
available, fair value is computed using alternative techniques, making use of available input 
data; the Group uses observable data as far as possible.   

 
 Fair values are categorised into different levels in a three-level fair value hierarchy, based 

on the degree to which the inputs used in the valuation techniques are observable.  The 
different levels in the hierarchy have been defined as follows: 

 
 Level 1 refers to financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured by reference to 

published quotes in an active market. A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an 
active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, 
broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices represent 
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's length basis. 

 
 Level 2 refers to financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured using a valuation 

technique based on assumptions that are supported by prices from observable current 
market transactions, and for which pricing is obtained via pricing services, but where prices 
have not been determined in an active market. This includes financial assets with fair 
values based on broker quotes, investments in funds with fair values obtained via fund 
managers, and assets that are valued using a model whereby the majority of assumptions 
are market observable. 

 
 Level 3 refers to financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured using non-

market observable inputs. This means that fair values are determined in whole or in part 
using a valuation technique (model) based on assumptions that are neither supported by 
prices from observable current market transactions in the same instrument nor are based on 
available market data. 
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37. Financial instruments – fair values (continued) 
 

(b) Valuation techniques for investment securities classified as Level 2 
 

Type Valuation techniques 
Foreign currency forward contracts  Obtain last traded price of the forward on the date 

of valuation, provided by the recognised 
broker/dealer through which the forward contract 
is obtained. 

 Apply price to estimate fair value. 

Government of Jamaica securities:  
 US$ denominated Securities  Obtain bid price provided by a recognised 

independent source, namely, Bloomberg. 
 Apply price to estimate fair value. 

 

J$ Denominated Securities  Obtain bid price provided by a recognised source 
(which uses Jamaica-market source indicative 
bids). 

 Apply price to estimate fair value. 

Global bonds  Obtained bid price provided by recognised 
independent pricing source, namely, Bloomberg. 

 Apply price to estimate fair value. 

Mutual funds  Obtain prices quoted by unit trust managers. 
 Apply price to estimate fair value. 

 
Corporate bonds  Obtained bid price provided by recognised 

independent pricing source, namely, Bloomberg. 
 Apply price to estimate fair value. 

Credit-linked notes  Obtain price based on the quoted price of the 
underlying credit default swap which is derived 
from Bloomberg on the valuation date, plus the 
valuation of the underlying note. 

 Apply price to estimate fair value. 
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37. Financial instruments – fair values (continued) 
 
(c) Accounting classifications and fair values: 
 
 The following table shows the classification of financial assets and financial liabilities and 

their carrying amounts. 
 

Where the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair 
value, their levels in the fair value hierarchy are also shown.  Where the carrying amounts 
of financial assets and financial liabilities are not measured at fair value, and those carrying 
amounts are a reasonable approximation of fair value, fair value information (including 
amounts, and levels in the fair value hierarchy) is not disclosed.   

 
   Group    

  2019  
   Carrying amount   Fair value  
  Financial Financial 
  assets at assets at   
  FVOCI FVTPL Total Level 1 Level 2 Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets  
   measured at fair value 
Quoted equities        -       6,186 6,186 6,186       -       6,186 
Global bonds  193,691 9,450 203,141       -       203,141 203,141 
Government of  

Jamaica securities  49,694       -       49,674       -       49,694 49,694 
Corporate bonds   53,715       -       53,715       -       53,715 53,715 
Certificate of deposit      2,682       -           2,682       -           2,682     2,682 
Foreign sovereign debt      5,475        576     6,051       -           6,051     6,051 

     305,257   16,212 321,469     6,186 314,707 321,469 
 
 

  2018  
  Carrying amount   Fair value  
  Financial  Financial  
   assets at assets at 
   FVOCI FVTPL Total Level 1 Level 2 Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Financial assets  
   measured at fair value 
Quoted equities  5,547 64 5,611 5,611 -       5,611 
Credit linked notes        -       1,998 1,998       -       1,998 1,998 
Global bonds  210,510 -       210,510       -       210,510 210,510 

Government of  
Jamaica securities  31,757 -     31,757       -       31,757 31,757 
Corporate bonds   72,520 -     72,520       -       72,520 72,520 

 Mutual funds  10,977 -     10,977       -       10,977 10,977 
Certificate deposits    21,381 -         21,381       -         21,381   21,381 
Commercial papers       1,043       -           1,043       -           1,043     1,043 
   353,735     2,062 355,797     5,611 350,186 355,797 
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37. Financial instruments – fair values (continued) 
 

(c) Accounting classifications and fair values (continued): 
 

   Company  
   2019  

  Carrying amount   Fair value  
  Financial Financial  
  assets at assets at 
   FVOCI FVTPL Total Level 1 Level 2 Total 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets  
   measured at fair value 
Global bonds   16,280      -      16,280      -      16,280 16,280 
Corporate bonds  43,886      -      43,886      -      43,886 43,886 
Mutual funds       -           -           -           -           -           -      
Certificate of deposits    2,404      -        2,404      -        2,404   2,404 
  62,570      -      62,570      -      62,570 62,570 
 

   2018  
  Carrying amount   Fair value  
   Fair value 
   through 
   Available profit 
   for sale   or loss Total Level 1 Level 2 Total 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets  
   measured at fair value 
Quoted equities  3,279     -     3,279 3,279       -       3,279 
Credit linked notes        -     1,998 1,998   -     1,998 1,998 
Global bonds   20,948     -     20,948   -     20,948 20,948 
Corporate bonds  58,904     -     58,904     -     58,904 58,904 
Mutual funds  10,977     -     10,977     -     10,977 10,977 
Certificate of deposits    21,381     -       21,381     -       21,381   21,381 
  115,489 1,998 117,487 3,279 114,208 117,487 

 
 
38. Subsequent events 
 

(a) A dividend payment of $0.0021 per share was declared at the Board Meeting of Proven 
Investments Limited, which was held on May 28, 2019.  Ordinary shareholders who have 
requested payment in Jamaica dollars will receive the equivalent of JA$0.2804 per share. 
This dividend payment will be made to all ordinary shareholders on record on June 14, 
2019 and will be paid on June 28, 2019. 
 
Stockholders’ equity for the current financial year does not reflect this resolution, which 
will be accounted for in stockholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained profits in the 
ensuing financial year. 
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Proven Investments Limited (“the Company”) is incorporated in Saint Lucia under the International 
usiness Companies Act.  The Company is domiciled in Saint Lucia, with registered office at  icoud 

Street, Castries, Saint Lucia.   
 

The primary activities of the Company are the holding of tradable securities for investment purposes 
and holding other investments.  

 
 
Subsidiaries  

 Country of 
incorporation Nature of usiness Percentage 

ownership  
   

    
 
Proven ealth Limited 
 

 
amaica 

Fund management, 
investment advisory services, 
and money market and equity 
trading 
 

 
  

Proven REIT Limited and its  
wholly owned subsidiary  

Saint Lucia Real estate investment    

 Proven ingsway Limited  
 

Saint Lucia Real estate investment   
 

Asset anagement Company  
Limited 
 

amaica ire purchase financing
  

  
 

Proven Fund anagers 
Limited 
 

amaica Pension funds management 
 

  

    
OSLIL ank Limited Saint Lucia anking             

 
International Financial 
Planning (Cayman Limited)  

Cayman Islands Fund management           

    
Proven olding Limited  amaica Investment advisory services           
    

Associate companies   
    

 Group Limited         amaica         Investment advisory, anking,  
               arket and equity         .             

 
ream Entertainment  

Limited           amaica          Entertainment                     
 

Access Financial Services 
Limited 
 

amaica Retail lending 4.  4 .  
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The condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the nine months ended ecember 3 ,  have 
been prepared in accordance with IAS 34, ’Interim financial reporting ‘. The condensed consolidated interim 
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the annual financial statements for the year ended 

arch 3 , , which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). 
 
Certain new, revised and amended standards and interpretations came into effect during the current financial 
year. The Group has adopted the following new standards and amendments to standards, including any 
consequential amendments to other standards, applicable to its operations. The nature and effects of the 
changes are as follows  

 contain amendments to IFRS 3 usiness Combinations, IFRS 
 oint Arrangements, IAS  Income Taxes and IAS 3 orrowing Costs that are effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after anuary , .  

(i) The amendments to IFRS 3 and IFRS  clarify how an increased interest in a joint operation should 
be accounted for.  If a party maintains or obtains joint control, then the previously held interest is 
not remeasured. ut if a party obtains control, this is a business combination achieved in stages 
and the acquiring party remeasures the previously held interest at fair value.   
 

(ii)  IAS  is amended to clarify that all income tax consequences of dividends (including payments 
on financial instruments classified as equity) are recognised consistently (either in profit or loss, 
OCI or equity) with the transactions that generated the distributable profits.  
 

(iii) IAS 3 is amended to clarify that the general borrowings pool used to calculate eligible borrowing 
costs excludes borrowings that specifically finance qualifying assets that are still under 
development or construction. The change will apply to borrowing costs incurred on or after the 
date of initial adoption of the amendment.  

The Group is assessing the impact that the amendments in respect of income taxes and borrowing costs will 
have on its  financial statements.  

changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors is effective for annual periods beginning on or after anuary , , and 
provides the following definition of ‘material’ to guide preparers of financial statements in making judgements 
about information to be included in financial statements  

 “Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence 
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial 
statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.”  

 The Group does not expect the amendment to have a significant impact on its financial statements for the 
year ending arch 3 , .  
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 which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after anuary , , 
eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, which distinguishes between on balance sheet 
finance leases and off balance sheet operating leases. Instead, there is a single, on balance sheet accounting 
model that is similar to current finance lease accounting. Lessees will be required to bring all major leases on
balance sheet, recognising new assets and liabilities. The on balance sheet liability will attract interest  the 
total lease expense will be higher in the early years of a lease even if a lease has fixed regular cash rentals. 
Optional lessee exemption will apply to short term leases and for low value items with value of US ,  or 
less.  

Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice as the lessor will continue to classify leases as finance 
and operating leases.   

The Group is assessing the impact that the standards will have on its financial statements for the year ending 
arch 3 , . 

 

, Uncertainty over income tax treatments, is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after anuary , . Earlier application is permitted. IFRIC 3 clarifies the accounting treatment for income 
tax treatments that are yet to be accepted by tax authorities, whilst aiming to enhance transparency.  

IFRIC 3 is to be applied to the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused 
tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS . An entity has to 
consider whether it is probable that the relevant authority will accept each tax treatment, or group of tax 
treatments, that is used or plans to use in its income tax filing.    

If the entity concludes that it is probable that a particular tax treatment is accepted, the entity has to 
determine taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits or tax rates consistently 
with the tax treatment included in its income tax filings.  

If the entity concludes that it is not probable that a particular tax treatment is accepted, the entity has to use 
the most likely amount or the expected value of the tax treatment when determining taxable profit (tax loss), 
tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates. The decision should be based on which method 
provides better predictions of the resolution of the uncertainty.  

 IFRIC 3 does not add any new disclosure requirements. owever, it highlights that an entity shall determine 
whether it should disclose judgements made in the process of applying its accounting policy to determine 
taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, in accordance with 
paragraph  of IAS , Presentation of Financial Statements.    

 IFRIC 3 requires that when it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, 
paragraph  of IAS  should be applied to determine the disclosure of a tax  related contingency.  If facts 
and circumstances change, the entity is required to reassess the judgements and estimates applied.  

IFRIC 3 reinforces the need to comply with existing disclosure requirements regarding   judgements made in 
the process of applying accounting policies to determine taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, 
unused tax credits and tax rates   assumptions and other estimates used  and  potential impact of 
uncertainties that are not reflected in the financial statements.  
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The Group is assessing the impact that the interpretation will have on its financial statements for the year 
ending arch 3 , . 
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The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the inclusion of investment 
securities carried at fair value through profit or loss. 
 

The financial statements are presented in United States dollars (US ), which is the functional currency of the 
Company, unless otherwise indicated. The financial statements of the subsidiaries, which has the amaica 
dollar as its functional currency, are translated into US . All financial information has been rounded to the 
nearest thousand. 
 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of, and disclosures relating to, assets, liabilities, contingent 
assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting date and the income and expenses for the period then ended. 
Actual amounts could differ from those estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an on going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods. 
 

  

The consolidated financial statements combine the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of 
the Company and its subsidiaries (note ), subject to the eliminations described at note 3(b). 

Subsidiaries are all entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or 
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable, or exercisable after conversion of 
convertible instruments, are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 
 

Intra Group balances and any unrealised gains and losses and income and expenses arising from intra group 
transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are 
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment 
of the Group’s interest. 
  

 
 

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the 
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVTPL 
are carried at fair value through other comprehensive income. On initial recognition of an equity investment 
that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect, on an investment by investment basis, to present 
subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI 
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The Group carries some investment securities at fair value through profit or loss if they are held for trading or 
designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial instruments are designated at fair value through profit 
or loss if the Group manages such investments and makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair 
value. Upon initial recognition, attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. 
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and changes therein are 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 

Loans and receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments, that are not 
quoted in an active market, and that the Group does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term. Loans 
and receivables are measured at amorti ed cost using the effective interest method, except when the Group 
chooses to designate the loans and receivables at fair value through profit or loss. 

The company purchases government and corporate securities and agrees to resell them at a specified date at 
a specified price. On making payment the company takes delivery of the securities from the vendor although 
title is not transferred unless the company does not resell the securities on the specified date or other 
conditions are not honoured. Resale agreements result in credit exposure, in that the counterparty to the 
transaction may be unable to fulfil its contractual obligations. 
 

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss for all interest earning instruments on the accrual basis using 
the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future 
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial asset to its carrying amount. The effective interest rate is 
established on initial recognition of the financial asset and is not revised subsequently. Interest income 
includes coupons earned on fixed income investments, accretion of discount on treasury bills and other 
discounted instruments, and amortisation of premium on instruments bought at a premium. 

Interest expense is recognised in profit or loss on the accrual basis using the effective interest method. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments through the 
expected life of the financial liability to its carrying amount. The effective interest rate is established on initial 
recognition of the financial liability and is not revised subsequently. Interest expense includes coupons paid 
on fixed rate liabilities and accretion of discount or amorti ation of premium on instruments issued at other 
than par. 

The Group classifies capital instruments as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual terms of the instrument. In the case of its preference share capital, it is classified 
as  
 (i) equity if it is non redeemable, or redeemable only at the Group’s option, and any dividends are 
discretionary  in such a case, dividends thereon are recognised as distributions within equity  
 (ii) liability if it is redeemable on a specific date or at the option of the stockholders, or if dividends are not 
discretionary  in such a case dividends thereon are recognised as interest in profit or loss. 
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The Group’s preference shares bear contractual entitlements to dividends that are cumulative, and not at the 
discretion of the directors. Accordingly, they are presented as a financial liability. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of an equity instrument are deducted from the initial 
measurement of the equity instruments.  

PROVEN Investments Limited’s Earning per Stock Unit “EPS” is computed by dividing the profit attributable 
to stockholders of the parent of US ,44 , 4 by the weighted average number of ordinary stock units in 
issue during the reporting period numbering ,3 , 3 shares. 
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APPENDIX 5 

AUdiTOR’S CONSENT & REPORT ON SUMMARy fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS

KPMG, a Barbados and Eastern Caribbean partnership, registered in Barbados, Antigua and Barbuda, Saint Lucia and St. Vincent and the Grenadines, and a member firm 
of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.  

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

KPMG 

204 Johnsons Centre 

No. 2 Bella Rosa Road 

Gros-Islet 

Saint Lucia  

Telephone:   (758)-453-2298 

Email:           ecinfo@kpmg.lc    

 

 

February 25, 2020 

 

The Board of Directors  

Proven Investments Limited 

20 Micoud Street 

Castries 

St. Lucia 

 

 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

 

Prospectus for the offer by Proven Investments Limited of 178,571,429 New 
Ordinary Shares (with the ability to upsize to a maximum of 267,857,143 
New Ordinary Shares). 

 

With respect to the prospectus for the offer by Proven Investments Limited (“the 

Company”) for subscription of 178,571,429 New Ordinary Shares (with the ability 

to upsize to a maximum of 267,857,143 New Ordinary Shares), we hereby consent 

to the inclusion in the prospectus of: 

 

 our audit report on the summary consolidated financial statements as at and for 

the years ended March 31, 2015 to March 31, 2019; 

 our audit report, dated June 6, 2019, on the separate financial statements of 

Proven Investments Limited (“the Company”) and the consolidated financial 

statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), which 

comprise the Group’s and Company’s statements of financial position as at 

March 31, 2019, the Group’s and Company’s statements of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year 

then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information; and 

 to the references to our name in the form and context in which they are 

included in the prospectus. 

 



178 PROVEN Investments Limited  |  APO Prospectus

 

Page 2 

 

February 25, 2020 

 

The Board of Directors  

Proven Investments Limited 

 

 

We confirm that we have not withdrawn such consent before delivery of a copy 

of the prospectus to the Financial Services Commission for registration. 

 

This letter should not be regarded as in any way updating the aforementioned 

reports or representing that we performed any procedures subsequent to the 

date of such reports. 

 

 

Yours faithfully, 

For and on behalf of KPMG 

 

 
 

Lisa Brathwaite 

Partner 
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APPENDIX 6

liST Of lOCATiONS fOR lEAd bROKER ANd SElliNG AGENTS

bROKERS

PROVEN Wealth Limited

Location Address

Kingston 26 Belmont Road

Kingston 5

876.908.3800-1

www.provenwealth.com

www.ipopro.com

Montego Bay Unit 11 Suite B

Fairview II Shopping Centre 

Bogue, Montego Bay

Mandeville Cobblestone Professional Centre

Unit 5B, 1 Brumalia Road

Mandeville

Sagicor Investments Jamaica Limited 

All Sagicor Investments Jamaica locations 888.SAGICOR (724.4267)

www.sagicor.com/en-jm/personal-solution/investment

SElliNG AGENTS

JMMB Securities Limited 

6 Haughton Terrace, Kingston 10

Tel: 876 998 5662

Fax: 876 960 9546

Email: info@jmmb.com

Mayberry Investments Limited

1½ Oxford Road, Kingston 5

Tel: 876 929 1908-9

Fax: 876 929 1501

Email: sales@mayberryinv.com

www.mayberryinv.com

Barita Investments Limited

15 St. Lucia Way, Kingston 5

Tel: 876 926 2681

Fax: 876 929 8432

Email: Makingmoney@barita.com

NCB Capital Markets Limited 

32 Trafalgar Road, Kingston 10 

Tel: 876 960 7108

www.goipo.jncb.com  

JN Fund Managers Limited 

2 Belmont Road, Kingston 5 

Tel: 876 929-7102

Email: info@jnfunds.com  

www.jnfunds.com 

Scotia Investments Jamaica Limited

7 Holborn Road, Kingston

Tel: 888 472 6842

Email: customercare-jam@scotiabank.com
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